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VERIFICATION 

 

STATE OF NEVADA ) 

 ) 

COUNTY OF CLARK ) 
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Richard Harris Law Firm, attorneys for Real Party in Interest, ROBERT 

ANSARA, as Special Administrator of the Estate of  SHERRY LYNN 

CUNNISON, Deceased;  ROBERT ANSARA, as Special Administrator of 

the Estate of  MICHAEL SMITH, Deceased heir to the Estate of SHERRY 
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      /s/ Ian C. Estrada   
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I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

 

A. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in striking 

firstSTREET’s Answer as to liability only? 

B. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in striking 

firstSTREET’s Answer as to liability only without holding an evidentiary 

hearing? 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 1  16.1 serves as the backbone of 

discovery, without which, the system fails. Honesty, good faith, and trust are 

bedrock principles of all civil litigation throughout the United States. In a 

calculated and deliberate gambit, firstSTREET and its attorneys chose to 

violate all principles of good faith discovery and now complains that having 

its answer stricken was too severe for only having failed to “voluntarily” 

comply with its NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 26 obligations. When compared to 

nearly every single sanction case this Court has ever reviewed, 

firstSTREET’s conduct is convincingly more egregious.  

For instance, firstSTREET’s actions are unquestionably much, much 

worse than those reviewed in Bahena v. Goodyear, and “[a] fitting penance 

 
1 Hereinafter NRCP. 
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for these sins” can only be affirmance. 2  The Court should take this 

opportunity to decisively reaffirm the importance of good faith participation 

in the discovery process. 

On February 19, 2014, Sherry Cunnison (“Sherry”) slipped off the seat 

of her Jacuzzi walk-in tub and was trapped in the footwell (bottom of the tub) 

for three days. Sherry died at the hospital four days later of dehydration and 

rhabdomyolysis. Dogged and tenacious discovery revealed that before and 

after Sherry’s incident, other seniors, like Sherry, were trapped in their 

Jacuzzi walk-in tubs. Real Parties in Interest (Plaintiffs below), Robert 

Ansara, as special administrator of Sherry’s Estate, Deborah Tamantini, and 

Robert Ansara as Special Administrator of Michael Smith (Sherry’s son), 

brought suit for negligence and strict product liability. The walk-in tub is a 

tub with a step-through door and an integrated seat. Because the door opens 

inward, when an elderly person slips into the footwell (bottom of the tub), the 

door cannot be opened because the person trapped blocks the door’s path.  

Petitioner (Defendant below), firstSTREET for Boomers & Beyond, 

Inc. (“firstSTREET”) was the exclusive marketer of the tub and Petitioner 

(Defendant below) AITHR Dealer, Inc. (“AITHR”) was a wholly owned 

 
2 Bahena v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 126 Nev. 606, 616, 245 P.3d 1182, 

1188–89 (2010) (dissenting opinion). 
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subsidiary of firstSTREET that sold and installed the tub. (firstSTREET and 

AITHR are collectively referred to hereinafter as “firstSTREET.”) 

firstSTREET’s Petition acknowledges that both Plaintiffs’ original 

Complaint and the controlling Fourth Amended Complaint allege both 

negligence and strict products liability claims against firstSTREET. Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint also seeks punitive damages against firstSTREET, which is 

important because it controls the types of evidence that are relevant to 

Plaintiffs’ claims and Defendants’ defenses. Therefore, evidence and 

information pertaining to the tub design and warnings (if any), are relevant to 

Plaintiffs’ strict product liability claims against both firstSTREET and Jacuzzi, 

Inc. (Real Party in Interest).  Additionally, evidence pertaining to Defendants’ 

knowledge and understanding of the dangerousness of the tub is relevant to 

Plaintiffs’ punitive damages claim. 

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 

 Plaintiffs mostly agree with firstSTREET’s Statement of Facts but only 

as they pertain to the underlying incident involving Sherry. However, 

firstSTREET’s Petition misrepresents and mischaracterizes several facts and 

the circumstances relating to the Court’s Order Striking firstSTREET’s 

Answer as to Liability Only (“the Sanction Order”)3.  

 
3 PA1010-1024. (“Sanction Order”) 
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A. PLAINTIFFS’ INITIAL MOTION TO STRIKE FIRSTSTREET’S 

ANSWER OPERATED AS A MOTION TO COMPEL AND RESULTED 

IN A DISCOVERY ORDER AGAINST FIRSTSTREET 
 

One crucial fact asserted by firstSTREET is that “Plaintiffs never once 

filed a motion to compel against [firstSTREET]” and “[a]s a result, no 

discovery order has ever been entered against [firstSTREET] in this case and 

[firstSTREET] have not violated any discovery orders.”4  This “fact” is a 

major pillar of firstSTREET’s Petition because it is necessary to support the 

argument that the District Court could not have imposed sanctions without 

there first being a discovery order against firstSTREET.5 

Plaintiffs went even further than filing a motion to compel. On January 

16, 2019, Plaintiffs filed their Initial “Motion to Strike Defendant 

firstSTREET’s and AITHR’s Answers for Discovery Abuses on Order 

Shortening Time.” (“Initial Motion to Strike”).6  As noted in the title of the 

Initial Motion to Strike, the basis was for discovery abuses, which included 

 
4 See, firstSTREET’s Petition at 4:2-9.  

5 As a threshold matter more fully discussed below, firstSTREET’s argument 

that a discovery order is a prerequisite to sanctions is incorrect and not 

supported in the law. Setting that aside, Plaintiffs are addressing 

firstSTREET’s factual assertions here because firstSTREET’s entire 

argument crumbles and the analysis should end once it is shown that (1) 

Plaintiffs’ Initial Motion to Strike had the effect of a Motion to Compel 

against firstSTREET and (2) that Motion resulted in an order being issued 

against firstSTREET which was later violated.  

6 1 RA 0124. 
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firstSTREET’s failure to produce several categories of evidence, including 

evidence pertaining to incidents or customer complaints about the tub’s 

slipperiness (See, Section D).7  

In its 2019 Opposition, firstSTREET argued that it had no reason to 

believe that the slipperiness of the tub was an issue in the case.8  This is the 

same sham argument that Jacuzzi made justifying Jacuzzi’s non-disclosure of 

evidence – to which the Court found, “it was clear to this Court from the 

pleadings that the ‘slipperiness’ of the tubs has always been an issue in this 

case … and rejects [any] argument to the contrary.”9  firstSTREET has known 

this since 2018 when critical briefing was filed by Plaintiffs documenting the 

insidious behavior of co-Defendant Jacuzzi and its failures to produce 

evidence regarding slipperiness.10  At a very minimum, firstSTREET was on 

notice that slipperiness was an important issue when, in January 2019, it was 

accused of failing to turn over slipperiness evidence and Plaintiffs sought to 

have firstSTREET’s Answer stricken on this basis. 

 
7 1 RA 0125, 148-150. (“firstSTREET did not disclose witnesses who made 

complaints regarding the slipperiness of the tub.” Because Sherry slipped off 

the seat of the tub, incidents or complaints involving an end-user slipping or 

complaining about the slipperiness of the tub have consistently been sought.) 

8 3 RA 534-535. 

9 5 RA 1022:5-12. 

10 1 RA 0004-15. 
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While the District Court denied that motion, it filed and served a Minute 

Order on March 4, 2019 (“the Minute Order”).  The Minute Order lifted a stay 

that the District Court had put in place while it was deciding the Initial Motion 

to Strike, and it ordered the parties to resume discovery and continue to 

prepare for trial.11 

In the Minute Order, the District Court ordered that Plaintiffs were 

entitled to information regarding:  

“all incidents involving a Jacuzzi walk-in tub with 

inward opening doors, for the time period of 

January 1, 2008, through the date of filing of the 

complaint, where a person slipped and fell, whether 

or not there was an injury, whether or not there was 

any warranty claim, and whether or not there was a 

lawsuit.12 

 

This was a discovery order since the District Court had assumed all 

discovery at that point and served as a basis upon which the Sanction Order 

was granted.  In particular, a year after the Minute Order issued, when the 

District Court eventually granted Plaintiffs’ Renewed Motion to Strike 

firstSTREET’s Answer,13 the Sanction Order cited to the 2019 Minute Order 

stating:  

[O]n March 4, 2019, this Court ordered the 

 
11 PA0387. 

12 Id. 

13 Hereinafter “Renewed Motion to Strike”; PA1010-1024. 
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defendants (which included First Street and AITHR) 

to produce all documents relating to any slip 

incident in a Jacuzzi tub whether or not there was 

any injury.”14  

 

In the very next sentence, immediately after citing to the Minute Order, 

the District Court in its Sanction Order went on to discuss “the list of [six] 

most critical evidence that First Street Defendants concealed.”15 

In the Sanction Order, when the District Court discussed the importance 

of each item of concealment, it is important to note that three of the items dealt 

directly with the slipperiness of the tub, which was expressly addressed and 

ordered by the Court in the Minute Order.  

As outlined in the Sanction Order, firstSTREET concealed the 

following items dealing with the tub slipperiness: 

• Guild Surveys: Customer complaints, some of which, 

documented people who had slipped and fallen or had 

complained about the excessive slipperiness of their tubs.16  
 

14 PA1012:15-17. 

15 Id. 

16
 PA0068:5-20.  Samples of withheld evidence included the following:  

1. “[T]he 1st time I tried to use by myself, I fell. I slipped and I fell. I 

couldn’t even walk for 1 ½ months.  it was so slippery.”  

2. “I am talking to a lawyer . . . [the tub] doesn’t have any traction on 

the bottom, because both my husband and I have fallen down in the 

tub . . . [t]he entire marketing aspect was absolutely ridiculous.  The 

tub is not safe for anyone over the age of 50.” 

3. “[Customers] have slipped and fell in the tub. They can’t open the 

door to the tub. They are afraid to go back in there now.” 
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• Anti-Slip Bathmat: The anti-slip bathmat dealt with evidence 

pertaining to anti-slip measures that the Defendants began 

providing to customers who had complained about the 

slipperiness of their tubs.17  

 

• Other Customer Complaints Regarding Slipperiness: The Court 

noted that “the First Street Defendants had notice of at least 63 

relevant incidents . . . [but] failed to produce these documents.”18 

 

Therefore, firstSTREET’s assertion that there was no motion to compel 

or discovery order against it is demonstrably false.19 

B. A PARTY OR ITS COUNSEL CAN VIOLATE NRCP’S 16.1 

DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS, AND THE DISTRICT COURT FOUND  

MISCONDUCT ON PART OF BOTH 
 

firstSTREET argues that the District Court’s Sanction Order finding 

 

4.  “My wife fell twice in the tub because it is too slippery. She is afraid 

to get in there.” 

5. “The floor is dangerously slippery. That is a little scary.” 

6. “They claimed that the flooring was slip-proof and it wasn’t.” 

7. “I slipped the first time and they sent a slip to prevent that from 

happening.”   

17 PA1014. 

18 PA1015. 

19 Plaintiffs’ argument is not limited to disproving firstSTREET’s contention 

that it did not violate a Court order.  Instead, the foregoing argument is solely 

to address firstSTREET’s mischaracterization of the procedural history of this 

case.  Nonetheless, even if this Court agrees with firstSTREET’s that there 

was no prior motion or order, the District Court still had discretion to impose 

sanctions under NRCP 37 and had inherent equitable powers to control 

abusive litigation practices, as discussed below.  
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that NRCP 16.1 had been violated focused and relied only on misconduct of 

the party and that no finding of misconduct was attributable to counsel. 

firstSTREET then argues that such a finding is incorrect because a 

party cannot be found to have violated NRCP 16.1 since “it is counsel that 

selects what documents are disclosed as part of the NRCP 16.1 disclosure 

requirements, not the party that counsel represents.”20  Said another way, 

firstSTREET argues that since it is not the party that discloses the documents, 

but rather its counsel, any violation of NRCP 16.1 is always automatically and 

solely attributable to counsel only and never the party.   

The arguments and factual recitations advanced by firstSTREET are 

not only dangerous but also factually incorrect and entirely unsupported in the 

law.  

 During discovery, Plaintiffs, on their own, found a complaint that a 

woman named Ruth Curnutte submitted to the Consumer Product Safety 

 
20  See, firstSTREET’s Petition at 13:20-27. (“Thus, the District Court’s 

sanctions were expressly based on conduct of Petitioners, who are a party, and 

the District Court expressly found that the sanctions were not a result of 

attorney conduct. Yet, the basis for the District Court’s ruling – the violation 

of NRCP 16.1’s disclosure requirements – is based entirely and solely on the 

conduct of counsel, not the party.  For it is counsel that selects what 

documents are disclosed as part of the NRCP 16.1 disclosure requirements, 

not the party that counsel represents.”) (Emphasis in original). 
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Commission.21  In that complaint, Ms. Curnutte stated: 

… I was thrushed forward, landed on my knees and 

my head was underwater.  I was in panic and tried 

frantically to get a hold of the bar to pull myself up. 

I could have drowned.  The Alert 911 would have 

been totally useless out of reach.  The Walk-in 

Tub is a death trap.22 

 

Clearly, Plaintiffs wanted to know what the Alert 911 was that Ms. 

Curnutte was referencing and in multiple ways (informal, during a hearing, 

conversations with counsel, etc.) tried to obtain information regarding this 

product.  The day before Ms. Curnutte’s deposition, counsel for Plaintiffs sent 

a text message to counsel for firstSTREET asking the following:  

Mr. Cloward -- “Hey I’m prepping for this [depo] 

tomorrow.  Did you ever find out from firstSTREET 

who was [providing] the 911 Alert that Curnutte 

mentioned?  Was that a Jacuzzi product?  FS 

product? Or something that was independent of 

both?” 

Mr. Goodhart -- “No on[e] at FirstSTREET 

promoted that with [walk-in-tub] customers.  It 

might have been the installer?  Or she could have 

just thought of that.” 

Mr. Cloward -- “Are you sure?” 

Mr. Goodhart -- “Yes.  That is what Dave [Modena] 

[the Rule 30(b)(6) designee and Vice President] told 

me. But he can only speak about AITHR.  The 

independent dealers may have done some other 

things that was not a part of the FirstSTREET 

 
21 PA0069:10-13. 

22 PA0069:14-16. 
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program.”23 

 

The next day during Ms. Curnutte’s deposition, firstSTREET had a 

second opportunity to admit its involvement with the product and its counsel 

stated, “It’s my understanding, Ben, that First Street did not have any direct 

contact with [Ms.] Curnutte … , so they’re not aware of any attempts by 

anybody to sell a 911 alert, badge, or whatever you want to call it, to her.”24  

However, later in the deposition, Ms. Curnutte was questioned about 

the paperwork she had received with the Alert 911—paperwork which 

unequivocally established that the product came directly from firstSTREET. 

Like nothing, firstSTREET’s counsel shifted gears and stated, “[w]ell, Ben, I 

never said that First Street did not sell it to her.   My comment was neither 

First Street nor AITHR were directly involved in the actual sale . . .”25 

Even after that, firstSTREET’s claims about the Alert 911, continued 

to change. At the hearing on Plaintiffs’ Renewed Motion to Strike, 

firstSTREET tried to downplay its involvement and then claimed, “[t]he 911 

Alert . . .[t]his was an add that . . . if you purchased the tub, First Street would 

 
23 PA0070. 

24
 PA0739, PA0771:8-12. (Emphasis added) 

25 PA0739:23-740:1. 
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provide or the dealer would provide you with a $200 gift for free.”26  This is 

not how discovery should work.  Lawyers should be able to trust one another 

at their word. 

One must wonder why a party or its counsel would go to such lengths 

to hide this information.  The reason for this evasive conduct became clear 

when the firstSTREET marketing materials were examined.  In those 

materials, firstSTREET informed customers that, “[f]or maximum safety in 

the bathroom, it is recommended that the Pendant always remain in the 

bathroom on the hook placed on the outside of the tub as shown in the 

diagram.”27 

Next, firstSTREET tries to argue that the Sanction Order only 

established that firstSTREET—the Party—had violated NRCP 16.1. In 

support of that, firstSTREET cites to the section of the Sanction Order 

wherein the Court analyzed the sixth Young factor28 and stated, “the First 

Street defendants did not attempt to excuse its discovery abuses based on 

advice of counsel.  Nor did the First Street Defendants identify any discovery 

 
26 PA0954:20-24. 

27 PA0071:4-11. 

28 Young, 106 Nev. at 92. (whether sanctions unfairly operate to penalize a 

party for misconduct of his attorney). 
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conduct that was done at the direction of its counsel.”29 

Contrary to firstSTREET’s Petition, this was not an express finding that 

the sanctions were only based on firstSTREET’s conduct.  Rather, the District 

Court’s analysis of this Young factor only related to its finding that 

firstSTREET did not offer the “advice of counsel” defense in opposing 

Plaintiffs’ Renewed Motion to Strike.  That firstSTREET did not assert this 

defense does not mean the District Court found no attorney misconduct. 

Instead, it found only that firstSTREET did not blame its failures on counsel 

and, accordingly, the District Court did not find that the misconduct was based 

on the advice of counsel.  This is very different from an “express finding” that 

the sanctions were not the result of attorney misconduct.  

This Court need only look at the exchanges between Counsel for 

Plaintiffs and firstSTREET regarding the Alert 911 to see the misconduct on 

part of both (firstSTREET Vice-President Modena claiming firstSTREET 

having not been involved with the product and then its counsel perpetuating 

that falsehood.)  But more, the express language of the Sanction Order 

establishes the sanctions were based on the conduct of both firstSTREET and 

its counsel.  Specifically: 

First Street and AITHR have been represented by 

the same counsel throughout this entire litigation 
 

29 PA1020:15-17. 
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and the Court finds that the discovery misconduct 

described herein is applicable to both First Street 

and AITHR and, therefore, the sanctions herein 

apply to both First Street and AITHR.30 

 

In finding discovery misconduct on behalf of both firstSTREET and AITHR 

through their shared counsel, the Court necessarily found that there was 

attorney misconduct.  This is further illustrated by the fact that the Sanction 

Order quoted NRCP 16.1(e)(3) and emphasized the phrase, “If an attorney 

fails to reasonably comply with any provision of this rule.”31  The Sanction 

Order’s version of NRCP 16.1(e)(3) appeared as follows: 

(e) Failure or Refusal to Participate in Pretrial 

Discovery; Sanctions. 

 

(3) If an attorney fails to reasonably comply with 

any provision of this rule, or if an attorney or a 

party fails to comply with an order entered pursuant 

to subsection (d) of this rule, the court, upon motion 

or upon its own initiative, shall impose upon a party 

or a party's attorney, or both, appropriate sanctions 

in regard to the failure(s) as are just, including the  

following: 

 

(A) Any of the sanctions available pursuant 

to Rule 37(b)(2) and Rule 37(f); 

 

(B) An order prohibiting the use of any 

witness, document or tangible thing which 

 
30 PA1012:1-4. 

31 PA1015:22-23; In contrast, the Sanction Order placed no emphasis on the 

next sentence which reads, “if an attorney or a party fails to comply with an 

order.”  
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should have been disclosed, produced, 

exhibited, or exchanged pursuant to Rule 

16.1(a). (emphasis in original) 
 

The District Court placed emphasis on the portion of the statute that allows 

for sanctions based on an attorney’s failure to reasonably comply with the 

provisions of NRCP 16.1.  It would make no sense for the District Court to 

emphasize language in the statute that it was not relying on in making its 

decision. 

 Furthermore, firstSTREET’s Petition seems to have unknowingly 

supported Plaintiffs’ position.  Even under firstSTREET’s incorrect statutory 

interpretation, the District Court can impose sanctions if an attorney fails to 

comply with NRCP 16.1.  As firstSTREET’s Petition states, “it is counsel that 

selects what documents are disclosed as part of the NRCP 16.1 disclosure 

requirements, not the party that counsel represents.”32  Here, firstSTREET’s 

counsel openly admitted to selecting what documents are disclosed as part of 

NRCP 16.1 disclosure requirements: 

THE COURT: -- if I -- I just want to make sure I 

understand where you’re going with this. 

Essentially, you’re saying that First Street did not 

have a duty to produce evidence that might have 

been relevant to claims that the plaintiff had directly 

against and only against Jacuzzi?  

 

[firstSTREET Counsel]: Correct. 

 
32 See, firstSTREET’s Petition at 13:27-28. 
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THE COURT: . . .  [E]ven if First Street knew that 

it had in its possession some evidence critical to 

claims against Jacuzzi, one of the co-defendants, 

you don’t have a duty under the discovery rules to 

produce that under 16.1? 

 

[firstSTREET Counsel]: We did not know that we 

had anything in our possession until we started 

producing materials and that we were then asked to 

produce materials by plaintiffs through written 

discovery.  

 

THE COURT: Okay. All right.  

 

[firstSTREET Counsel]: We produced every single 

relevant piece of information relating to marketing 

and advertising, which is the first cause of action for 

negligence in plaintiff’s Complaint against First 

Street and Aithr.  

 

THE COURT: Okay.  

 

[firstSTREET Counsel]:: We limited that to pre-

accident marketing and advertising . . . So, that’s 

what we produced. . . 33 

 

firstSTREET on its own chose to limit the materials produced to marketing 

and advertising even though Plaintiffs original complaint contained strict 

product liability claims against firstSTREET.34  Pursuant to counsel’s own 

statements in open court, firstSTREET did not produce documents relevant to 

 
33 PA0963:13-964:15. 

34 PA0008. 
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Plaintiffs’ strict product liability claims and limited the productions to only 

marketing and advertising. As firstSTREET’s Petition acknowledges, “it is 

counsel that selects what documents are disclosed as part of the NRCP 16.1 

disclosure requirements.”35  By its own admission, firstSTREET’s decision to 

only disclose evidence pertaining to Plaintiffs’ negligence claim—but not 

Plaintiffs’ strict product liability claim—was the strategy and decision of 

firstSTREET’s attorney.  The District Court properly imposed sanctions under 

NRCP 16.1(e)(3). 

 firstSTREET’s position depends on the incorrect claim that the District 

Court’s sanctions were only based on firstSTREET’s—not its Counsel’s—

conduct. As shown here, this “claim” is not true because there was misconduct 

on part of both, and so firstSTREET’s Petition must fail.  

C. FIRSTSTREET WAS FULLY AWARE OF WHAT EVIDENCE WAS 

RELEVANT TO PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS BUT CHOSE TO 

WITHHOLD THE EVIDENCE. 
  

firstSTREET argues that it did not receive equal treatment to what 

Jacuzzi received because it was not afforded an evidentiary hearing and had 

not had “multiple discovery orders” issued against it like Jacuzzi did.36  

firstSTREET misses the point entirely.  firstSTREET had a front row 

 
35 See, firstSTREET’s Petition at 13:27-28. 

36 See, firstSTREET’s Petition at 18. 
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seat the entire time yet sat idly by doing nothing.  firstSTREET’s actual 

knowledge of the scope of relevant discovery grew with each motion, each 

discovery hearing, each District Court hearing, each Report and 

Recommendation, and each Court Order, regardless of whether a particular 

motion was directed at firstSTREET or Jacuzzi.  firstSTREET was present at 

each hearing, was served with each pleading, and knew fully what was 

expected.  firstSTREET’s argument is like the getaway driver trying to claim 

his punishment is too harsh because he was only the driver and did not actually 

rob the bank.  Both are guilty for different reasons—just like here. 

To that end, the District Court expressly stated it considered the long 

history of the case when granting Plaintiffs’ Renewed Motion to Strike.37  

IV. APPLICABLE STANDARDS 
 

A. THIS COURT SHOULD ONLY REVIEW FOR AN ABUSE OF 

DISCRETION BECAUSE THE SANCTION ORDER STRIKING 

FIRSTSTREET’S ANSWER AS TO LIABILITY ONLY IS NOT A 

CASE TERMINATING OR CASE CONCLUDING SANCTION  
 

Discovery sanctions lie within the discretion of the district 

court.38  Further, “[w]here the discovery sanctions are within the power of 

the district court, this court will not reverse the particular sanctions imposed 

 
37 PA0991:24-992:4; see also PA1010:12-13. 

38 Arnold v. Kip, 123 Nev. 410, 417, 168 P.3d 1050, 1054-55 (2007). 
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absent a showing of abuse of discretion.39  Even if [this Court] would not 

have imposed such sanctions in the first instance, [this Court] will not 

substitute [its] judgment for that of the district court.40 

This Court only applies “a somewhat heightened standard of review” 

when a district court imposes case ending sanctions.  Importantly, “however, 

sanctions are not considered case-ending when, as here, the district court 

strikes a party’s answer, thereby establishing liability, but allows the party to 

defend on the amount of damages.”41 

Here, since the District Court did not impose case-ending sanctions but 

instead—“as to liability only”—this Court must only review the Sanction 

Order for an abuse of discretion.42 

 

 
39 Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 92, 787 P.2d 777, 779 

(1990). 

40 Id. 

41 Valley Health Sys., LLC v. Est. of Doe by & through Peterson, 134 Nev. 

634, 638–39, 427 P.3d 1021, 1026–27 (2018), as corrected (Oct. 1, 

2018)(citing Bahena v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 126 Nev. 243, 249, 235 

P.3d 592, 596 (2010)). 

42 firstSTREET’s Petition only challenged the District Court’s Sanction Order 

based on NRCP 16.1(e)(3).  firstSTREET did not assert that the District Court 

abused its discretion by imposing sanctions pursuant to NRCP 37(c)(1) or its 

inherent equitable powers to control abusive litigation practices.  Therefore, 

once this Court finds that it the District Court’s Sanction Order was based on 

more than just NRCP 16.1(e)(3), this Court’s analysis should end. 



26 
 

V. ARGUMENT  

 
A. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION 

BECAUSE THERE WAS A PRIOR DISCOVERY ORDER AND THE 

SANCTIONS WERE NOT LIMITED TO JUST NRCP 16.1(e)(3). 
 

 The District Court considered and properly rejected firstSTREET’s 

argument that it did not violate any court order or Discovery Commissioner 

Order.  In Section A, supra, as a reminder, the Sanction Order specifically 

cited to the 2019 Minute Order and the District Court explained all of the ways 

that firstSTREET had concealed evidence that it had been ordered to turn over. 

 However, even more, in addition to violating the discovery order 

contained within the Minute Order, the District Court set out many other 

reasons justifying its Sanction Order.  

 In particular, the Court found that sanctions were appropriate due to 

firstSTREET’s violations of NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 26: 

Throughout its opposition to the Plaintiff’s 

Renewed Motion to Strike, First Street Defendants 

advance the arguments that they did not violate any 

Court Order, that they did not violate any Discovery 

Commissioner Order, and that they timely 

responded to Plaintiff Cunnison’s written discovery 

requests. These things have all been considered by 

this Court in the analysis of the degree of 

willfulness of the First Street Defendants’ actions. 

But the First Street Defendants substantially ignore 

and overlook their obligations under NRCP 16.1 

and NRCP 26, which triggered the duty to disclose 

and supplement prior discovery responses with all 

relevant evidence when the relevance should have 
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been known no later than February 2018. The First 

Street Defendants repeatedly violated these duties.43 

 

Once the District Court found that firstSTREET violated NRCP 16.1 and 

NRCP 26, it had several sources of authority available to impose sanctions. 

Contrary to firstSTREET’s argument, the District Court did not rely solely on 

NRCP 16.1(e)(3), yet this is the only rule challenged by firstSTREET. 

1. firstSTREET only challenged the District 

Court’s Ruling as it relates to NRCP 16.1(e)(3); 

However, the District Court Also Imposed 

Sanctions Pursuant to NRCP 37 and its Inherent 

Equitable Powers 

In addition to NRCP 16.1(e)(3), the District Court also imposed 

sanctions under NRCP 16, NRCP 26, NRCP 37, and its inherent equitable 

powers to control abusive litigation practices. firstSTREET solely focused on 

NRCP 16.1(e)(3) and did not address the other basis the District Court relied 

upon. 

The Sanction Order states that firstSTREET violated NRCP 16.1 and 

NRCP 26. In particular:  

The First Street Defendants are in violation of 

NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 26 because they have not 

produced significant portions of the above-

mentioned evidence. Accordingly, sanctions under 

NRCP 16.1(e)(3) and NRCP 37 are appropriate.44 

 
43 PA1013:1-9. 

44 PA1015:14-16. 
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Additionally, the District Court exercised its inherent equitable powers to 

impose sanctions for abusive litigation practices. Specifically: 

Additionally, in Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., 

Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 (1990), the 

Supreme Court of Nevada held that courts have 

“inherent equitable powers to dismiss actions or 

enter default judgments for ... abusive litigation 

practices. Litigants and attorneys alike should be 

aware that these powers may permit sanctions for 

discovery and other litigation abuses not 

specifically proscribed by statute.”45 

 

Therefore, even if this Court agrees with firstSTREET’s argument that 

NRCP 16.1(e)(3) was misinterpreted, this Court must still affirm because the 

sanctions were independently proper under either NRCP 26, NRCP 37 or the 

District Court’s inherent equitable powers.  Thus, firstSTREET’s substantial 

rights were not affected because the District Court would have reached the 

same result under either NRCP 37 or its inherent powers. 

 The Court should deny firstSTREET’s Petition on this basis alone. 

Whether the District Court abused its discretion under NRCP 37 or its 

inherent powers is not at issue here.  firstSTREET does not challenge the 

sanctions under NRCP 37(c)(1) or under the inherent equitable powers of the 

Court.  Thus, once this Court determines that the District Court utilized other 

 
45 PA1017:6-10. 
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independent sources of authority to sanction firstSTREET, the Petition fails, 

and no other analysis is necessary. Further, firstSTREET should not be 

permitted present any such arguments in its Reply that were not raised in its 

Petition. See Weaver v. State, Dep't of Motor Vehicles, 121 Nev. 494, 502, 

117 P.3d 193, 198–99 (2005) (explaining that an appellate court need not 

consider an argument raised for the first time in a reply brief). 

2. It was Not an Abuse of Discretion to Impose 

Sanctions Under NRCP 37 Because NRCP 

37(c)(1) Does Not Require the Violation of a 

Prior Order  

 

In its opposition to Plaintiffs’ Renewed Motion to Strike, firstSTREET 

argued that NRCP 16.1(e)(3) requires a prior court order.46  In their Reply 

brief, Plaintiffs argued that sanctions are also appropriate under NRCP 

37(c)(1).47  Then, contrary to firstSTREET’s assertion that the District Court 

solely relied on NRCP 16.1(e)(3), the Sanction Order expressly stated that 

sanctions were being imposed under NRCP 37.48  

Under NRCP 37(c)(1), there is no need for a prior order. NRCP 37(c) 

states: 

 

 
46 PA0416:19-20. 

47 PA0729:9-730:2. 

48 PA1015:15-16. (“sanctions under…NRCP 37 are appropriate.”) 
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NRCP 37(c) Failure to Disclose, to Supplement 

an Earlier Response, or to Admit.  

 

(1) Failure to Disclose or Supplement.  If 

a party fails to provide information or 

identify a witness as required by Rule 

16.1(a)(1), 16.2(d) or (e), 16.205(d) or (e), or 

26(e), the party is not allowed to use that 

information or witness to supply evidence on 

a motion, at a hearing, or at a trial, unless the 

failure was substantially justified or is 

harmless. In addition to or instead of this 

sanction, the court, on motion and after 

giving an opportunity to be heard:  

 

. . .  

 

(B) may inform the jury of the party’s 

failure; and  

 

(C) may impose other appropriate 

sanctions, including any of the 

orders listed in Rule 37(b)(1).49  

 

Unlike NRCP 37(b), NRCP 37(c) does not contain any language stating 

that sanctions can only be imposed for violation of a court order; instead, “if 

a party fails to provide information or identify a witness as required by Rule 

16.1(a)(1), 16.2(d) or (e), 16.205(d) or (e), or 26(e).” See also, APCO Constr., 

Inc. v. Zitting Bros. Constr., Inc., 136 Nev. 569, 575, 473 P.3d 1021, 1027–

28 (2020) (holding that sanctions under NRCP 37(c) are appropriate when a 

 
49 NRCP 37(b)(1)(C) permits “striking pleadings in whole or in part.” 

 



31 
 

party fails to timely supplement as required by NRCP 26(e)(1)).  

Additionally, NRCP 37(c) makes no distinction between “attorney” and 

“party.”  It only states that sanctions are warranted if a “party” fails to provide 

information as required by NRCP 16.1.  Therefore, even if this Court accepts 

firstSTREET’s argument that the District Court was only sanctioning 

firstSTREET—the party—NRCP 37 allows for sanctions against a “party” for 

failure to provide information as required by NRCP 16.1. There is no 

requirement in NRCP 37(c) for the party to violate a prior order, instead per 

this rule, sanctions may issue, when a party fails to provide information or 

identify a witness. Thus, the sanctions are valid under NRCP 37(c) 

independent of NRCP 16.1(e)(3). 

3. It was Not an Abuse of Discretion to Impose 

Sanctions Under the Court’s Inherent Equitable 

Powers Because Equity Does Not Require a 

Prior Order  

Independent of the above, the District Court was also within its 

discretion to impose sanctions without a prior discovery order because it had 

authority pursuant to its inherent equitable power to control abusive litigation 

practices. Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 

(1990); Hawkins v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. in & for Cty. of Clark, 133 Nev. 900, 

903, 407 P.3d 766, 769 (2017). Under Young, the District Court’s inherent 

equitable powers permitted it to impose sanctions “for discovery and other 
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litigation abuses not specifically proscribed by statute.” Id.  The District 

Court is not bound by firstSTREET’s hyper-technical and overly narrow 

interpretation of NRCP 16.1(e)(3).  

 This makes judicial sense because entire basis of firstSTREET’s 

argument (that without a court order or a specific discovery request a party 

has no obligation to turn over relevant documents voluntarily) is exactly the 

bad faith approach to litigation that NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 26 is meant to 

prevent.  At its core, firstSTREET is arguing that a party should be allowed to 

withhold relevant evidence until there is a court order. 

NRAP 1(c) requires that the rules of civil procedure are “liberally 

construed to secure the proper and efficient administration of the business and 

affairs of the courts and to promote and facilitate the administration of justice 

by the courts.”  The rules are not meant to allow a party to escape the 

disclosure requirements under the guise of clever, hyper-technical readings of 

the rules.  

Finally, in Bahena v. Goodyear, this Court held that a trial judge has 

discretion to determine what factors are to be considered when considering 

discovery sanctions on a case-by-case basis; just as a trial judge has discretion 

to determine the factors to consider when deciding the admissibility of 

evidence. 
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In Higgs v. State, 126 Nev. ––––, ––––, 222 P.3d 

648, 658 (2010), we concluded that with respect to 

the admissibility of expert testimony, Nevada law 

controls, and that we only look “at federal 

jurisprudence for guidance—when needed.” We 

further concluded that evidentiary authority 

“allows the trial judge discretion in deciding 

what factors are to be considered on a case-by-

case basis.” [citation omitted] We hold that this 

framework also applies to discovery sanctions.50 

 

Thus, the trial judge has discretion to determine what factors to consider on a 

case-by-case basis and may sanction under its inherent equitable powers in 

addition to the other rules mentioned supra.  There is no rigid requirement 

that the trial judge can only impose sanctions if and only if there is a prior 

discovery order.  

B. FIRSTSTREET’S CITED AUTHORITIES SUPPORT PLAINTIFFS’ 

POSITION  
 

firstSTREET argues that “Nevada law requires violation of a court 

order before a district court may strike a pleading” 51 and cites to four Nevada 

cases involving discovery sanctions:  (1) Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 

106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 (1990); (2) Nevada Power Co. v. Flour Illinois, 

108 Nev. 638, 837 P.2d 1354 (1992); (3) Bahena v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber 

Co., 126 Nev. 243, 235 P.3d 582 (2010); and (4) Foster v. Dingwall, 126 Nev. 

 
50 Bahena, 126 Nev. at 610.  

51 See, firstSTREET’s Petition at 14:15-15:13. 
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56, 227 P.3d 1042 (2010). 

None of these cases held that a district court can only strike a pleading 

if a party violates a court order.52  Instead, these cases stand for the proposition 

that the District Court, as the court with intimate familiarity with the 

proceedings below, is given broad discretion when it comes to non-case-

concluding discovery sanctions.53  In fact, even when a district court does 

impose case concluding sanctions, these cases only state that this Court 

applies a “somewhat heightened,” as opposed to a de novo standard of review. 

The absurdity of firstSTREET’s position is highlighted by this Court’s 

holding in Young, where the sanction was case-ending dismissal with 

prejudice, this Court made clear that “while dismissal need not be preceded 

by other less severe sanctions, it should be imposed only after thoughtful 

consideration of all the factors involved in a particular case. Young v. Johnny 

Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 92, 787 P.2d 777, 780 (1990).  It logically 

follows that if a district court is able to dismiss a case with prejudice without 

 
52 In fact, Plaintiffs can just as easily cite to cases where discovery sanctions 

were imposed even in the absence of a court order. See, Skeen v. Valley Bank 

of Nevada, 89 Nev. 301, 302–03, 511 P.2d 1053, 1053–54 (1973); Arnold v. 

Kip; ETT, Inc. v. Delegado, 126 Nev. 709, 367 P.3d 767 (2010) (unpublished); 

Freemon v. Fischer, 281 P.3d 1173 (Nev. 2009) (unpublished). 

53 Additionally, Young, Nevada Power, and Foster are easily distinguishable 

in that in each of those cases, the District Court imposed case-ending sanctions.  
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first imposing less severe sanctions, then surely it can impose non-case-ending 

sanctions without first imposing less severe sanctions.  Clearly, Nevada law 

does not require a prior order against firstSTREET as a prerequisite to 

imposing non-case-ending discovery sanctions. 

C. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY 

STRIKING FIRSTSTREET’S ANSWER AS TO LIABILITY ONLY 

WITHOUT CONDUCTING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING 
 

 firstSTREET’s final argument is that the District Court abused its 

discretion by imposing sanctions without conducting an evidentiary hearing. 

firstSTREET relies on Nevada Power v. Flour Illinois, 108 Nev. 638, 837 P.2d 

1354 (1992), to argue that an evidentiary hearing was necessary.54  This Court 

considered and rejected this exact argument in Bahena v. Goodyear Tire & 

Rubber Co., 126 Nev. 606, 612, 245 P.3d 1182, 1186 (2010): 

Goodyear relies upon the case of Nevada Power v. Flour 

Illinois, 108 Nev. 638, 837 P.2d 1354 (1992), to support 

its argument that a full evidentiary hearing is necessary 

when an answer is going to be dismissed as to liability. 

Goodyear incorrectly relies on this case because 

in Nevada Power, the district court dismissed the 

complaint of Nevada Power with prejudice without 

conducting an evidentiary hearing regarding alleged 

discovery abuses. Since the district court entered its order 

dismissing Nevada Power's complaint with prejudice, the 

case was over. The only remedy Nevada Power had was 

to appeal; therefore, an evidentiary hearing was 

appropriate. In Bahena, the district court struck 

Goodyear's answer as to liability only, but Goodyear had 
 

54 See, firstSTREET’s Petition at 15:13-19:14. 
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the full right to contest general, special, and punitive 

damages. In fact, Goodyear prevailed upon Bahena's claim 

for punitive damages. As distinguished from Nevada 

Power, Goodyear was not out of court based upon the 

district court's sanction order. Therefore, we decline to 

extend the holding of Nevada Power Company for non-

case concluding discovery sanctions.55 

 

As noted above, the Sanction Order here is not an “ultimate discovery sanction 

of…striking an answer and damages.”  The title of the Sanction Order plainly 

states that firstSTREET’s Answer was being stricken “AS TO LIABILITY 

ONLY.”56 

 Therefore, the District Court had discretion to “hold such hearing as it 

reasonably deem[ed] necessary to consider the matters that [were] pertinent 

to the imposition of the appropriate sanctions.”57 “The length and nature of 

the hearing for non-case concluding sanctions shall be left to the sound 

discretion of the district court.”58 

 Here, the hearing on Plaintiffs’ Renewed Motion to Strike was over two 

hours long. The District Court gave both Plaintiffs’ counsel and 

firstSTREET’s counsel the opportunity to make factual representations about 

 
55 Bahena, 126 Nev. at 612. 

56 PA1010. 

57 Bahena 126 Nev. at 611 (citing Bahena v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. 

(Bahena I), 126 Nev. 243, 256, 235 P.3d 592, 601 (2010) 

58 Id. 
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the discovery at issue. The Court asked very pointed questions about the issues 

presented including the following: 

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. Let’s proceed 

then. Counsel, it would be helpful to me if I 

prepared my notes while we’re going through this 

with particular facts identified to me in short 

statements that I can put into like one page sheets 

that I am working on. 

Well, let me explain it this way. What I would 

like to do is for the top five pieces of evidence, Mr. 

Cloward, for you to identify what the piece of 

evidence at issue is, -- 

MR. CLOWARD: Okay. 

 

THE COURT: -- and, then, the next point would be: 

When did the relevance of that issue or that piece of 

evidence become known? Next would be: When did 

First Street obtain that evidence? Perhaps they 

always had it.  

The fourth piece of information I would need 

is: Was the production excused? And there’s 

arguments that things might have been excused 

because of a discovery order, or a meet and confer, 

or the language used by the plaintiff in a particular 

document request. So, that’s the fourth point. 

And then the last point was: When was the evidence 

actually produced? 59 

 

The Court gave Plaintiffs the opportunity to discuss certain evidence and gave 

firstSTREET the opportunity to address each piece of evidence raised by 

Plaintiffs.  The Court also gave the parties the opportunity to address Plaintiffs’ 

Motion to Strike as a whole.  The Court also considered extensive briefing, 

 
59 PA0926:12-927:7. 
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exhibits, and affidavits as well as the entire history of the case. The Court 

stated: 

THE COURT: …Given the history of this case, the 

volume of material presented, the affidavits, and all 

of the exhibits, I don’t believe that an evidentiary 

hearing is necessary for me at this time to resolve 

this. So, I’m not going to order an evidentiary 

hearing.60 

 

This Court found a similar hearing sufficient in Bahena.61 

 firstSTREET’s argument that an evidentiary hearing was necessary was 

based on its disputation with the statements contained in the Affidavit of Nick 

Fawkes.  However, firstSTREET fully briefed its arguments regarding Nick 

Fawkes in its Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Renewed Motion to Strike.62  Further, 

the District Court heard and considered firstSTREET’s Counsel’s factual 

assertions and argument regarding Nick Fawkes during the hearing. The 

District Court fully considered firstSTREET’s arguments and still found that, 

at minimum, firstSTREET violated NRCP 16.1 because neither Mr. Fawkes 

nor Annie Doubek were ever disclosed by firstSTREET as witnesses in any 

 
60 PA0991:24-992:4. 

61 Bahena, 126 Nev. at 257 (“Since the district court considered all affidavits 

and exhibits, and permitted the attorneys for Bahena and Goodyear to make 

factual representations to the court, we conclude that the district court 

conducted a sufficient hearing.”) 

62 PA0399-402. 
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NRCP 16.1 disclosure.  Most importantly though, the issues with respect to 

Mr. Fawkes and Ms. Doubek are a red herring, as they were only a very small 

part of the pervasive, continued misconduct of firstSTREET.  

The District Court intimately understood all the issues, carefully and 

thoughtfully considered them, and its ruling was based on substantial evidence. 

The Sanction Order must be affirmed. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

 The District Court did not abuse its discretion in striking firstSTREET’s 

Answer as to liability only and, therefore, this Court must deny firstSTREET’s 

Petition for Writ. 

 Dated this 7th day of December, 2021. 

/s/ Benjamin P. Cloward   

Benjamin P. Cloward (SBN 11087) 

Ian C. Estrada (SBN 12575) 

Landon D. Littlefield (SBN 15268) 

RICHARD HARRIS LAW FIRM 

801 South Fourth Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorneys for Real Parties in Interest 
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requirements of NRAP 32(a)(4), the typeface requirements of NRAP 32(a)(5) 

and the type style requirements of NRAP 32(a)(6) because it was prepared in 

proportionally spaced typeface using Microsoft Word for Microsoft 365 in 

Times New Roman font in size 14. 

2. I further certify that this brief complies with the page or type volume 

limitations of NRAP 32(a)(7) and NRAP 21(d) because, excluding the parts 
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3. Finally, I hereby certify that I have read this appellate brief, and to the 
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for any improper purpose.  I further certify that this brief complies with all 

applicable Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure, in particular NRAP 28(e)(1), 
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 I understand that I may be subject to sanctions in the event that the 

accompanying brief is not in conformity with the requirements of the Nevada 

Rules of Appellate Procedure. 
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 Dated this 7th day of December, 2021. 
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Benjamin P. Cloward (SBN 11087) 

Ian C. Estrada (SBN 12575) 

Landon D. Littlefield (SBN 15268) 
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 Respondent  

 

NOTE - DEFENDANTS HOMECLICK, LLC; BESTWAY BUILDING & 

REMODELING, INC.; WILLIAM BUDD, Individually and as BUDDS 

PLUMBING, have previously been dismissed from this lawsuit, but the 

caption has not been amended/revised to reflect this. Therefore, there has 

been no service on these parties. 

 

     /s/ Catherine Barnhill    

     An Employee of Richard Harris Law Firm 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA  
 

FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, 

INC.; AITHR DEALER, INC.; 

 

Petitioner,  

 

vs. 

 

THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, IN 

AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF 

NEVADA, AND THE HONORABLE CRYSTAL 

ELLER, DISTRICT JUDGE, 

 

Respondents,  

 

and 

 

ROBERT ANSARA, as Special Administrator of 

the ESTATE OF SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, 

Deceased; ROBERT ANSARA, as Special 

Administrator of the ESTATE OF MICHAEL 

SMITH, Deceased heir to the ESTATE OF 

SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased; and 

DEBORAH TAMANTINI individually, and heir to 

the ESTATE OF SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, 

DECEASED; HALE BENTON, Individually; 

HOMECLICK, LLC; JACUZZI INC., doing 

business as JACUZZI LUXURY BATH; 

BESTWAY BUILDING & REMODELING, INC.; 

WILLIAM BUDD, Individually and as BUDDS 

PLUMBING; DOES 1 through 20; ROE 

CORPORATIONS 1 through 20; DOE 

EMPLOYEES 1 through 20; DOE 

MANUFACTURERS 1 THROUGH 20; DOE 20 

INSTALLERS 1 through 20; DOE 

 

 

Docket 83379   Document 2021-34951



2 
 

CONTRACTORS 1 through 20; and DOE 21 

SUBCONTRACTORS 1 through 20, inclusive, 

 

Real Parties in Interest. 

 

 

__________________________________ 
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AITHR DEALER, INC.’s PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS 
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Landon D. Littlefield (SBN 15268) 

RICHARD HARRIS LAW FIRM, LLP 
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Attorneys for Real Parties in Interest, ROBERT ANSARA, as Special Administrator 

of the Estate of  SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased;  ROBERT ANSARA, as 

Special Administrator of the Estate of  MICHAEL SMITH, Deceased heir to the 

Estate of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased; and DEBORAH TAMANTINI 

individually, and heir to the Estate of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased 
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William B. Demeritt, Volume I Robert Ansara, et al. v. First Street for Boomers & Beyond, Inc., et al.

702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC Page: 1

  1                        DISTRICT COURT

  2                      CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

  3

  4   ROBERT ANSARA, as Special           )
  Administrator of the Estate of      )

  5   SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased;     )
  et al.,                             )

  6                     Plaintiffs,       )
                                      )

  7            vs.                        ) No. A-16-731244-C
                                      )

  8   FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND,  )
  INC.; et al.,                       )

  9                                       )
                    Defendants.       ) (Pages 1 - 120)

 10   ____________________________________)
                                      )

 11   AND RELATED CROSS-ACTIONS.          )
  ____________________________________)

 12
  (Complete Caption On Following Page)

 13

 14

 15                      V O L U M E  I

 16

 17            Videotaped deposition of WILLIAM B.

 18       DEMERITT, Rule 30(b)(6) Corporate Designee

 19       for Jacuzzi, taken on behalf of the Plaintiffs,

 20       at 600 Anton Boulevard, Suite 1400, Costa Mesa,

 21       California, commencing at 9:49 a.m., on Thursday,

 22       May 24, 2018, before Kathleen Mary O'Neill,

 23       CSR 5023, RPR.

 24

 25
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  1                         DISTRICT COURT

  2                      CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

  3

  4   ROBERT ANSARA, as Special           )
  Administrator of the Estate of      )

  5   SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased;     )
  MICHAEL SMITH individually, and     )

  6   heir to the Estate of SHERRY LYNN   )
  CUNNISON, Deceased; and DEBORAH     )

  7   TAMANTINI individually, and heir    )
  to the Estate of SHERRY LYNN        )

  8   CUNNISON, Deceased;                 )
                                      )

  9                     Plaintiffs,       )
                                      )

 10            vs.                        ) No. A-16-731244-C
                                      )

 11   FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND,  )
  INC.; AITHR DEALER, INC.; HALE      )

 12   BENTON, Individually, HOMECLICK,    )
  LLC.; JACUZZI LUXURY BATH, doing    )

 13   business as JACUZZI INC.; BESTWAY   )
  BUILDING & REMODELING, INC;         )

 14   WILLIAM BUDD, Individually and as   )
  BUDDS PLUMBING; DOES 1 through 20;  )

 15   ROE CORPORATIONS 1 through 20; DOE  )
  EMPLOYEES 1 through 20; DOE         )

 16   MANUFACTURERS 1 through 20; DOE 20  )
  INSTALLERS 1 through 20; DOE        )

 17   CONTRACTORS 1 through 20; and       )
  DOE 21 SUBCONTRACTORS 1 through     )

 18   20, inclusive,                      )
                                      )

 19                     Defendants.       )
  ____________________________________)

 20                                       )
  AND RELATED CROSS-ACTIONS.          )

 21   ____________________________________)

 22

 23

 24

 25
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  1   APPEARANCES:

  2   For Plaintiffs:

  3       CHARLES ALLEN LAW FIRM

  4       BY:  CHARLES H. ALLEN, ESQ.

  5       3575 Piedmont Road, NE

  6       Building 15, Suite L-130

  7       Atlanta, Georgia  30305

  8       404/419-6674

  9       callen@charlesallenlawfirm.com

 10                 -and-

 11       RICHARD HARRIS LAW FIRM

 12       BY:  BENJAMIN P. CLOWARD, ESQ.

 13       801 South Fourth Street

 14       Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

 15       702/444-4444

 16       benjamin@richardharrislaw.com

 17

 18   For Defendant/Cross-Defendant Jacuzzi Brands LLC:

 19       SNELL & WILMER LLP

 20       BY:  JOSHUA D. COOLS, ESQ.

 21       3883 Howard Hughes Parkway

 22       Suite 1100

 23       Las Vegas, Nevada  89169

 24       702/784-5200

 25       jcools@swlaw.com
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  1   APPEARANCES:  (Continued)

  2   For Defendants/Cross-Defendants First Street for Boomers

  3   & Beyond, Inc. and AITHR Dealer, Inc.:

  4       THORNDAL ARMSTRONG DELK BALKENBUSH & EISINGER

  5       BY:  MEGHAN M. GOODWIN, ESQ.

  6       1100 East Bridger Avenue

  7       P.O. Box 2070

  8       Las Vegas, Nevada  89125

  9       702/366-0622

 10       mmg@thorndal.com

 11

 12   Videographer:

 13       DEAN JONES

 14       OASIS REPORTING SERVICES

 15       702/476-4500

 16

 17   Also present:

 18       RON TEMPLER

 19       (Corporate representative for Jacuzzi)

 20

 21

 22

 23

 24

 25
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  1                          I N D E X

  2   DEPONENT               EXAMINED BY             PAGE

  3   William B. Demeritt   Mr. Cloward                 7

  4

  5            Videotape No. 1 . . . . . . Page  6

  6            Videotape No. 2 . . . . . . Page 92

  7

  8   EXHIBITS FOR IDENTIFICATION:                   PAGE

  9   1  Saferproducts.gov Incident Report,            92

 10      3 pages

 11   2  6/17/16 Plaintiff's Original Petition,        96

 12      13 pages

 13   3  "Chicago Woman Sues: Stuck in Bathtub        104

 14      30 Hours," 2 pages

 15   4  Homeability.com "Walk-in Tubs:               105

 16      Homeability Uncovers Scams & Shady

 17      Practices," 10 pages

 18   5  Ohio Department of Developmental             110

 19      Disability, "Safety Is Not an

 20      Accident It's Everyone's Business,"

 21      2 pages

 22

 23

 24

 25
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  1                    COSTA MESA, CALIFORNIA

  2                    THURSDAY, MAY 24, 2018

  3                          9:49 A.M.

  4

  5            THE VIDEOGRAPHER:  Good morning.

  6            This is the videotaped deposition of William B.

  7   Demeritt.  Today we are located at 600 Anton Boulevard,

  8   Suite 1400 in Costa Mesa, California.

  9            Today is Thursday, May 24th in the year 2018.

 10            We're here today in the matter of Robert Ansara

 11   vs. First Street for Boomers & Beyond, Incorporated.

 12   The case number of this deposition is A-16-731244-C.

 13            This case is being heard in the District Court

 14   for the State of Nevada, in and for the County of Clark.

 15            My name is Dean Jones with Oasis Reporting

 16   Services.

 17            Would all present please identify themselves

 18   beginning with the deponent.

 19            THE WITNESS:  William Demeritt.

 20            MR. COOLS:  Joshua Cools, attorney on behalf of

 21   Jacuzzi.

 22            MR. TEMPLER:  Ron Templer, corporate

 23   representative for Jacuzzi.

 24            MS. GOODWIN:  Meghan Goodwin on behalf of

 25   defendant First Street for Boomers & Beyond and AITHR
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  1            And that would be the gentleman sitting --

  2       A.   Yes.

  3       Q.   -- to your right?

  4       A.   My right.

  5       Q.   Okay.  So what were you informed by

  6   Mr. Castillo about what he found?

  7       A.   That he had gathered the documents and provided

  8   them to -- to our corporate counsel.

  9       Q.   What documents did he gather?

 10       A.   Incident reports where the 20 words that you

 11   had provided were found.

 12       Q.   How many incident reports?

 13       A.   I have no idea.

 14       Q.   Do you have an estimate?

 15       A.   No.  I don't.

 16       Q.   I mean, was it more than --

 17       A.   I don't know.

 18       Q.   -- five?

 19       A.   If I had an idea, I would have told you.  No.

 20   I don't have an idea.  I know that it was a voluminous

 21   amount, and each word that was searched had different

 22   amounts.

 23       Q.   So each word had maybe X number of --

 24       A.   X is a good --

 25       Q.   -- documents?
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  1   happens with that claim, whether that's referred to

  2   legal and the insurance, legal only, or whether it just

  3   stays with you?

  4            MR. COOLS:  Object to form.

  5            THE WITNESS:  I open a file, and I maintain the

  6   file until I know the file's closed.

  7       Q.   BY MR. CLOWARD:  Okay.  How many files do you

  8   have at this point that are open?

  9            MR. COOLS:  Object to form.

 10       Q.   BY MR. CLOWARD:  Just let him answer, please.

 11       A.   On all products or just walk-in tubs?

 12       Q.   Walk-in tubs.

 13       A.   One or two.

 14       Q.   What are those?

 15       A.   Well, one is Cunnison and the other one is

 16   Smith, I think.

 17       Q.   So those are the only two open claims that

 18   you're aware of?

 19       A.   On walk-in tubs, yes.

 20       Q.   And that's from the date they were created till

 21   the present?

 22       A.   Correct.

 23       Q.   Okay.  Now, I'm not talking about just death

 24   claims.  I'm talking about any and all claims that

 25   you're aware of.
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  1       A.   Yeah.  Yes.

  2       Q.   So you're only aware of two open files

  3   regarding injury; is that fair?

  4       A.   I am only aware of two open files.  I'm not

  5   inferring that there are only two open files.  I'm

  6   saying I am only aware of two.

  7       Q.   Would somebody else be aware of other files

  8   that were open?

  9       A.   Well, if the claim was for a leak or, you know,

 10   a faucet that wasn't operating properly, I would not get

 11   that, and that would be handled at the customer service

 12   or the warranty level.

 13       Q.   I'm not interested in leaks or faucet repairs

 14   or anything like that.  I'm interested in personal

 15   injury.

 16       A.   Okay.  But that's not what you had said, and I

 17   wanted to answer your question --

 18       Q.   I appreciate that.

 19       A.   -- as honestly as I could.

 20       Q.   I appreciate that.

 21       A.   As far as personal injury, either I would know

 22   about it or corporate counsel would know about it.

 23            Can I call him "Ron" (indicating) and every

 24   time I do you put down "corporate counsel"?

 25            One of the two of us would know.

0032



William B. Demeritt, Volume I Robert Ansara, et al. v. First Street for Boomers & Beyond, Inc., et al.

702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC Page: 52

  1       Q.   Okay.  And that would include, say, for

  2   instance, if there was an injury that maybe wasn't very

  3   severe, but, you know, maybe somebody filed a lawsuit.

  4   They thought it was severe enough that they actually

  5   filed a lawsuit.

  6            That would include those --

  7       A.   Yes.

  8       Q.   -- right?

  9            Okay.  And you're only aware of the two cases

 10   nationwide?

 11       A.   Correct.

 12       Q.   Did you actually do a search to determine, to

 13   look for other claims other than these two?

 14       A.   Well, first off, they would have come up in the

 15   search that we talked about in question 4.  But Ron and

 16   I -- or corporate counsel and I share a wall.  Our

 17   offices are right next to each other, and we talk about

 18   these cases every day.  So I can say with a high degree

 19   of certainty that if there was a bodily injury that

 20   exceeded someone getting their finger pinched in a

 21   door or something like that, something that was really

 22   de minimus, we would know about it.

 23       Q.   Certainly if somebody filed a lawsuit against

 24   Jacuzzi, you'd know about it?

 25       A.   You'd have to respond to the lawsuit, so, yes,
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  1   Ron -- corporate counsel would know.

  2       Q.   All right.  Are there any other lawsuits that

  3   you're aware of involving an injury claim other than

  4   Ms. Cunnison or the potential lawsuit of Mr. Smith's

  5   family in Atlanta?

  6       A.   Those are the only two I'm aware of.

  7       Q.   Did you actually search to look for other

  8   cases?

  9       A.   No.  But I wouldn't have had to, because I

 10   would have had an open file if there was other cases.

 11       Q.   And you don't have any other files that are

 12   open?

 13       A.   I have -- I have a number of open files.

 14   I only have two on walk-in tubs.

 15       Q.   Okay.  Now, when you say "open files," are you

 16   aware of any -- of any files that may be -- that were

 17   opened, you know, in a year or two or five years before

 18   this incident involving Ms. Cunnison that were closed,

 19   say, for instance, in 2017 or 2016 or even earlier this

 20   year, 2018?

 21       A.   Off the top of my head, no.

 22       Q.   I mean, as you sit here today, are you aware

 23   of any other cases against Jacuzzi for injury in a

 24   walk-in tub?

 25       A.   No.
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  1       Q.   All right.  Now, the answer is qualified, and

  2   it goes on further and it says:

  3                  "This response is limited to

  4            injury claims made prior to the

  5            subject incident and to the subject

  6            Jacuzzi walk-in bathtub model that

  7            are similar to the vague claims that

  8            have been asserted in this action.

  9                 "Defendant objects because the

 10            interrogatory is overly broad without

 11            reasonable limitation in scope, unduly

 12            burdensome, and seeks information

 13            irrelevant to the subject matter of

 14            this action and is not likely to lead

 15            to the discovery of relevant or admissible

 16            evidence.  The interrogatory is vague

 17            and ambiguous.  The interrogatory seeks

 18            information protected from disclosure

 19            by the right of privacy of third parties."

 20            Now, that's a lot of legal, what I call,

 21   mumbo jumbo.

 22            But my understanding is your testimony is that

 23   regardless of whether or not it's similar to the claim

 24   at issue, whether it's before or after, you're only

 25   aware of two incidents of injury for a walk-in tub,
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  1   period.

  2       A.   Correct.

  3       Q.   Okay.  It will save me from having to come back

  4   down and --

  5       A.   Yes.

  6       Q.   All right.  Now, let's see . . . No. 12, same

  7   thing here:

  8                 "Has the defendant ever been

  9            named as a defendant ..."

 10            If you'd just go ahead and read --

 11       A.   Yep.

 12       Q.   -- Interrogatory No. 12 and the response, and

 13   let me know when you're prepared to discuss that, and we

 14   can chat.

 15       A.   (The witness reviews a document.)

 16            Okay.

 17       Q.   Now, again, the response is:

 18                 "Other than this suit" --

 19            which is referring to the Cunnison

 20            matter -- "defendant has never been

 21            named as a defendant, respondent, or

 22            other involuntary participant in a

 23            lawsuit or other proceeding arising

 24            out of personal injury in connection

 25            with the subject Jacuzzi walk-in
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  1            bathtub involving claims similar to

  2            the claims presented in this action.

  3            This response is limited to information

  4            potentially relevant to the vague

  5            defect claims asserted by plaintiffs.

  6                 "Defendant objects to this

  7            interrogatory because it is overly

  8            broad without reasonable limitation in

  9            scope, unduly burdensome, and seeks

 10            information irrelevant to the subject

 11            matter of this action, and is not

 12            likely to lead to the discovery of

 13            relevant or admissible evidence.

 14                 "The interrogatory is vague and

 15            ambiguous.  Defendant objects to this

 16            request as overbroad to the extent it

 17            would include unrelated claims, such

 18            as property damage claims or claims

 19            unrelated to the vague defects claimed

 20            to have caused plaintiff's injuries.

 21            Such claims are outside the scope of

 22            Rule 26 and not included in defendant's

 23            response."

 24            Now, I just -- I'm not interested in the

 25   property damage claims.  But my understanding is you're
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  1   only aware -- regardless of whether or not it's similar

  2   to the claims of Ms. Cunnison or not, you're only aware

  3   of this lawsuit involving a walk-in bathtub; correct?

  4       A.   Yes.  This lawsuit, yes.

  5       Q.   Okay.  You're aware of no other lawsuits

  6   involving Jacuzzi walk-in bathtubs?

  7       A.   Personal injury, no.

  8       Q.   Okay.

  9            Are there other lawsuits involving walk-in tubs

 10   that you are aware of that don't involve personal

 11   injury?

 12       A.   There might be lawsuits involving property

 13   damage, but I don't have any of them.  I don't know what

 14   potentially First Street would have had.

 15       Q.   Gotcha.  Okay.

 16            But it's fair to say that regardless of the

 17   limitation on the scope, you're only aware of the one

 18   lawsuit involving personal injury, and that's

 19   Ms. Cunnison?

 20       A.   For a walk-in tub, yeah.

 21       Q.   Okay.  Now, if you would turn to page 14.  It's

 22   Interrogatory No. 18.

 23       A.   (The witness reviews a document.)

 24            Okay.

 25       Q.   Have you had a chance to review that?

0038



120

1                 REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE

2

3     I, Kathleen Mary O'Neill, Certified Shorthand

4 Reporter No. 5023, RPR, duly empowered to administer

5 oaths, do hereby certify:

6     I am the deposition officer that stenographically

7 recorded the testimony in the foregoing deposition;

8     Prior to being examined, the deponent was by me

9 first duly sworn;

10     Said deposition is a true, correct, and complete

11 transcript of said proceedings taken to the best of my

12 ability.

13      The dismantling, unsealing, or unbinding of the

14 original transcript will render the Reporter's

15 Certificate null and void.

16      Pursuant to Rule 30(e) of the Federal Rules of

17 Civil Procedure, no request being made for review, the

18 transcript was sealed and sent to the noticing attorney.

19

20 Dated: May 29, 2018

21

22

23                     ______________________________
                         KATHLEEN MARY O'NEILL

24                            CSR 5023, RPR, CLR

25
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salcjorce.com. 

Case:00277125 

Case Number 00277125 

Contact Name  

Account Name Jacuzzi Consumers Master Account 

Warranty LW45 BDKPJK 

Model Description FS 5229 C RH SLN HTR SKT WHT 

Part Number 

Case Origin Phone 

Sub-Origin 

Email Origin 

Brand JB 

Case Summary 

• Close Window 
• Print This Page 
• Expand All I Collapse 

All 

Date/Time Opened 2/2/2015 6:33 AM 

Case Owner  

Case Record Type Extended 

Contact Email 

Contact Phone -

Case Age ~ (1) 

Early Warning ~ 

Serial # (Text) 

Part Number (Text) 

Type Product 

Case Title 
 - Jacuzzi Con sumers Master Account - General Inquiry - Pre­

dellvery/lnstallation/operation - Educate caller/NMDF - 201 5-02-02 

Priority 

Status 

Case Reason 

High 

Closed 

Subject COMPLAINT OF SLIPPERY FLOOR - WANTS JLB TO DO SOMETH ING OR TU B BE REMOVED 

Description 

Qual ity Metrics 

UFC Category Process 

UFC Component Documentation 

UFC Sub-Component Pre-delivery/installation/operati on 

UFC Behavior General Inquiry 

Warranty 

Service 

Balance Due 

Date Service Center 
Contacted 

Current Servicing 
Dealer/Customer Name 

Current Servicing 
Dealer/Agent Number 

Feedback 

Feedback Detail 

Early Warning 
Comments 

Early Warning 

EW Date 

Observed 
Symptom/Issue 

Sub-component 

Claim Date 

Claim Number 

Order Date 

Order Number 

Genera l Inquiry 
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Current Servicing 
Dealer/Contact Name 

Service Date 

Tech onslte 

Training Required 

Service Liability 

Charge Back No 

Concierge Services 

Date Customer 
Contacted 

System Information 

2/3/2015 1 :43 PM 

Created By , 2/2/2015 6:33 AM 

Contact Information 

Account Information 

Account Name  

Email  

Contact Preference 

Declined to provide 
Email 

Prospectld 

Address Information 

BIiiing Address United States 

Nearest 01 ISP Map Map Closest ISP (D1) 

Shipping Carrier 

Tracking Number 

Track Order 

Replacement Serial # 

Quantity 

Date/Time Closed 2/3/2015 1 :43 PM 

Last Modified By , 2/13/2015 9:06 AM 

Escalated 

Source ~ 

Account Owner No Reply 

Phone ' 

Mobile 

Home Phone 

Mailing Address 

Nearest Spa Service 
Center 

United States 

Map Closest Spa Service Center 

Historical - Read Only - Update to proper Billing and Mailing Fields 

Address 1 

City 

Zip 

SmartTub Information 

Account Id 

loT Contact 

Pardot URL 

Address 2 

State WA 

Country 

Receive Smart Tub 
Emails 

Terms of Service Opt 
Out 

Messaging Opt Out 
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Additional Information 

Email Opt Out 

Fax Opt Out 

System Information 

Created By , 11/30/2016 11 :41 PM 

Activity History 
Outbound Consumer 

Name  

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/13/2015 

Assigned To  

l ast Modified Datemme 2/13/2015 9:02 AM 

Do Not Call 

Last Modified By , 12/15/2016 4:22 AM 

Comments LVM for h/o to see If her Issue was taken care of. 

2015-02-13 09:01 :49 

Name 

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/13/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Datemme 2/13/2015 9:02 AM 

Comments 

Outbound Consumer 

Name  

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/5/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Datemme 2/5/2015 3:1 o PM 

Comments Spoke to  and  just called her. Let Her know that in the future to give me a call If she has 
any questions or concerns. 

Outbound AITH  

Name  

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/5/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Dateffime 2/5/2015 2:58 PM 

Comments Check to see If anyone called  -  was going her as we spoke 

Inbound Consumer 

Name  

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/4/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modifiecl Datemme 2/4/2015 3:45 PM 

Comments called to let me know that no one from AITH has called her back. 

2015-02-04 15:43:07 

JACUZZI002929 0061



Name 

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/4/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Datemme 2/4/2015 3:44 PM 

Comments 

2015-02-04 15:41 :16 

Name 

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/4/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Datemme 2/4/2015 3:42 PM 

Comments 

Outbound Consumer 

Name  

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/3/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Datemme 2/3/2015 1 :38 PM 

Spoke to  to let her know that I contact AITH and to give you a call regarding the slippery floor 
Comments and the product they have Solid Step Cote. She thank me and she will not file. She appreciate that I 

return her call and help her with her situation. 

2015-02-03 13:34:35 

Name 

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/3/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified l:>atemme 2/3/2015 1 :35 PM 
Comments 

Email:  [ ref: 00DG0kX3r. S00G0diNeP:ref] 

Name  

Task ✓ 

Due !:>ate 2/3/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Datemme 2/3/2015 1 :34 PM 

Additional To:  
CC: 
BCC:  
Attachment: 

Subject:  [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0diNeP:ref] 
Body: 
Hello  

This Is a follow up to our conversation on . Complaint of slippery floor; she fell In her 
tub. You were going to talk to  Please confirm that someone will contact the customer today to 
go over the product you sell Solid Step Cote. 

PURCHASE DATE 111614 DATE WARRANTY CARD RECEIVED 121814 
CONSUMERS NAME  
ADDRESS LINE 1  
ADDRESS LINE 2 
CITY-STATE.ZIP  
HOME PHONE NUMBER  JACUZZI002930 0062



Comments WORK PHONE NUMBER  

2015-02-03 08:49:43 

E-MAIL ADDRESS  

 
Consumer Relations, Aging In Place 

 
 

 

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the 
intended recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all 
copies of the email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose, 
distribute, copy, print, or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may 
contain viruses . Although we take precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances about 
the absence of viruses. We accept no llabllity and suggest that you carry out your own virus checks. 
ref:_00OG0kX3r._500G0diNeP:tef 

Name 

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/3/2015 

Assigned To  

I.a st Modified Datemme 2/3/2015 8:50 AM 

Comments 

2015-02-03 08:38:43 

Name 

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/3/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Datemme 2/3/2015 8:39 AM 

Comments 

2015-02-03 08:38:43 

Name 

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/3/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Datemme 2/3/2015 8:39 AM 

Comments 

2015-02-02 14:08:28 

Name  

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/2/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Datemme 2/2/2015 2:11 PM 

Comments 

2015-02-02 14:02:45 

Name 

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/2/2015 
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Assigned To  

Last Modified Datemme 2/2/2015 2:04 PM 

Comments 

Outbound Consumer 

Name  

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/2/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Dateffime 2/2/2015 1 :34 PM 

Tried to explain that our tub have a anti slip. The company that we mfg the tub has a product. She 
Comments didn't want to hear it and wanted me to call and take care of It. She is in contact with her attorney. She 

is going to fill 

2015-02-02 13:28:40 

Name  

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/2/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Datemme 2/2/2015 1 :32 PM 
Comments 

2015-02-02 09:55:00 

Name  

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/2/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Dateffime 2/2/2015 6:57 AM 

Comments 

Email: Complaint on walk in unit - slippery tub and seat - bruised his face from faucet impact. [ re [ 
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0diNeP:ref] 

Name 

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/2/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Datemme 2/2/2015 6:55 AM 

Additional To:  
CC: 
BCC: 
Attachment: 

Subject:  
 

 
 

 

************************ 

From:  
Sent: Sunday, February 01, 2015 2:42 PM 
To:  
Subject: Fwd: walk-in tub model dangerous I 
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•----· Forwarded message -·-
From: > 
Date: Sat, Jan 31, 2015 at 1 :21 PM 
Subject: walk-in tub model dangerous! 
To:  

RE: Serial Number: BDKPJK 
Item: LW45959 FS 5229 CRH SLN HTR SKT 
Date Manufactured: 09/11 /14 
First Name:  
Last Name:  

Comments Date Purchased: 11 /16/14 
Address:  
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 

2015-02-02 09:51 :43 

 

Both the floor and the seat are slippery I I have slipped twice; 1 0 days 
ago My face struck the large faucet; now I sport a black eye. 

This Is my second 'complaint' about slipping in your tub. Customer Service 
ignored the first. 

I ask that you fix this problem, either by 'repairing' the coating so that 
it is no longer slippery ot removing the tub and replacing It at your 
expense. 

You should know that I an, filing a complaint with the Attorney General of 
 state, and the AG of your home state. I am willing to wait until the 

morning of Feb. 3, 2015 in order that you may respond with your odder. 

 

, 
Consumer Service Representative, 
Jacuzzi Luxury Bath 

 
ref:_00DG0kX3t._500G0diNeP:ref 

, 
Consumer Service Representative, 
Jacuzzi Luxury Bath 

 

Name  

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/2/2015 

Assigned To  

Last Modified Datemme 2/2/2015 6:54 AM 

Comments 

Email: complaint on walk in unit - slippery tub and seat - bruised his face from faucet impact. [ 
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0diNeP:ref] 

Name 

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/2/2015 

Assigned To  
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Last Modified Dateffime 2/2/2015 6:53 AM 

Emails 

Additional To:  
CC: 
BCC: 
Attachment: 

Subject:  
 

 

 

*'Ii**"'**~***************** 
From:  
Sent: Sunday, February 01, 2015 2:42 PM 
To:  
Subject: Fwd: walk-In tub model dangerous! 

 

--· Forwarded message -·-·· 
From:  
Date: Sat, Jan 31, 2015 at 1 :21 PM 
Subject: walk-In tub model dangerous! 
To:  

RE: Serial Number: BDKPJK 
1ltern: L.W45959 FS 5229 CRH SI..N HTR SKT 
Date Manufactured: 09/11 /14 

Comments First Name:  
Last Name:  
Oate Purchased: 11 /16/14 

 

 
 

Both the floor and the seat are slippery! I have slipped twice; 10 days 
ago My face struck the large faucet; now I sport a black eye. 

This Is my second 'complalnt' about slipping In your tub. Customer Service 
ignored the first. 

I ask that you fix this problem, either by 'repairing' the coating so that 
it is no longer slippery or removing the tub and replacing it at your 
expense. 

You should know that I am flllng a complaint with the Attorney General of 
 state, and the AG of your home state. I am willing to wait until the 

morning of Feb. 3, 2015 in order that you may respond with your odder. 

 

 
Consumer Service Representative, 
Jacuzzi Luxury Bath 

 
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0diNeP:ref 
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 [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0diNeP:ref) 

Message Date 2/3/2015 1 :34 PM 

Has Attachment 

~mail Address  

Status Sent 

Subject  [ ref:_00OG0kX3r._500G0diNeP:ref) 

Hello  

This is a follow up to our conversation on . Complaint of slippery floor; she fell in her tub. 
You were going to talk to  Please confirm that someone will contact the customer today to go over the. 
product you sell Solid Step Cote. 

PURCHASE DATE 111614 DATE WARRANTY CARO RECENED 121814 
CONSUMERS NAME  
ADDRESS LINE 1  
ADDRESS LINE 2 
CITY-STATl:-ZIP  

 
 

!:•MAIL ADDRl:SS  

Text Body  
Consumer Relations, Aging in Place 

 
 

 
 

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally priVlleged. If you are not the intended 
recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all copies of the email on 
your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print, or use this 
email In any manner. Email messages and attachments may contain viruses. Although we take precautions 
to check for viruses, we make no assurances about the absence of viruses. We accept no liability and 
suggest that you carry out your own virus checks. 
ref:_00DG0l<X3r._500G0dlNeP:ref 

Complaint on walk in unit - slippery tub and seat - bruised his face from faucet impact. [ re [ 
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0diNeP:ref] 

Message Date 2/2/2015 6:56 AM 

Has Attachment 

email Address  

Status Sent 

S b' t Complaint on walk in unit• slippery tub and seat• bruised his face from faucet impact. [ re [ 
- u Jee ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0dlNeP:ref] 

 

 

************************ 
From:  
Sent: Sunday, February 01, 2015 2:42 PM 
To:  
Subject: Fwd: walk•ln tub model dangerous! 

 

w•-•- Forwarded message ----· 
From: > 
Date: Sat; Jan 31, 2015 at 1 :21 PM 
Subject: walk•in tub model dangerous! JACUZZI002935 0067



Text Body 

To:  

RE: Serial Number: BDKPJK 
Item: LW45959 FS 5229 CRH SLN HTR SKT 
Date Manufactured: 09/11 /14 
First Name:  
Last Name:  
Date Purchased: 11 /16/14 
Address:  

 

Both the floor and the seat are slippery I I have slipped twice; 10 days 
ago My face struck the large faucet; now I sport a black eye. 

This Ii my second 'complaint' about slipping in your tub. Customer Ser-vice 
Ignored the first. 

I ask that you fix this problem, either by 'repairing' the coating so that 
It Is no longer slippery or removing the tub and replacing It at your 
expense. 

You should know that I am filing a complaint with the Attorney General of 
 state, and the AG of your home state. I am willing to wait until the 

morning of Feb. 3, 2015 In order that you may respond with your odder. 

 

, 
Consumer Service Representative, 
Jacuzzi Luxury Bath 

 
ref:_00DG0kX3r._S00G0diNeP:ref 

, 
Consumer Service Representative, 
Jacuzzi Luxury Bath 

 

Open Activities 
 

Name  

Task ✓ 

Due Date 2/5/2015 

Status Open 

Priority High 

Assigned To  

Comments Check to see If AITH called her regarding her slippery floor in tub. 

Case History 
2/3/2015 1 :43 PM 

User  

Action Changed Status from In Progress to Closed. Closed. 

2/2/2015 2:06 PM 

User  

Action Changed Priority from Medium to High. 

JACUZZI002936 0068



2/2/2015 1 :34 PM 

User  

Action Changed Case Record Type from General to Extended. 

2/2/2015 8:13 AM 

User  

Action Changed Case Owner from  to . 

2/2/2015 8:12 AM 

User  

Action Changed Status from Closed to In Progress. 

2/2/2015 6:33 AM 

User  

Action Changed Status from New to Closed. Closed. 

2/2/2015 6:33 AM 

User  

Action Created. 

Chatter 
Text Posts 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

    

 
 

 

Copyright© 2000-2018 salesforce.com, inc. All rights reserved. 
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CPSC does not guarantee the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of the contents of the Publicly Available Consumer Product Safety Information Database on 
SaferProducts.gov, particularly with respect to information submitted by people outside of CPSC.

Page 1 / 3
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Report #20160824-98A64-1589899 

Report Details
Report No.  
20160824-98A64-1589899  
Report Date  
8/24/2016  
Sent to Manufacturer / Importer / Private Labeler  
9/16/2016  
Category of Submitter  
Consumer  
Product Details
Product Description  
Jacuzzi Walk-In Tub  
Product Category  
Home Maintenance and Structures  
Product Type  
Plumbing & Bath  
Product Code  
Hot Tubs or Home Spas  
Manufacturer / Importer / Private Labeler Name  
JACUZZI BRANDS CORP.      
Manufacturer / Importer / Private Labeler Address  
13925 City Center Drive, Suite 200, Chino Hills, California, 91710, United States  
Brand Name  
Model Name or Number  
LW45  
Serial Number  
BDPK7  
UPC Code  
Date Manufactured  
   
Manufacturer Date Code  
   
Retailer  
Retailer State  
Purchase Date  
4/3/2016 This date is an estimate  
Incident Details
Incident Description  
Dear Gentlemen,  
Ser # BDPK7, model: LW45, Job: 16198  
Subj: DeathTrap - Jacuzzi Walk-In Tub.  
 
On April 3, 2016, I signed a contract for installation of a Walk-In Tub. The agent was [REDACTED]. The Fairbanks construction Co. of Ocala Fl., installed the unit 
4-1-2016. I was advised never to use the tub without the 911 alert system in reach.  
On July 18, 2016, after finally receiving the 911 alert, I decided to try the Walk-In Tub.  
After 30 minutes the tub filled with 50 gal. of water. I opened the air jets at my back. At that moment, I was thrushed forward, landed on my knees and my head was 
underwater. I was in panic and tried frantically to get a hold of the bar to pull myself up. I could have drowned. The Alert 911 would have been totally useless out of 
reach. The Walk-In Tub is a death trap.  
The tape demonstration and brochures given by the agent [REDACTED] do not compare to the tub installed. The Tub is an old model. The new models (copies encl.) 
require 30 gal of water and are half the size which was actually installed.  
It takes 30 min. to fill the tub with 50 gallons. The shower head is barely in trickle mode and does not work properly. Numerous calls to the agent, the Fairbanks 
Construction Co., and [REDACTED], installation supervisor, [REDACTED]; were not returned. [REDACTED] of the Fairbanks Co, was rude, who returned the 
phone call stated "you got what you ordered, you do not get another tub!"  
The agent [REDACTED], did not return any of my calls. Details re: water capacity was not disclosed and the publications were misrepresented.  
I am a senior citizen, 85 yrs. + and a victim of exploitation of the elderly. I live on fixed income and invested $15,500.- of my savings for health reasons, because my 
net worth does not qualify me for a senior establishment.  
I live alone and after my experience of almost drowning, I have not used the tub since. I cannot afford the loss of $15,500.- .  
I would appreciate your help desperately. I have enclosed copies and documents for your review.  
I look forward to your reply and a resolution of an exchange to my problem within the next 2 weeks.  
Please contact me at your earliest at above address or by phone at [REDACTED]. Please, please help!  
 
Sincerely,  
[REDACTED]  
Incident Date  
7/18/2016  
Incident Location  
Unspecified   
Victims Involved
Injury Information  
Injury→Injury, Level of care not known  
My Relationship to the Victim  
Unspecified  

Page 2 / 3
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Gender  
Unknown  
Victim's Age When Incident Occurred  
Unspecified  
Additional Details
Submitter has product?  
N/A  
Product was damaged before incident?  
N/A  
Product was modified before incident?  
N/A  
If yes to any, explanation  
Have you contacted the manufacturer?  
N/A  
If Not, Do You Plan To?  
N/A  
Associated Recall Details
Associated Recall  
Submitter Details
First Name  

  
Last Name  

  
Address  

  
Phone  

  
E-mail  

Manufacturers and private labelers must not use or disseminate submitter or victim contact information to any other party for any other purpose other than 
verification of the information in a Report.  

Verification of a Report can include information such as:  

l Identity of the submitter;  
l Victim details such as location, age, and gender;  
l Consumer product, including model, serial number, date code, color, and size;  
l Harm or risk of harm;  
l Description of the incident;  
l Incident date or approximate date;  
l Category of submitter.  

Verification must not include activities such as sales, promotion, marketing, warranty, or any other commercial purpose. 

Page 3 / 3
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CPSC does not guarantee the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of the contents of the Publicly Available Consumer Product Safety Information Database on 
SaferProducts.gov, particularly with respect to information submitted by people outside of CPSC.
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Report #20150202-72E1B-1466080 

Report Details
Report No.  
20150202-72E1B-1466080  
Report Date  
2/2/2015  
Sent to Manufacturer / Importer / Private Labeler  
2/24/2015  
Category of Submitter  
Consumer  
Product Details
Product Description  
Walk in bathtub  
Product Category  
Home Maintenance and Structures  
Product Type  
Plumbing & Bath  
Product Code  
Bathtubs or Showers  
Manufacturer / Importer / Private Labeler Name  
JACUZZI BRANDS CORP.      
Manufacturer / Importer / Private Labeler Address  
13925 City Center Drive, Suite 200, Chino Hills, California, 91710, United States  
Brand Name  
Model Name or Number  
LW45  
Serial Number  
BDK86N  
UPC Code  
Date Manufactured  
   
Manufacturer Date Code  
   
Retailer  
Door to Door Sales  
Retailer State  
Missouri  
Purchase Date  
11/28/2014  
Incident Details
Incident Description  
Purchased walk in bathtub wife was sitting in possibly half the tub of water, water is lower than seat.  
 
Caller's wife was going to stand, used the bar to brace herself but her feet slid out causing her to fall.  
 
The bar should give her leverage and floor is supposed to be slip free.  
 
The bar held but the floor was not slip free.  
 
The caller's wife sustained minor injuries including left foot and left knee bruising then back and tailbone bruising and pain.  
 
The caller's wife treated herself the first week, just taking pain pills but the pain was too bad for self treatment.  
 
He took his wife to the physician who obtained xrays to be sure there were no broken bones and advised the caller to continue taking the pain pills.  
 
The callers spoke with the manufacturer January 20th, 2015, spoke with [REDACTED] and on the 21st, caller doesn't remember name of representative. January 
22nd, he spoke with [REDACTED] who was a manager but of no assistance.  
 
He will try again but does plan to contact Consumer Protection.  
 
Submitter added [REDACTED] called him on 2/5/15 and said she ordered the part for his tub and as soon as it comes in she will call them to set a date to have it 
installed..Submitter noted today in 2/9/15 and they have not heard from her.  
 
 
 
Incident Date  
1/17/2015  
Incident Location  
Home/Apartment/Condominium   
Victims Involved
Injury Information  
Injury→Injury, Seen by Medical Professional  
My Relationship to the Victim  

Page 2 / 3
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My Spouse  
Gender  
Female  
Victim's Age When Incident Occurred  
71 years  
Additional Details
Submitter has product?  
Yes  
Product was damaged before incident?  
No  
Product was modified before incident?  
No  
If yes to any, explanation  
Submitter added [REDACTED] called him on 2/5/15 and said she ordered the part for his tub and as soon as it comes in she will call them to set a date to have it 
installed..Submitter noted today in 2/9/15 and they have not heard from her.  
Have you contacted the manufacturer?  
Yes  
If Not, Do You Plan To?  
N/A  
Associated Recall Details
Associated Recall  
Submitter Details
Submitter Requested to Not Release Contact Information to The Manufacturer  

Page 3 / 3
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Case: 00223498
 

Contact Name  Case Owner

Account Name  Asset  

Brand  Warranty  

Demo/Red Tag  Serial # (Text)  

  Part Number  

  Part Number (Text)  

Additional Information

Status Closed Type  

Case Reason  Case Origin Legacy RightNow

Case Sub-Reason  Priority Medium

Subject Customer called in to notify us that the FS unit they just purchased was very slippery and husband (  fell
and hurt/broke his big toe.

Description  

Resolution Information

Category  Product  

Product Issue  Product Component  

Other Product Issue  Other Reason  

Case Resolution    

System Information

Created By , 5/7/2014 8:32 PM Last Modified By , 5/12/2014 11:36 PM

Business Hours Default Entitlement Name  

  Case Record Type Legacy

Case Comments
5/8/2014 8:58 PM

User
Public

Comment

Called  and said we were sorry about his
experience. I advised that our units exceed the
standard by 1.5 times. Said he slipped from the seat
and broke his toe. SAid only plain water no bath
additives were used. Said he was holding onto both
handles on the right side with his right hand. 

said that our unit is unsafe and we need to
do something about it. He is asking for compensation
for suffering and x-ray swollen foot his suffering. He
said he doesn't know if we want to sue him or not. He
said we can send someone to take a look. Not
interested in suing anyone but he is 80 years old and
he wants compensation. He is very upset and scared
to use the bath. She said no one advised that the tub
could be slippery. Now they cover the seat and put
strips on the floor. This happened 2.5 to 3 weeks ago.
They contacted  the installer. They want
compensation for the suffering. They asked to call
back if we have any other questions.

5/7/2014 8:32 PM
User

Public

Comment

 called for us to note that the tub she purchased
had a very slippery seat and floor. Her husband
slipped and fell and his big toe got caught in the drain
and it broke the toe. He is in extreme pain. She did not
realize something like this could happen because we
advertise a safe walk in tub. I apologized and told her I
would note this compliant and talk with my superior
and give them a call back within 24 hours.
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Action Created.
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Case: 00282714

Case Number 00282714 Date/Time Opened 2/25/2015 10:30 AM

Contact Name Case Owner

Account Name Jacuzzi Consumers Master Account Case Record Type Extended

Model Description FS 5229 C RH SLN HTR SKT ALM Contact Email

Case Origin Phone Contact Phone

Email Origin Serial # (Text)

Brand JB Part Number (Text)

Type

Case Summary

Case Title  - Jacuzzi Consumers Master Account - - - Educate caller/NMDF - 2015-02-25

Priority Medium

Status Closed

Case Reason

Subject Complaint on 

Description  called in. She bought tub for her mom. Was installed 7/2014.
She bought this tub due to the flyer and what it offered.
Seat - Slippery -  came out and sprayed something on the seat not it ruff and due to her moms
age the skin is thin and is leaving marks on her.
Caulking - not completed
Faucet leaking - Replaced once
When you have the hand held water comes out from the spout too.
Water temperature is either cold or hot,

Tried called  but they will not return her call anymore.
Her last phone call was that she would need to buy a new tub.

Quality Metrics

UFC Category Process Feedback Detail

UFC Component Product Early Warning
Comments

UFC Sub-Component Experience

UFC Behavior General Inquiry

Service

Date Service Center
Contacted

System Information

EW Date

Warranty
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Created By , 2/25/2015 10:30 AM Date/Time Closed 2/26/2015 11:48 AM

Last Modified By  4/2/2015 7:27 AM

 Contact Information

Account Information

Account Name Account Owner No Reply

Email Phone

Contact Preference Mobile

Home Phone

Prospectid Fax

Address Information

Billing Address United States Mailing Address United States

Nearest D1 ISP Map Map Closest ISP (D1) Nearest Spa Service
Center

Map Closest Spa Service Center

SmartTub Information

Receive Smart Tub
Emails

IoT Contact Terms of Service Opt
Out

Pardot URL Messaging Opt Out

Additional Information

Email Opt Out

System Information

Created By  12/1/2016 12:08 AM Last Modified By  12/15/2016 4:24 AM

Activity History
Email:  - Serial BDJ6HT [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]

Name
Task

Due Date 3/19/2015
Assigned To

Last Modified Date/Time 3/19/2015 9:49 AM

Comments

Additional To: 

Attachment:

Subject:  - Serial BDJ6HT [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]
Body:

Declined to provide
Email

Account Id

Case: 00282714 ~ Salesforce - Performance Edition https://jacuzzibrands.my.salesforce.com/500G000000enJk8/p?retURL=/...
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,

I placed an order for a new faucet assembly for consumer  Part will ship to you
by FedEx. Once I received tracking number I will email it to you.

Thank you,

___________________________________________________________________

From: 
Sent: Thursday, March 19, 2015 8:02 AM
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: RE: Jacuzzi Walk In Tub ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars - 

Thanks 

Marketing Manager- Aging In Place Bathing

www.jacuzzi.com
13925 City Center Drive, Suite 200/ Chino Hills, CA 91709

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the
intended recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all
copies of the email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose,
distribute, copy, print or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may
contain viruses. Although we take precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances
about the absences of viruses. We accept no liability and suggest that you carry out your own
virus

From: 
Sent: Thursday, March 19, 2015 7:56 AM
To:
Cc: 
Subject: RE: Jacuzzi Walk In Tub ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars - 

 just wanted to let you know that the material for  is scheduled to arrive to us
3-20-15. I talked to her and this was the first time her schedule would work with ours. Can you
send us a faucet and hand held to repair that part of issue? Let me know please.

_____________
Important/Confidential: This communication and any files or documents attached to it are
intended only for the use of the person or entity to which it is addressed. It contains information
that may be privileged, confidential and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you are
not the intended recipient of this communication, you are hereby notified that the copying,
distribution or other use of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this
communication by mistake, please notify the sender immediately by electronic mail and destroy
all forms of this communication (electronic or paper). Thank you

Case: 00282714 ~ Salesforce - Performance Edition https://jacuzzibrands.my.salesforce.com/500G000000enJk8/p?retURL=/...
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Consumer Relations, Aging in Place

14525 Monte Vista, Chino CA 91710

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the
intended recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all
copies of the email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose,
distribute, copy, print, or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may
contain viruses. Although we take precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances
about the absence of viruses. We accept no liability and suggest that you carry out your own
virus checks.
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref

Outbound call to customer.
Name

Task
Due Date 3/6/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 3/6/2015 11:04 AM

Comments
called customer back advised she would need to spake to fairbanks. Advised she wants tub that
has the hump in the middle of the seat advised we do not make that unit, aadvise out seat has
been the same since we launched the product. Proved PH to  as  requested.

2015-03-06 10:56:15
Name

Task
Due Date 3/6/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 3/6/2015 11:02 AM

Comments

2015-03-06 08:33:33
Name

Task
Due Date 3/6/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 3/6/2015 8:58 AM

Comments

Spoke to 
Name

Task
Due Date 3/6/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 3/6/2015 8:56 AM

Comments Spoke to  he said he will have someone out ASAP to fix. Call  and ask to speak to

Case: 00282714 ~ Salesforce - Performance Edition https://jacuzzibrands.my.salesforce.com/500G000000enJk8/p?retURL=/...
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2015-03-06 07:15:07
Name

Task
Due Date 3/6/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 3/6/2015 7:28 AM

Comments

2015-03-03 08:08:24
Name

Task
Due Date 3/3/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 3/3/2015 8:08 AM

Comments

Outbound call to customer.
Name

Task
Due Date 3/3/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 3/3/2015 8:08 AM

Comments Follow up w/  in regards to seat questions.. LVM ..

2015-03-02 10:28:31
Name

Task
Due Date 3/2/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 3/2/2015 10:38 AM

Comments

2015-03-02 09:46:39
Name

Task
Due Date 3/2/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 3/2/2015 9:47 AM

Comments

Inbound call from consumer
Name

Task
Due Date 3/2/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 3/2/2015 9:33 AM

Comments Rec VM from consumer concerned about contour seat. Tried to call number listed but VM says
memory fulll and just beeps.

2015-03-02 09:32:11

Case: 00282714 ~ Salesforce - Performance Edition https://jacuzzibrands.my.salesforce.com/500G000000enJk8/p?retURL=/...
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Name
Task

Due Date 3/2/2015
Assigned To

Last Modified Date/Time 3/2/2015 9:32 AM
Comments

Email: RE:  [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]
Name

Task
Due Date 2/26/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 2/26/2015 11:42 AM

Comments

Additional To: 
CC:
BCC: 
Attachment:

Subject: RE:  [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]
Body:

Phone number for 
Send email to: 

--------------- Original Message ---------------
From: 
Sent: 2/26/2015 10:27 AM
To: 
Subject:  [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]

Hi 

I just wanted to let you know that regarding our seat for the walk in tub the ADA standard for
seating is 17" and the seat is compliant on all of our walk in tub models. It does not mention ADA
Contoured seat. We also sent an email  regarding your concerns. I tried calling you but
your voice mail is full.

Consumer Relations, Aging in Place

14525 Monte Vista, Chino CA 91710

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the
intended recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all
copies of the email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose,
distribute, copy, print, or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may
contain viruses. Although we take precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances
about the absence of viruses. We accept no liability and suggest that you carry out your own
virus checks.
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref

Consumer Relations, Aging in Place
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14525 Monte Vista, Chino CA 91710

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the
intended recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all
copies of the email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose,
distribute, copy, print, or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may
contain viruses. Although we take precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances
about the absence of viruses. We accept no liability and suggest that you carry out your own
virus checks.

Inbound Consumer
Name

Task
Due Date 2/26/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 2/26/2015 11:14 AM

Comments  called and was able to located the serial number BDF78Y

2015-02-26 11:09:08
Name

Task
Due Date 2/26/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 2/26/2015 11:12 AM

Comments

Outbound Consumer
Name

Task
Due Date 2/26/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 2/26/2015 10:31 AM

Comments Tried calling - no answer and vm was full.

Email:  [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]
Name

Task
Due Date 2/26/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 2/26/2015 10:27 AM

Comments

Additional To: 
CC:
BCC: 
Attachment:

Subject:  [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]
Body:
Hi 

I just wanted to let you know that regarding our seat for the walk in tub the ADA standard for
seating is 17" and the seat is compliant on all of our walk in tub models. It does not mention ADA

Case: 00282714 ~ Salesforce - Performance Edition https://jacuzzibrands.my.salesforce.com/500G000000enJk8/p?retURL=/...
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Contoured seat. We also sent an email  regarding your concerns. I tried calling you but
your voice mail is full.

Consumer Relations, Aging in Place

14525 Monte Vista, Chino CA 91710

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the
intended recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all
copies of the email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose,
distribute, copy, print, or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may
contain viruses. Although we take precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances
about the absence of viruses. We accept no liability and suggest that you carry out your own
virus checks.
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref

2015-02-26 10:21:08
Name

Task
Due Date 2/26/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 2/26/2015 10:21 AM

Comments

Email sent in for Consumer
Name

Task
Due Date 2/26/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 2/26/2015 10:20 AM

Comments

From: 
Sent: Wednesday, February 25, 2015 10:14 AM
To: 
Subject: Jacuzzi Walk In Tub ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars - 

Please see paragraph 4.

--

2015-02-26 10:17:14
Name

Task

Case: 00282714 ~ Salesforce - Performance Edition https://jacuzzibrands.my.salesforce.com/500G000000enJk8/p?retURL=/...
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Due Date 2/26/2015
Assigned To

Last Modified Date/Time 2/26/2015 10:17 AM
Comments

Email: ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]
Name

Task
Due Date 2/25/2015

Assigned To
Last Modified Date/Time 2/25/2015 10:38 AM

Comments

Additional To: 
CC:
BCC: 
Attachment:  Jacuzzi Walk-In Tub Contoured ADA seat_02.pdf

Subject: ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]
Body:
Hello 

I need your assistance, I received a call to day for consumer  She purchased a
Walk in Tub 07/2014 for her mom. The main reason she purchased the tub was ADA Contoured
Seat Design. Do we offer that?

Other issues she is having:
Seat - Slippery -  came out and sprayed something on the seat now it ruff and due to
her moms age the skin is thin and is leaving marks (scratches) on her. (FS recommend Solid Step
Cote which you have to brush or rolled in on).
Caulking - not completed
Faucet leaking - Replaced once
When you have the hand held water comes out from the spout too.
Water temperature is either cold or hot,

Tried called  but they will not return her call anymore.
Her last phone call was that she would need to buy a new tub.

Consumer Relations, Aging in Place

14525 Monte Vista, Chino CA 91710

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the
intended recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all
copies of the email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose,
distribute, copy, print, or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may
contain viruses. Although we take precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances
about the absence of viruses. We accept no liability and suggest that you carry out your own
virus checks.
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref

Need to email tracking number to fairbanks.
Name

Task
Due Date

Assigned To

Case: 00282714 ~ Salesforce - Performance Edition https://jacuzzibrands.my.salesforce.com/500G000000enJk8/p?retURL=/...

9 of 17 8/15/2018, 4:41 PM

JACUZZI002980 0112



Last Modified Date/Time 4/2/2015 8:32 AM
Comments

Contact Roles

Account Name Service technician
Title Marketing Manager
Role Customer Service Contact

Email
Phone

Fax
Mobile
Owner

Account Name
Title Field Manager
Role Customer Service Contact

Email
Phone

Fax
Mobile
Owner

Emails
RE:  - Serial BDJ6HT [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]

Message Date 3/19/2015 10:01 AM
Has Attachment

Email Address
Status Read

Subject RE:  - Serial BDJ6HT [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]

Text Body

thanks

_____________
Important/Confidential: This communication and any files or documents attached to it are intended only
for the use of the person or entity to which it is addressed. It contains information that may be privileged,
confidential and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you are not the intended recipient of this
communication, you are hereby notified that the copying, distribution or other use of this communication
is strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication by mistake, please notify the sender
immediately by electronic mail and destroy all forms of this communication (electronic or paper). Thank
you

-----Original Message-----
From: 
Sent: Thursday, March 19, 2015 12:49 PM
To: 
Cc: 
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Subject:  - Serial BDJ6HT [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]

I placed an order for a new faucet assembly for consumer . Part will ship to you by
FedEx. Once I received tracking number I will email it to you.

Thank you,

___________________________________________________________________

From: 
Sent: Thursday, March 19, 2015 8:02 AM
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: RE: Jacuzzi Walk In Tub ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars - 

Thanks 

 this customer contacted  directly so I'm not sure if you have any record of them but
we need to get  a faucet for repair. Please confirm. Thanks!

Marketing Manager- Aging In Place Bathing

www.jacuzzi.com
13925 City Center Drive, Suite 200/ Chino Hills, CA 91709

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the intended
recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all copies of the
email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print
or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may contain viruses. Although we take
precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances about the absences of viruses. We accept no
liability and suggest that you carry out your own virus

From: 
Sent: Thursday, March 19, 2015 7:56 AM
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: RE: Jacuzzi Walk In Tub ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars - 

 just wanted to let you know that the material for  is scheduled to arrive to us 3-20-15.
I talked to her and this was the first time her schedule would work with ours. Can you send us a faucet
and hand held to repair that part of issue? Let me know please.

_____________
Important/Confidential: This communication and any files or documents attached to it are intended only
for the use of the person or entity to which it is addressed. It contains information that may be privileged,
confidential and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you are not the intended recipient of this
communication, you are hereby notified that the copying, distribution or other use of this communication
is strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication by mistake, please notify the sender
immediately by electronic mail and destroy all forms of this communication (electronic or paper). Thank
you
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Consumer Relations, Aging in Place

14525 Monte Vista, Chino CA 91710

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the intended
recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all copies of the
email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print,
or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may contain viruses. Although we take
precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances about the absence of viruses. We accept no
liability and suggest that you carry out your own virus checks.
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref

Automatic reply:  - Serial BDJ6HT [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]
Message Date 3/19/2015 9:49 AM

Has Attachment
Email Address

Status New
Subject Automatic reply:  - Serial BDJ6HT [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]

Text Body

Please pardon my delayed response; I will be out of the office until Friday March 20th. I will respond to
your email promptly when I return. For immedate assistance please call my cell phone, 909.306.6193

Thank you,

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the intended
recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all copies of the
email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print,
or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may contain viruses. Although we take
precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances about the absence of viruses. We accept no
liability and suggest that you carry out your own virus checks.

 - Serial BDJ6HT [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]
Message Date 3/19/2015 9:49 AM

Has Attachment

Email Address

Status Sent
Subject  - Serial BDJ6HT [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]

Text Body

I placed an order for a new faucet assembly for consumer  Part will ship to you by
FedEx. Once I received tracking number I will email it to you.

Thank you,

___________________________________________________________________

From: 
Sent: Thursday, March 19, 2015 8:02 AM
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: RE: Jacuzzi Walk In Tub ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars - 
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Thanks 

Marketing Manager- Aging In Place Bathing

www.jacuzzi.com
13925 City Center Drive, Suite 200/ Chino Hills, CA 91709

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the intended
recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all copies of the
email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print
or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may contain viruses. Although we take
precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances about the absences of viruses. We accept no
liability and suggest that you carry out your own virus

From: 
Sent: Thursday, March 19, 2015 7:56 AM
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: RE: Jacuzzi Walk In Tub ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars - 

, just wanted to let you know that the material for  is scheduled to arrive to us 3-20-15.
I talked to her and this was the first time her schedule would work with ours. Can you send us a faucet
and hand held to repair that part of issue? Let me know please.

_____________
Important/Confidential: This communication and any files or documents attached to it are intended only
for the use of the person or entity to which it is addressed. It contains information that may be privileged,
confidential and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you are not the intended recipient of this
communication, you are hereby notified that the copying, distribution or other use of this communication
is strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication by mistake, please notify the sender
immediately by electronic mail and destroy all forms of this communication (electronic or paper). Thank
you

Consumer Relations, Aging in Place

14525 Monte Vista, Chino CA 91710

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the intended
recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all copies of the
email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print,
or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may contain viruses. Although we take
precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances about the absence of viruses. We accept no
liability and suggest that you carry out your own virus checks.
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref
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RE:  [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]
Message Date 2/26/2015 11:42 AM

Has Attachment
Email Address

Status Sent
Subject RE:  [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]

Text Body

.

Phone number for 
Send email to: 

--------------- Original Message ---------------
From: 
Sent: 2/26/2015 10:27 AM
To: 
Subject:  [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]

Hi 

I just wanted to let you know that regarding our seat for the walk in tub the ADA standard for seating is
17" and the seat is compliant on all of our walk in tub models. It does not mention ADA Contoured seat.
We also sent an email  regarding your concerns. I tried calling you but your voice mail is full.

Consumer Relations, Aging in Place

14525 Monte Vista, Chino CA 91710

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the intended
recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all copies of the
email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print,
or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may contain viruses. Although we take
precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances about the absence of viruses. We accept no
liability and suggest that you carry out your own virus checks.
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref

Consumer Relations, Aging in Place

14525 Monte Vista, Chino CA 91710

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the intended
recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all copies of the
email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print,
or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may contain viruses. Although we take
precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances about the absence of viruses. We accept no
liability and suggest that you carry out your own virus checks.

 [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]
Message Date 2/26/2015 10:27 AM

Has Attachment
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Email Address
Status Replied

Subject  [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]

Text Body

Hi 

I just wanted to let you know that regarding our seat for the walk in tub the ADA standard for seating is
17" and the seat is compliant on all of our walk in tub models. It does not mention ADA Contoured seat.
We also sent an email  regarding your concerns. I tried calling you but your voice mail is full.

Consumer Relations, Aging in Place

14525 Monte Vista, Chino CA 91710

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the intended
recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all copies of the
email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print,
or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may contain viruses. Although we take
precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances about the absence of viruses. We accept no
liability and suggest that you carry out your own virus checks.
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref

RE: ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]
Message Date 2/25/2015 10:42 AM

Has Attachment
Email Address

Status Read
Subject RE: ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]

Text Body

Marketing Manager- Aging In Place Bathing

www.jacuzzi.com
13925 City Center Drive, Suite 200/ Chino Hills, CA 91709

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the intended
recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all copies of the
email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print
or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may contain viruses. Although we take
precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances about the absences of viruses. We accept no
liability and suggest that you carry out your own virus

-----Original Message-----
From: 
Sent: Wednesday, February 25, 2015 10:39 AM
To: 
Subject: ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]

Hello 
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I need your assistance, I received a call to day for consumer . She purchased a Walk in
Tub 07/2014 for her mom. The main reason she purchased the tub was ADA Contoured Seat Design. Do
we offer that?

Other issues she is having:
Seat - Slippery -  came out and sprayed something on the seat now it ruff and due to her moms
age the skin is thin and is leaving marks (scratches) on her. (FS recommend Solid Step Cote which you
have to brush or rolled in on).
Caulking - not completed
Faucet leaking - Replaced once
When you have the hand held water comes out from the spout too.
Water temperature is either cold or hot,

Tried called  but they will not return her call anymore.
Her last phone call was that she would need to buy a new tub.

Consumer Relations, Aging in Place

14525 Monte Vista, Chino CA 91710

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the intended
recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all copies of the
email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print,
or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may contain viruses. Although we take
precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances about the absence of viruses. We accept no
liability and suggest that you carry out your own virus checks.
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref

ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]
Message Date 2/25/2015 10:38 AM

Has Attachment
Email Address

Status Sent
Subject ADA Contoured Seat Design and Grab Bars [ ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref ]

Text Body

Hello 

Consumer Relations, Aging in Place

14525 Monte Vista, Chino CA 91710
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This email and any attachments are confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the intended
recipient, please notify the author by replying to this email message, and then delete all copies of the
email on your system. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print,
or use this email in any manner. Email messages and attachments may contain viruses. Although we take
precautions to check for viruses, we make no assurances about the absence of viruses. We accept no
liability and suggest that you carry out your own virus checks.
ref:_00DG0kX3r._500G0enJk8:ref

Attachments
 Jacuzzi Walk-In Tub Contoured ADA

seat_02.pdf
Size 330KB

Ownership
View View file

Last Modified 2/25/2015 10:31 AM

Case History
2/26/2015 11:48 AM

User
Action Changed Status from On Hold - Waiting on Customer to Closed. Closed.

2/25/2015 10:30 AM
User

Action Created.

Chatter
Text Posts

Copyright © 2000-2018 salesforce.com, inc. All rights reserved.
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AFFIDAVIT OF IAN C. ESTRADA, ESQ. PURSUANT TO E.D.C.R. 2.34 AND E.D.C.R. 2.26 

IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION TO STRIKE FIRSTSTREET’S and AITHR’S 
ANSWERS FOR DISCOVERY ABUSES ON ORDER SHORTENING TIME 

 

STATE OF NEVADA ) 
    ) ss: 
COUNTY OF CLARK ) 

IAN C. ESTRADA, ESQ., being first duly sworn, deposes and says: 

1. That I am an attorney at law duly licensed to practice in the State of Nevada. 

2. That I am counsel for Plaintiff in the above-entitled matter. 

3. That the Discovery cut-off deadline in this matter is on January 25, 2019. 

4. That trial in this matter is currently set on the five-week stack commencing April 

22, 2019. 

5. That due to ongoing, multiple discovery abuses, there have been multiple 

discussions among counsel pursuant to E.D.C.R. 2.34 over the last year and a 

half, and said discovery issues have been the subject of numerous motions filed 

and heard by this Court. 

6. As a result of said multiple discovery-related motions, counsel have met and 

conferred at least on ten occasions in an attempt to resolve the discovery disputes 

under E.D.C.R. 2.34. 

7. That pursuant to E.D.C.R. 2.26, there is good cause shown that Plaintiff's Motion 

must be heard on an Order Shortening Time due to the imminent Discovery cut-

off deadline and trial date starting in approximately 3 ½ months.  

8. The parties further conferred off the record at the deposition of Dave Modena, 

the 30(b)(6) designee for AITHR & firstSTREET on December 11, 2018. 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 Within the last three weeks, Plaintiffs have taken the depositions of several witnesses and 

have learned that all remaining Defendants in this action have been engaged in blatant, bad faith 

discovery abuse by actively concealing relevant and material evidence – specifically, evidence of 

prior and subsequent incidents and complaints made by consumers about safety concerns with the 

Jacuzzi Walk-in Tub (hereinafter “Tub”) at issue.  

 As this Court is aware, in a product liability case, a Plaintiff proves his or her case by 

showing that the product was dangerous (dangerousness of the product) and that the 

manufacturers or distributors knew or should have known of the dangerous character of the 

product before the Plaintiff’s use (notice).1  

This product liability case arises out of Sherry’s purchase and use of a Jacuzzi Walk-in 

Tub in February of 2014 that resulted in her untimely and tragic death.  Due to the defective 

design of the Tub, Sherry slipped off the seat while reaching for the Tub controls and became 

wedged in such a way that she was unable to stand back up.  Sherry was trapped in the Tub for 

three days when, due to a wellness check request, rescuers discovered Sherry.  Ultimately, the 

firefighters were forced to cut the door off the walk-in Tub to free Sherry. She was rushed to the 

hospital where she later died of dehydration and rhabdomyolysis.   

 Throughout the course of this case, Plaintiffs have diligently attempted to discover similar 

incidents involving the Tub and substantially similar models.2 

Plaintiffs recently took the deposition of Defendants firstSTREET and AITHR Dealer, 

                                                                 
1  See generally Reingold v. Wet N’Wild Nevada, Inc. 113 Nev 967, 944 P.2d 800 (1997); Ginnis v. Mapes 
Hotel Corp., 86 Nev. 408, 470 P.2d 139 (1970); see also B.E. Witkin, California Evidence §389 (3d ed. 1986)). 
2  Evidence of subsequent, similar accidents involving the same condition are relevant to the issues of 
causation and whether there is a defective and dangerous condition. See Reingold at 113 Nev. 969, 944 P.2d 802 
(citing Ginnis v. Mapes Hotel Corp., 86 Nev. 408, 415, 470 P.2d 135, 139 (1970)). A subsequent accident at the same 
or a similar place, under the same or similar conditions, is just as relevant as a prior accident to show the condition 
was in fact dangerous or defective, or that the injury was caused by the condition. See Ginnis at 86 Nev. 415, 470 
P.2d 139 (citing B.E. Witkin, California Evidence §353 (2d ed. 1966); see also B.E. Witkin, California Evidence 
§389 (3d ed. 1986)). 
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Inc.’s3 Corporate Representative and discovered that there were up to thirteen dealers (in addition 

to Defendant AITHR Dealers, Inc.) who sold Jacuzzi walk-in products throughout the nation prior 

to the subject incident.  These dealers should have been identified and disclosed immediately 

because these dealers likely have material information regarding the issues of notice and 

dangerousness.  In fact, these dealers are the best source of evidence of customer complaints 

regarding any design defects or any similar incidents.  As firstSTREET’s Rule 30(b)(6) designee 

testified, these dealers were the main point of contact with the final, end-users of Jacuzzi walk-in 

tubs because the dealers were the sales and installation people that had in-home, face-to-face 

interactions with the customers.  Therefore, firstSTREET’s designee testified that when 

customers had a safety complaint about a tub that he/she had purchased, that customer would 

usually contact the dealer first.   

firstSTREET (and Jacuzzi) failed to disclose the identities of any of the other dealers who 

sold Jacuzzi products even though discovery has been open for more than two years.  Each dealer 

should have been voluntarily disclosed.  Moreover, firstSTREET affirmatively stated that AITHR 

was the only dealer in its network in response to specific discovery requests seeking information 

about any other dealers.  

Plaintiffs also discovered that there had been ongoing complaints about the slipperiness 

of the Tub from customers dating back to 2012.4  The slipperiness of the Tub became such a 

concern that the Defendants identified a product called Kahuna-Grip, which was a grip used on 

surfboards and similar surfaces, that could be installed into the Tub to provide additional grip.5 

The Defendants have entirely failed to produce: 

 Any internal e-mails regarding the slipperiness issues  

 Any e-mails among Defendants regarding the slipperiness issues 

 Any e-mails regarding the Kahuna Grip product 
                                                                 
3  Hereinafter, Defendants’ firstSTREET and AITHR Dealers, Inc. shall be collectively referred to as 
“firstSTREET.”  
4  See, Ex. 1, (Affidavit of Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq., ¶’s 124-134.) 
5  See, Ex. 1, (Affidavit of Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq., ¶’s 131.) 
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 Any internal e-mails about customer complaints about the slipperiness of the Tub 

 Any e-mails among Defendants regarding customer complaints about the 

slipperiness of the Tub 

 Any customer complaints on this issue 

Additionally, on December 20, 2018, Plaintiffs deposed an elderly woman, Jerre Chopper 

in Hamilton, Montana, and discovered that she had written no less than six letters to Jacuzzi 

(who then informed firstSTREET).  Mrs. Chopper also contacted firstSTREET and AITHR 

directly.  The letters date back to August 2012, where she informed the  Defendants of many 

dangers associated with the Tub.6 

 Mrs. Chopper informed Defendants that the Tub was: 

 A “death trap for any senior experiencing a medical emergency while bathing 

[and] should be recalled.”7 

 Is not safe because the “tub is wet, your feet are wet and the threshold is too high 

and slick . . .”8 

 A problem because, “[i]f a senior lives alone, it seems to me that it could be hours 

or even days before the victim is discovered.”9 

 Dangerous “For anyone suffering a medical emergency (I have a balance problem 

and periodic blackouts) there was no way to get out.  The door opens inward and 

the pressure of the water would negate its opening.”10 

Mrs. Chopper’s complaints went all the way to the top of the company, to the President 

                                                                 
6  See, Ex. 1, (Affidavit of Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq., ¶’s 108-119.) 
7  See, Ex. 1, (Affidavit of Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq., ¶’s 114.) 
8  See, Ex. 1, (Affidavit of Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq., ¶’s 112.) 
9  See, Ex. 1, (Affidavit of Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq., ¶’s 113.) 
10  Letter from Jerre Chopper to Stacey Hackney at firstSTREET, dated December 4, 2012 (with Royce 
McCarty, Jennifer Lint, and Kurt Bachmeyer copied), Exhibit 18 
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of Jacuzzi.11  Mrs. Chopper’s complaints were shared with firstSTREET.12  In addition to 

firstSTREET, Mrs. Chopper also made a complaint with AITHR.13  Some of Mrs. Choppers 

letters were addressed directly to firstSTREET’s General Counsel, Stacey Hackney, Esq. 

The Defendants had failed to disclose the identity of Mrs. Chopper during any written 

discovery responses or answers, failed to identify her pursuant to NRCP 16.1 and failed to provide 

her name during any of the many corporate depositions that have been taken in this matter.  These 

failures can only mean that her identity was concealed in a deliberate, conscious effort to prevent 

the full and fair disclosure of evidence in this matter given the very specific nature of Mrs. 

Chopper’s complaints which call the Tub a “death trap” to the elderly and specifically complain 

about the ability for an elderly person to remain trapped for hours or even days. 

Defendants’ failures to produce this evidence were deliberate, and consciously calculated 

to prevent the full and fair disclosure of evidence in this matter and have significantly prejudiced 

Plaintiffs in this matter.  firstSTREET has repeatedly acted in bad faith throughout the entire 

course of discovery by failing to disclose material and relevant information despite an ongoing 

obligation to do so and this Honorable Court should strike firstSTREET Answer because of the 

significant prejudice to Plaintiffs as a result of firstSTREET’s calculated efforts to thwart fair 

discovery in this matter. 

II. INTRODUCTION 

Sherry’s case began on January 27, 2014, when she purchased a Jacuzzi Walk-in Tub 

(hereinafter “Tub”). The Jacuzzi Walk-in Tub was manufactured by Jacuzzi, marketed by 

firstSTREET and distributed by AITHR Dealer, Inc..14  On February 18, 2014, Sherry attempted 

to use the Tub.  It was only her 2nd or 3rd use of the Tub.  As she was seated in the Tub, Sherry 

                                                                 
11  See, Ex. 1, (Affidavit of Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq., ¶’s 115.) 
12  See, Ex. 1, (Affidavit of Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq., ¶’s 118.) 
13  See, Ex. 1, (Affidavit of Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq., ¶’s 116.) 
14  Jacuzzi and firstSTREET entered a Manufacturing Agreement (hereinafter “Manufacturing Agreement”) 
on October 1, 2011, attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 
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reached for the Tub controls located at the front of the tub and her bottom slipped off the front of 

the Tub seat and slipped down toward the footwell of the Tub.15   

She became wedged in a squatted position unable to move due to her limited strength.16  

Because the door of the Tub opened inward, Sherry was unable to open the door.  Tragically, she 

remained in this position for three days, until a well-check was requested, because no one had 

heard from her.  Even when four trained paramedics arrived, they could not lift her out of the Tub 

due to the inward opening door and the Tub’s high, slick walls.  The paramedics snapped her arm 

trying to lift Sherry out of the Tub.  After trying in vain, the paramedics resorted to cutting the 

door completely off the Tub to remove her.  Sherry was rushed to the hospital, but ultimately died 

about a week later from complications related to being trapped for three days in the Tub.  A 

wrongful death product liability and negligence lawsuit was filed by her family in Clark County, 

which is the basis of case A-16-731244-C (hereinafter “Cunnison case”).   

Also relevant to the issues presented in this Motion to Strike the Answer is a brief 

background of another case Sherry’s attorneys are involved with that also deals with the death of 

a family member who used a Jacuzzi Walk-in Tub.  After filing suit in Sherry’s case, her attorneys 

were contacted by the family of Mack Smith, who lived in Georgia, and who drowned while using 

his Jacuzzi Walk-in Tub (hereinafter “Smith case”).  Mack was relaxing in his Tub, sitting on the 

seat, in a reclined position with his feet against the wall, when his bottom slipped off the seat, 

similar to Sherry, and he struggled to get his bottom back up on the seat.  Mack’s wife Barbara 

rushed into the bathroom to help him, but due to the inward opening doors, she was unable to 

open the door, hold his head above water, and call for help all at the same time.  After she had 

summoned help, while she was waiting for help to arrive, her husband Mack, drowned in the Tub. 

                                                                 
15  The police officers and paramedics who responded when she became trapped testified that she told them 
what happened. 
16  To envision how Sherry became trapped, imagine firmly bolting a chair about two feet away from a wall, 
facing the wall. Next, imagine the person seated in the chair scooting his/her bottom toward the wall, until his/her 
bottom slipped off the front of the chair.  Because of the immobile nature of the chair in this example, the person 
would be wedged in the narrow area.  This is similar to the Tub at issue – it has a very limited space should one fall 
or slip into the footwell area.  See, Photograph of Jacuzzi Walk-in Tub, attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 
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Plaintiffs set forth in great detail the specific allegations against the Defendants in the 

Fourth Amended Complaint.  Specifically, the Complaint alleged: 
 

40. Defendants, and each of them, knew or should have known that 
unreasonably dangerous conditions existed with the Jacuzzi walk-in tub, being 
used by Plaintiff, namely the inability to get up or exit if Plaintiff fell. 
 
50. The Defendants and/or DOE/ROE Defendants, knew or should have 
known of the subject product’s defect which rendered it unreasonably dangerous 
at the time of placing the subject product into the stream of commerce and failed 
to undertake measures to prohibit it from entering into the stream of commerce 
and into the hands of users in the state of Nevada, including warnings for product 
failure, proper use and maintenance of the product and proper inspection of the 
product for potential hazards and/or defects. 
 
77. Defendants market the walk-in tub to elderly individuals like SHERRY 
who are weak, feeble and at a significant risk for falling down. 
 
78. Defendants advertise that millions of Americans with mobility concerns 
know that simply taking a bath can be a hazardous experience. 
 
79. Defendants advertise that the solution to having a hazardous experience 
while taking a bath is the Jacuzzi Walk-in Tub. 
 
80. Defendants advertise that those who purchase a walk-in tub can feel safe 
and feel better with every bath. 
 
. . .  
 
84. Defendants advertise that getting out of the tub is easy like getting out of a 
chair and that it is nothing like climbing up from the bottom of the user’s old tub. 
 
85. Despite knowing that the users of the Jacuzzi walk-in bathtub are weak, 
feeble and at a significant risk for falling down, Defendants did nothing to plan for 
the foreseeable event of having a user like SHERRY fall down inside the walk-in 
bathtub. 
 
. . .  
 
87. Defendants knew of the heightened risk of having users like SHERRY fall 
down inside the Jacuzzi walk-in bathtub, and have difficulties getting back up or 
out of the bathtub, but did nothing to alleviate that risk. 
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88. Defendants knew of the heightened risk of having users like SHERRY fall 
down inside the Jacuzzi walk-in bathtub, and have difficulties getting back up or 
out of the bathtub, but did nothing to mitigate that risk. 
 
89. Defendants knew of the heightened risk of having users like SHERRY fall 
down inside the Jacuzzi walk-in bathtub, and have difficulties getting back up or 
out of the bathtub, but did nothing to reduce that risk. 
 
91. “Because of Defendants conscious choices to put profits before safety, the 
Jacuzzi walk-in bathtub is a deathtrap for nearly any elderly person who happens 
to fall down inside the bathtub because there are no grab bars positioned in a way 
that someone can get back up if they fall down and because the door opens inward 
and traps the elderly person inside the bathtub.”17 

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS18 

Discovery has been open in this case for approximately two and a half years.  The JCCR 

in this case was filed on August 23, 2016. Now, with trial set on the April 22, 2019 stack (just 

four months away) Plaintiffs have learned that firstSTREET did not disclose the names of vital 

witnesses who have information regarding the dangerousness of the Tub and Defendants’ notice 

of such dangerousness.   

firstSTREET did not disclose the identities of any other dealers, did not disclose any of 

the high number of customers who had complained about the slipperiness of the Tub, and did not 

disclose Jerre Chopper (who specifically complained to all Defendants about the very same design 

defects that are alleged in this case).  firstSTREET also failed to disclose vital documents.  

firstSTREET did not disclose customer complaints, communications with Jacuzzi about customer 

complaints, and letters from Jerre Chopper.  They also did not produce thousands of pages of 

emails with Jacuzzi about marketing until Jacuzzi forced their hand by taking the position that 

Jacuzzi had absolutely no involvement in the marketing of the Tub.  Essentially, Plaintiffs have 

                                                                 
17  See, Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, filed June 21, 2017, attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 
18  As an initial matter, Plaintiffs hereby incorporate Plaintiffs’ Renewed Motion to Strike Defendant Jacuzzi, 
Inc.’s Answer (filed concurrently with this Motion) into this Motion as though set forth completely herein because 
Jacuzzi’s discovery abuses are relevant to firstSTREET’s discovery abuses.  At worst, firstSTREET has withheld 
evidence in a coordinated effort with Jacuzzi.  At best, firstSTREET knew that Jacuzzi was withholding evidence and 
failed to disclose the same. 
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just learned that they have been conducting discovery on only a miniscule portion of the complete 

universe of relevant evidence.   
A. FIRSTSTREET DID NOT DISCLOSE THE IDENTITIES OF APPROXIMATELY 10 TO 

14 OTHER DEALERS 
 Dealers, like AITHR, are vital witnesses in this case.  Dealers are the best source of 

information regarding prior and subsequent similar incidents.  They are also the best source of 

information regarding customer complaints. 

firstSTREET’s Rules 30(b)(6) designee, Dave Modena, testified that customer complaints 

of all types (whether the complaint is in regard to an injury, a design defect complaint, a warranty 

complaint, an installation issue, or a safety issue) normally go to the dealer first.  Mr. Modena 

testified: 

Q    Okay.  Now, after the tub is sold and installed, and let's say there's a 
problem with the drain or a problem with, you know, the faucet or whatever 
it is -- 
A    Yes. 
Q    -- in any issue, let's say it's even a safety issue, or let's say it's a -- you 
know, somebody got hurt, do they call the dealer or are they told to call 
Jacuzzi or are they told to call First Street? 
A    The customer normally would call the dealer.  That's who they dealt 
with.  That's who they -- that's who they -- that's who they know.  That was 
the face. 

So this Jacuzzi dealer, when they give them their company story and 
Airtite would give them their information, so in the leave-behind packet that 
you're pulling out now, you would -- you would put -- you would put -- they 
would put their name and information in there.  That's what they are supposed to 
do. 

So, now, they would -- also would receive a Jacuzzi manual, as well, 
which -- which would have a Jacuzzi number.  So as true in many cases in home 
improvement, they may call the person that sold it to them, because that's their 
first point of contact.  That's where they typically go to.  But in a manufacturer 
situation, too, they would -- especially if they thought it was warranty situation, 
they would contact the manufacturer. 

But, normally, the first point of contact, and I would say most of the 
time, it would come back to the dealer, because -- 
 Q    Okay. 
A    -- that's who they dealt with. 
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Modena, David, (Pages 109:6 to 110:10) 

1. firstSTREET did not Disclose the Dealers Voluntarilty 

 

 firstSTREET did not disclose the identities of any dealers other than AITHR in any of its 

voluntary disclosures.  See, firstSTREET’s 3rd Supplemental NRCP 16.1 Disclosure.  Pursuant to 

NRCP 16.1, the dealers should have been disclosed in firstSTREET’s initial disclosures.  And 

pursuant to NRCP 26, firstSTREET had a duty to supplement its disclosures to include the 

identities of all dealers.  This is especially true in light of the fact that firstSTREET knows that 

Plaintiffs have been seeking similar incident evidence throughout discovery in this case.  

firstSTREET has been served with every discovery motion before this Court and has been present 

at every hearing before the Discovery Commissioner.  Each of the recent string of discovery 

disputes have all related to Plaintiffs’ attempts to discover similar incidents evidence.  Knowing 

this, firstSTREET has been acutely aware of the relevance of the dealer witnesses but chose not to 

disclose this information voluntarily. 

2. firstSTREET did not Disclose the Dealers in Response to Written 
Discovery Requests 

 Not only did firstSTREET refuse to voluntarily disclose the dealers, firstSTREET 

affirmatively stated in written discovery responses that AITHR is the only dealer.  Plaintiffs’ very 

first interrogatory to firstSTREET asked for the list of all dealers. firstSTREET responded that 

AITHR was the only dealer:  

INTERROGATORY NO. 1.: 
In the Manufacturing Agreement between FirstStreet and Jacuzzi, Bates 
stamped as Jacuzzi001588 thru Jacuzzi001606, the document indicates that 
FirstStreet desired Jacuzzi to manufacture walk-in tubs and other bath 
products for FirstStreet and its network of dealers and distributors - please 
list all dealers and distributors within the network of FirstStreet. 
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ANSWER: Objection. This Interrogatory is overbroad with respect to 
timeframe. Without waiving said objections, the only dealer or distributor 
within the network of FirstStreet is AITHR.  As FirstStreet's discovery 
on this issue is ongoing, Defendant reserves the right to amend and/or 
supplement this response as additional information becomes known.19 
 

firstSTREET’s response is obstructionist gamesmanship.  Currently, the only dealer in 

firstSTREET’s network of dealers that sells Jacuzzi products is AITHR.  See generally, Dave 

Modena Tran. at pp. 102-104.  However, at the time that Sherry purchased the Tub, there were 

approximately ten dealers in firstSTREET’s network that sold Jacuzzi products.  See generally, 

Dave Modena Tran. at pp. 102-104.  Knowing this, the evasive and misleading nature of 

firstSTREET’s interrogatory response becomes clear.  First, firstSTREET objected to 

Interrogatory 1, stating that it is overbroad with respect to time.  Then, firstSTREET responded 

that the only dealer in firstSTREET’s network is AITHR.  While that may be true today, it is not 

true for the period most relevant to this case.  firstSTREET knowingly evaded Plaintiffs’ 

interrogatory and provided a misleading answer. 

2. firstSTREET finally Reveals the other Dealers in Deposition 

 

 On December 11, 2018, Plaintiffs deposed firstSTREET’s Corporate Representative, 

David Modena in Richmond, Indiana.  At the deposition, firstSTREET revealed for the first time 

that there were up to fourteen dealers selling Jacuzzi walk-in tubs prior to the subject incident and 

up to twelve dealers at the time Sherry purchased her Tub.  Mr. Modena testified: 

Q    Okay.  So I'm just trying to figure out, I guess, what other dealers there are of 
-- 
A    At the time, there were Ken Jenkins Home Safety Bath, American Home 
Design.  We had about 13 dealers when we started.  At this time, we probably still 
had 10 to 11 dealers that we sent leads to.  And our Denver AITHR Dealer 

                                                                 
19  firstSTREET’s Response to Plaintiff Tamatini’s First Set of Interrogatories, Exhibit 8 
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organization was carrying -- was covering the states in the middle of the country.  
Some of the large states represented 13 percent of the leads and population. 
Q    So what are -- what are the other -- you have given me Home Safety Bath, 
Home Living Solutions, American Home Design -- 
A    Home Living Solutions -- Home Living Solutions was not a dealer for us.  
They were a company that had a relationship with Jacuzzi you had asked about 
earlier.  They were the company that was responsible in trying to distribute and 
sell and market Jacuzzi tubs at the time. They had some sort of exclusive 
arrangement.  This wasn't going anywhere.  
Q    So is it fair to say that Home -- Home Living Solutions was kind of like the 
First Street before First Street? 
A    In fact, they came to us to see if we could help them with their marketing 
because they're not a marketing company. 
 Q    Okay.  So American Home Design is a dealer, though? 
A    Yes.  They were at the time. 
Q    All right.  You said there were -- 
A    I think there were 13 when we started this program with Jacuzzi, in setting up 
our own dealer network and working with Jacuzzi exclusively, and then we 
covered the country, with the exception of the -- ourself being a dealer for those 
states in the middle of the country, and we can define that for you at a later date if 
you'd like to know who those were at the time. 
Q    Yeah.  Your testimony today is, is that there are still, I think you said, 10 to 
12? 
A    Not now.  Not now.  There are no dealers now.  We are the only -- AITHR 
Dealer is the only company that's doing Jacuzzi tubs for us, that's still doing our 
tub program. 

At that time -- at the time there were probably at least 10 during this 
time of this event we're talking about, the Cunnison situation.  There were -- 
I would have to go back and look and see exactly how many we still had.  But 
we had most of them in place at the time.  As time went on, if the dealer was 
not doing a good job, we would -- we would stop that relationship and take 
that territory ourself. 
 

Modena, David, (Pages 100:10 to 103:6) 

 Mr. Modena went on to name numerous other dealers that were in firstSTREET’s network 

at the time Sherry purchased her Tub: 

Q    As you sit here today, are there any others that you can recall? 
A    Absolutely.  The two that I told you I recalled was those that were already 
doing business with Jacuzzi prior to our relationship. 
Q    Okay. 
A    That's the two that were mentioned to you.  They -- they were already 
doing business with them, so that's how we got access to them, their 
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information, their knowledge of them being pretty good partners, competent 
enough to be a part of our dealer network.  But, no, we had -- we had -- I can 
name a bunch of them for you, if you'd like.  There's -- I mean, do you want 
me to name --  
Q    Hold on a second.  Yeah, I do.  Just one moment. Thank you very much. 
A    This may not be a hundred percent complete, but I can give you most of 
them, many of them.  I'm getting older. 
Q    Okay.  Yeah, if you have those names, that would be great. 
A    Fairbanks.  Fairbanks Construction. 
Q    Okay. 
A    Beldon, B-e-l-d-o-n. Hausner, H-a-u-s-n-e-r.  OBR. 
Q    OD? 
A    O-B, as in boy. 
Q    Okay. 
A    OBR. 
Q    And are these construction companies? 
A    These are home improvement companies.  These are companies that know 
how to sell and install home improvement.  They do siding, windows, 
typically the type of dealers we dealt with go into homes and sell and close 
and  install. 
Q    Gotcha.  Okay. 
A    Airtite, one word, A-i-r-t-i-t-e.  OBR.  Fairbanks.  Home Safety.  
American Home Design.  Beldon.  I'm trying to think of the one up in New 
York that we just -- didn't last very long.  I'm forgetting.  Did I say Atlas?  Did 
I say Atlas? 
Q    Huh-uh. 
A    Atlas.  I'm trying to think of the one in New York.  Can't think of their 
name.  They didn't last long.  Shoot. 

Beldon was one of our largest ones.  They had, like, 27 percent of the 
country.  They were their first dealer.  Hausner.  American Home Design.  
Atlas.  OBR.  Airtite.  Fairbanks.  There was a guy in Georgia.  He may have 
been gone by then.  Tub Doctor, Tub Doctor was one.  They were in Georgia.  
They didn't last long.  He may not have been around at this point in time.  
There's one up in New York.  I just can't think of their name. 

 
Modena, David, (Pages 104:1 to 105:25) 
 
 firstSTREET never disclosed any of these dealers until Mr. Modena was deposed and 

required to answer questions without the assistance of counsel.  firstSTREET should have 

disclosed this information years ago.  This caused irreparable prejudice to Plaintiffs, as will be 

discussed fully below. 
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B. FIRSTSTREET’S EVASIVE DEPOSITION TESTIMONY  
 
 While Mr. Modena offered information on the other dealers, he avoided providing 

complete and truthful answers when asked about similar incidents.  Mr. Modena evasively testified 

that he was only aware of one significant incident involving a safety aspect of the Tub: the instant 

case.  Mr. Modena’s testimony was evasive and incomplete.  He testified that he “must have been 

a couple” incidents, but he stated that “I just don’t recall incidents like this.”  A review of Mr. 

Modena’s testimony reveals that he was attempting to dodge the questions: 

 
Q    How about we focus now on kind of the safety aspect of the tub.  How 
often and what types of claims are called in on that? 
A    Very, very few that I can -- I just don't remember many at all, honestly.  
I don't -- I just -- the issues were normally the warranty or the installation.  I 
just didn't hear about those.  There may -- there may have been a couple of -- 
I mean, there's just -- that wasn't an occurrence that happened very often at 
all. 
Q    So if it -- I mean, if it didn't happen often at all, you would probably 
remember the ones that did happen, right?  They would kind of -- 
A    You would think so. 
Q    So they didn't stand out when you -- 
A    Well, I just -- I honestly just can't think of particular ones in general 
because it just did not happen that -- I mean, you would have people raising 
concerns about certain things, but an actual injury?  I just don't -- I'm just not 
-- I can't recall.  I don't remember incidents, anything like this that come up 
to that point. 
Q    So is it fair to say that -- that the Cunnison case is the only incident you 
recall? 
A    To this level, for sure.  But I -- I feel like there must have been a couple, 
but, as honest I can be, I just don't recall incidents like this.  I -- concerns – 
you know, people addressing maybe other concerns about their tub or 
something like that, you'd get into those, but an actual injury?  I don't -- I -- I 
feel like there must have been one or two.  I just -- I couldn't tell you who they 
were and when they were, if it was before that point in time. 
 

Modena, David, (Pages 26:4 to 27:8) 
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 Mr. Modena testified that significant incidents did not occur often, yet at the same time, 

testified that he could not recall the rare times that they did occur.  Mr. Modena went on to testify 

that he did not have information regarding any other lawsuits involving firstSTREET: 

Q    Were you informed of, say, for instance, when a lawsuit is filed? 
A    Normally.  Normally, I would have -- I would have known.  I would -- 
normally it would have come in.  It would always go into our in-house legal 
counsel.  That's where it went first.  And then typically our in-house counsel 
would approach me with making sure we had all the information in our files 
and turned over to the right people, so, normally, yes. 
Q    Okay.  And is this the only -- the only case that First Street is aware 
of? 
A    I can't answer that, because, again, legal – our in-house counsel would 
probably be -- probably could answer that better than myself.  I'm just 
not able to tell you that there were two or three more that I can think of 
like this. 
 

Modena, David, (Page 27:9 to 27:23) 

 Mr. Modena testified that he could not answer the simple question of whether firstSTREET 

is aware of any other lawsuits.  Mr. Modena testified that firstSTREET’s General Counsel, Stacey 

Hackney would have more knowledge than he had.  Thus, the undersigned requested to depose 

Ms. Hackney on this topic.  Instead, a recess was taken so that Counsel for firstSTREET’s and Ms. 

Hackney could re-educate Mr. Modena on the topic of similar incidents: 

Q    Okay.  Well, I'm entitled to have the most – I guess, the information. 
A    Sure. 
MR. CLOWARD:  If you're relying on your memory, maybe what we could 
do is take a break and have Ms. Hackney testify.  Is that -- is that okay? 
MR. GOODHART:  Or I can -- we can take a break and I can re-educate my 
witness on certain things. 
MR. CLOWARD:  I mean, that's -- if that's what's -- what's necessary. 
MR. GOODHART:  Yeah.  That's fine with me. 
MR. CLOWARD:  It's a topic in the -- 
MR. GOODHART:  I understand.  I just have not been objecting and have 
not been trying to coach the witness in any way, shape, or form.  But you 
know as well as I do, you know, sometimes memories fade and things like 
that, but I can certainly have a discussion with Mr. Modena and  
Ms. Hackney, and we can clear this up for you.  
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MR. CLOWARD:  Yeah. 
MR. GOODHART:  And just so I'm clear on your question, you're asking him 
even up through to today -- 
MR. CLOWARD:  Yeah. 
MR. GOODHART:  -- about any type of claims of any injuries that have taken 
place -- 
MR. CLOWARD:  Yeah. 
MR. GOODHART:  -- in a Jacuzzi product? 
MR. CLOWARD:  Correct. 
MR. GOODHART:  Okay.  All right.  Why don't we take two minutes and 
we'll clear it up for you. 
MR. CLOWARD:  Okay.  Do you want me to leave or -- 
MR. GOODHART:  No.  We can just go out there. 
MR. CLOWARD:  Okay. 
MR. GOODHART:  That's fine.  Thank you. 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER:  We are going off the record at 11:01 a.m. 
(Recess from 11:01 a.m. to 11:07 a.m.) 
 

Modena, David, (Pages 27:24 to 29:10) 

 After the recess, Mr. Modena testified that firstSTREET was aware of two other incidents: 

conveniently, the Smith case and the Baize case (which Plaintiffs disclosed months prior).  

However, in discussing firstSTREET’s knowledge of the Smith and Baize case, Mr. Modena 

revealed that he had reviewed notes regarding both the Smith and Baize case recently while 

preparing for his deposition: 

Q    So what other reasonably significant events are -- is First Street aware of? 
A    After the Cunnison is -- because I think I was working a little bit prior -- 
prior to the Cunnison -- up to that point, I think I was more concerned about 
that, but -- in answering that, but there -- there had been two, one in Texas, 
Baez or something, and I was -- I wasn't directly notified on that one, but 
eventually so -- and that went to legal counsel, and -- not even sure that was 
an injury -- we're not sure that's even an injury case. 
  The -- probably the more significant one is Max Smith, I believe, 
which is in Georgia, and that was well after the fact, as well, so that was 
something that would have gone to our legal counsel.  First Street was notified 
and then, thus, I would have been notified at that time. 
Q    Okay.  So -- 
A    Those are the two situations, which, one, we're not even sure was an 
injury incident. 
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Q    Okay.  So it's fair to say you now recall, I guess, those -- those incidents.  
You recall being told about those incidents at some point?  
A    Well, the one -- certainly the one in Georgia. That's probably the one that 
would -- the more significant issue that was obviously an injury-related type 
issue.  The one in Texas, we weren't sure about, so to say I absolutely a 
hundred percent remember that one, it sounds familiar.  You know, it -- the -
- I was -- and I've looked at it since then, too, since -- in prepping for this, 
too, as well, and the notes were even unclear on it, as well, so it was -- it's one 
that I could see if I was notified of – it was relatively unclear what had even 
happened so it --  
 Q    So you reviewed some notes about that prior to the deposition? 
A    We looked at it just recently.  I was -- this was just going through 
probably those two situations and -- and, actually, our notes were relatively -
- they were not that forthcoming on what had actually happened. 
Q    Is there a reason you weren't able to recall reviewing those notes five 
minutes ago? 
A    Well, I thought we were -- actually, I was going to bring that up, because 
that's the Baez thing, the one -- that's -- because that is the one that I remember 
that, because I looked at it recently, but when I looked at the notes, and -- it 
wasn't in our -- in our LP system that I talked about earlier.  There really 
wasn't much in there, so that's why I was having a hard time.  We didn't -- it 
didn't show up as a -- as a – you know, an injury report, so I was like -- I knew 
that that was potentially an issue that we could discuss, but I couldn't find 
anything in the note that even shows it as an injury, so I didn't -- didn't 
designate it as an injury type of an incident -- 
Q    Okay.  And did you -- 
 A    -- in my mind. 
Q    Did you review notes in the system, as well, regarding the Smith case? 
A    Yes.  But there, again, in our system, because most of this, once it gets 
turned over -- once Denver sort of turns it over, there's not much in there, 
as well. 
Q    Okay.  You knew there was a death, though, right? 
A    Yes. 
Q    You were informed -- 
A    Yes. 
Q    -- of that? 
A    Yes.  Yes. 
Q    Is there a reason why you didn't remember that five minutes ago? 
A    Well, again, I was thinking about up to that point.  I thought that's how 
I'd answered it.  I thought we were just trying to -- up to that point, what we 
were aware of. 
Q    Okay.  So why don't you tell me all of the incidents that you're aware of 
at any point, safety incidents. 
A    Those would be it. 
Q    Just those three? 
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A    That I would be aware of. 
 

Modena, David, (Pages 29:24 to 32:25) 

Thus, Mr. Modena reviewed documents about the Smith and Baize case before his 

deposition but testified that he could not recall any other incidents.  Then, only after he spoke to 

defense counsel and General Counsel, he was conveniently only able to recall the two other 

incidents which Plaintiffs have disclosed d testified that firstSTREET is only aware of three 

incidents: this case, the Smith case, and the Baize case.  
C. FIRSTSTREET DID NOT DISCLOSE COMPLAINTS MADE BY CUSTOMER JERRE 

CHOPPER 
Mr. Modena’s testimony is troublesome because Plaintiffs recently learned of another 

claimant named Jerry Chopper.  Plaintiffs learned of Mrs. Chopper in the attachment to a rouge 

e-mail that was likely inadvertently produced by Jacuzzi (as part of a 1,530 page “document 

dump”).   

On December 20, 2018, Plaintiffs took Mrs. Chopper’s deposition and discovered that she 

sent no less than six letters to Jacuzzi back in 2012, which was well-before Mrs. Cunnison’s 

incident.20  Mrs. Chopper also sent a letter directly to Stacey Hackney, firstSTREET’s General 

Counsel.21  Mrs. Chopper, by herself or through her attorney, also sent other letters to 

firstSTREET. 22 

These letters are the “smoking gun” in this case because they: 1) are proof that the Walk-

in Tub was dangerous, but more importantly, 2) that Jacuzzi was well-aware of all of the 

dangerous issues with the Tub.23  In the letters, Mrs. Chopper notified Jacuzzi that the Tub was 

not safe because the “tub is wet, your feet are wet and the threshold is too high and slick.  The 

                                                                 
20  See, Deposition of Jerre Chopper, dated December 20, 2018, attached hereto as Exhibit 17. 
21  Letter from Jerre Chopper to Stacey Hackney at firstSTREET, dated December 4, 2012 (with Royce 
McCarty, Jennifer Lint, and Kurt Bachmeyer copied), Exhibit 18 
 
22  See Multiple letters between Jerre Chopper or her lawyer to Corporate Counsel for firstSTREET and 
AITHR, Stacy Hackney, dated September 28, November 29 and December 4, 2012, attached hereto as Exhibit 19 
23  See, Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, ¶ 75-91, attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 
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only way to make a safe exit is by doing what commercial truck drivers are trained to do when 

exiting the cab of a big rig.  You back out so you can use the grab bar for stability.”24   

Mrs. Chopper also notified Jacuzzi that “[i]f a senior lives alone, it seems to me that it 

could be hours or even days before the victim is discovered.”25  Mrs. Chopper also notified 

Jacuzzi that its product was a “death trap for any senior experiencing a medical emergency 

while bathing [and] should be recalled.”26  Jacuzzi even acknowledged the complaints made by 

Mrs. Chopper and Kurt Bachmeyer promised that he had “confirmed with our President of Jacuzzi 

that they will be responding to [her] concerns and issues outlined in [her] letters . . .”27   

In addition to Jacuzzi, Mrs. Chopper also notified firstSTREET and AITHR of her 

safety concerns with the Walk-in Tub (which is part of the Motion to Strike the Answers of 

Defendants firstSTREET and AITHR).28  In fact, some of the letters to firstSTREET were directly 

addressed to General Counsel, Stacey Hackney, who was present at Mr. Modena’s deposition.  

Additionally, the rogue email thread that Jacuzzi disclosed shows Jacuzzi forwarded Mrs. 

Chopper’s letters to Mr. Modena. 

 
1. FirstSTREET did not Disclose Jerre Chopper Voluntarily or in 

response to written discovery requests  
 
 firstSTREET did not disclose Mrs. Chopper as a witness in any of its NRCP 16.1 

disclosures even though her letters specifically show that Defendants had notice of the exact same 

                                                                 
24  Id.; see also, Letter from Jerre Chopper to Kurt Bachmeyer, Jacuzzi Director of Customer Service, dated 
September 1, 2012, attached hereto as Exhibit 21 (emphasis added). 
25  Id.; see also, Letter from Jerre Chopper to Kurt Bachmeyer, Jacuzzi Director of Customer Service, dated 
September 12, 2012, attached hereto as Exhibit 22 (emphasis added). 
26  Id.; see also, Letter from Jerre Chopper to Kurt Bachmeyer, Jacuzzi Director of Customer Service, dated 
October 15, 2012, attached hereto as Exhibit 23 (emphasis added). 
27  Id.; see also, E-mails between Kurt Bachmeyer and Jerre Chopper, dated November 5-6, 2012, attached 
hereto as Exhibit 36. 
28  Id.; see also, Multiple letters between Jerre Chopper or her lawyer to Corporate Counsel for firstSTREET 
and AITHR, Stacy Hackney, dated September 28, November 29 and December 4, 2012, attached hereto as Exhibit 
19. 
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design defect Plaintiffs are alleging in this case.  Additionally, firstSTREET did not disclose Mrs. 

Chopper in response to written discovery specifically asking whether any customer had ever made 

a complaint about the design of the walk-in tub.  In Plaintiff Robert Ansara’s First Set of 

Interrogatories to firstSTREET, it was asked: 

No. 19: State if any time any employee, agent, customer or end user 
complained of or objected to the design of the subject Jacuzzi walk in tub or 
similar model with respect to the means used to provide safety.  If so, 
provide copies of all relevant documents in your possession. 
ANSWER: Objection.  This interrogatory is vague, ambiguous and 
unintelligible.29 

 
 Notably, firstSTREET’s responses were verified by firstSTREET’s General Counsel, 

Stacey Hackney.  Even though Mrs. Chopper specifically addressed some of her letters to Ms. 

Hackney, firstSTREET did not disclose Mrs. Chopper, or her numerous letters, in any of its 

productions, responses to written discovery, or in deposition testimony. 

D. FIRSTSTREET DID NOT DISCLOSE WITNESSES WHO MADE COMPLAINTS 
REGARDING THE SLIPPERINESS OF THE TUB 

firstSTREET has also prevented Plaintiffs from proving other aspects of their case by 

acting in bad faith in other areas of discovery.  Specifically, Plaintiffs have asserted from the time 

that the Fourth Amended Complaint was filed back in 2017 that Jacuzzi made improper claims 

with respect to the Walk-in Tub’s actual safety benefits.30  A critical part of Plaintiffs’ allegations 

dealt with the slipperiness of the Tub as compared to the slipperiness of a bathroom in general.31  

Therefore, the slipperiness of the Tub is at issue in this case. 

Plaintiffs written discovery was aimed at discovering any complaints of safety which 

would have included complaints that the Tub was too slippery.  However, in recent depositions, 

                                                                 
29  firstSTREET’s Responses to Plaintiff Ansara’s First Set of Interrogatories, Exhibit 9 
 
30  See, Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, ¶’s 75-91, attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 
31  See, Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, ¶’s 75-91, attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 
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Plaintiffs have learned that firstSTREET has, in bad faith, clearly been withholding evidence on 

this important issue in an apparent attempt to prevent Plaintiffs from proving their case.  

Specifically, on December 11, 2018 at Dave Modena’s deposition, Plaintiffs learned for the first 

time that the slipperiness of the Tub has been a significant, ongoing issue since 2012 (prior to 

Sherry’s death).   

Particularly, Mr. Modena testified that not long after the Defendants entered into the 

Manufacturing Agreement, firstSTREET and AITHR began receiving feedback from customers 

regarding the slipperiness of the tub.32  Because of these customer complaints, Mr. Modena 

testified that firstSTREET contacted Jacuzzi via e-mail33 to inquire about this issue.34  Mr. 

Modena testified that in response to firstSTREET’s inquiries and concerns about the slipperiness 

of the walk-in bathtubs, Jacuzzi, through Ray Torres, the VP of Engineering at Jacuzzi, provided 

documentation purporting to show that the tub surfaces met the standards with regard to what Mr. 

Modena called “the coefficient.”35   

Mr. Modena testified that AITHR/firstSTREET continued having customer complaints 

and/or concerns regarding the slipperiness of the tub and that the Defendants actually found a 

product called “Kahuna Grip” which was a grip used on surfboards and similar surfaces that could 

be installed into the Jacuzzi walk-in tub to provide additional grip.36  Mr. Modena testified that 

there were many e-mails exchanged between Jacuzzi and AITHR/firstSTREET regarding the 

slipperiness of the tub based on the ongoing complaints of customers as the tubs were installed.37  

Jacuzzi has failed entirely to produce any information about the slipperiness of the tub despite 

valid discovery requests from Plaintiffs seeking this information.   
                                                                 
32  See, Deposition of Dave Modena - Vol. I, 39:5—40:25; 59:2-25, December 11, 2018, attached hereto as 
Exhibit 6;  
33  The disclosure and production of the e-mails by Defendants was coordinated and calculated and not in good 
faith – which will be addressed herein. 
34  See, Deposition of Dave Modena - Vol. I, 41:3-25, December 11, 2018, attached hereto as Exhibit 6. 
35  See, Deposition of Dave Modena - Vol. I, 41:3–42:14, December 11, 2018, attached hereto as Exhibit 6. 
36  See, Deposition of Dave Modena - Vol. I, 42:23—44:11, December 11, 2018, attached hereto as Exhibit 6. 
37  See, Deposition of Dave Modena - Vol. I, 47:1-51:1, December 11, 2018, attached hereto as Exhibit 6. 
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firstSTREET has failed to produce any evidence regarding these complaints. For example, 

firstSTREET has not produced: 

 Any internal e-mails regarding the slipperiness issues  

 Any e-mails among Defendants regarding the slipperiness issues 

 Any e-mails regarding the Kahuna Grip product 

 Any internal e-mails about customer complaints about the slipperiness of the Tub 

 Any e-mails among Defendants regarding customer complaints about the 

slipperiness of the Tub 

 Any customer complaints on this issue 
E. FIRSTSTREET DID NOT DISCLOSE EMAIL COMMUNICATIONS WITH JACUZZI 
In addition to slipperiness issues, firstSTREET is also acting in bad faith with regard to 

the advertising of the tub.  Jacuzzi has denied involvement in the marketing of the Tub.  When 

Plaintiffs were requested to supplement their Complaint, they looked no further than the 

marketing literature that was provided to Sherry Cunnison.  The marketing literature gives 

statistics regarding falls in the home and the safety of the elderly in the bathroom.38  Plaintiffs 

believed early-on that the marketing claims being made were unsubstantiated, unsupported and 

false.  Based on that belief, Plaintiffs sought to investigate the claims made with respect to the 

Jacuzzi Walk-in Tubs.  firstSTREET is the “exclusive marketing” partner for Jacuzzi’s Walk-in 

Tubs.39  In the Manufacturing Agreement, Jacuzzi promised to provide firstSTREET with the 

“existing approved advertising claims and claims support documentation . . . for use in 

firstSTREET’s advertisements and marketing materials.”40  Jacuzzi promised that the information 

provided to firstSTREET supporting Jacuzzi’s advertising claims would be “truthful, accurate, 

non-misleading, and adequately substantiated (meaning claims based on tests, analyses, research, 

studies, or other evidence based on the expertise of professionals in the relevant area . . .”41   
                                                                 
38  See, Jacuzzi Brochure, attached hereto as Exhibit 13 
39  See generally, Manufacturing Agreement, at pg. 5, attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 
40  See, Manufacturing Agreement, at pg. 2, attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 
41  See, Manufacturing Agreement, at pg. 2, attached hereto as Exhibit 2.  
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The Manufacturing Agreement between Jacuzzi and firstSTREET/AITHR required 

firstSTREET to submit all national marketing to Jacuzzi for approval to ensure it complied with 

brand guidelines and to ensure that any claims were accurate and truthful.42  Based in part on the 

plain language of the Manufacturing Agreement, Plaintiffs sought more information about the 

advertising claims that were used to induce Sherry and other Americans into purchasing a walk-

in tub.  In written discovery and deposition testimony Jacuzzi categorically denied having any 

involvement whatsoever in the marketing of the tub.  All of Jacuzzi’s denials are untrue as will 

be shown below. 

After a hearing, the Discovery Commissioner ordered that a second deposition of 

Jacuzzi’s corporate representative take place. 43  At some point after the hearing and just days 

before the continued Second deposition, Counsel for firstSTREET/AITHR called Counsel for 

Plaintiffs and revealed that Jacuzzi’s testimony regarding its level of involvement in the 

marketing was not accurate and that firstSTREET/AITHR had thousands of emails that would be 

produced which directly contradicted the sworn testimony of Jacuzzi.44   

Counsel for firstSTREET/AITHR indicated that due to the volume of emails at issue, they 

may not be produced prior to the continued Second Jacuzzi deposition but that they certainly 

would be produced the week following the deposition.  Counsel for firstSTREET/AITHR did not 

produce the emails prior to the continued Second deposition and only after repeated requests and 

preparation of a Motion to Compel the Documents, were the emails finally turned over nearly two 

months after the First deposition.45   These emails should have been disclosed voluntarily, without 

request.   
                                                                 
42  See, Manufacturing Agreement, at pg. 4, attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 
43  See, Discovery Commissioner’s Report and Recommendation, served August 23, 2018, attached hereto as 
Exhibit 14. 
44  See, Affidavit of Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq., attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 
45  See, Plaintiffs’ Motion to Compel Defendant firstSTREET to Produce Documents on Order Shortening 
Time, attached hereto as Exhibit 15.  This motion was returned by the Discovery Commissioner, who sought 
clarification as to when Plaintiffs needed it to be heard.  It became moot because Defendant firstSTREET in a 
coordinated effort with Jacuzzi dumped on Plaintiffs nearly 3,000 emails well after the Second Jacuzzi deposition 
and just a couple weeks before the depositions of firstSTREET and AITHR. 
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Overall, Plaintiffs have been significantly prejudiced in their ability to prosecute their 

claims against Jacuzzi, firstSTREET and AITHR.  Plaintiffs are not ready for the upcoming April 

trial without significant additional discovery.  Plaintiffs have been unfairly prejudiced by having 

their experts be forced to give incomplete and partial opinions because of firstSTREET’s 

calculated and coordinated efforts to prevent the full and fair disclosure of evidence in this matter. 

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

 The Court should strike firstSTREET and AITHR’s Answers because their actions are in 

complete contravention of the rules of discovery.  The purpose of discovery is to remove surprise 

from trial preparation and enable the parties to obtain evidence necessary to evaluate and resolve 

their dispute. The discovery rules accomplish this objective by advancing the time at which 

disclosure can be compelled from the trial to the period preceding it, thereby reducing the 

possibility of surprise and obviating the need to conduct a trial in the dark or blindly.  23 Am. Jur. 

2d, Depositions and Discovery § 1.  Discovery also is designed to aid a party in preparing and 

presenting his or her case or defense, and to enable the parties to narrow and clarify the basic issues 

between them. Discovery should expedite the disposition of the litigation, by educating the parties 

in advance of trial of the real value of their claims and defenses, which may encourage settlements.  

Id.  Here, Plaintiffs are being forced to prepare for trial in the dark because Jacuzzi has withheld 

relevant evidence. 

 NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 26 are intended to accomplish the full-disclosure purpose of the 

discovery rules.  They do so by requiring parties to make initial disclosures voluntarily without 

awaiting request. Thus, NRCP 16.1 creates an obligation on parties to fully disclose discoverable 

evidence at the outset of litigation:   
 
NRCP 16.1 is intended to promote and facilitate prompt investigation, 
preparation, prosecution, and full disclosure, so that cases can be resolved 
quickly – by settlement or otherwise – thereby minimizing litigation delay 
and needless expenses to all parties and the judicial system as a whole. 
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Craig R. Delk, Nevada Civil Practice Manual, §16.02[1] (Jeffrey W. Stempel et al. eds., 5th ed. 

2012). 

Additionally, not only must the parties make initial disclosures under NRCP 16.1, they 

must also supplement their disclosures under NRCP 26(e).   

The purpose of voluntary disclosure and supplementation rules is to promote the timely 

prosecution of litigation.  Arnold v. Kip, 123 Nev. 410, 418, 168 P.3d 1050, 1055 (2007).  Further, 

the rules are intended to provide the parties an informed basis upon which to meaningfully 

approach the litigation rather than only providing such a basis after a substantial expenditure of 

time and resources in discovery and pretrial preparation.  Craig R. Delk, Nevada Civil Practice 

Manual, §16.02[1] (Jeffrey W. Stempel et al. eds., 5th ed. 2012).  They are also intended to compel 

cooperation among the parties to accomplish the full disclosure objectives of the discovery rules 

with a minimum of time and expense consumed in procedural requirements, thereby resulting in 

the most efficient use of professional and judicial time.  Id.  Accomplishing these goals requires 

the cooperation of the parties along with firm and consistent judicial action to encourage those 

refusing to cooperate or honor their NRCP 16.1 obligations to do so by the imposition of 

meaningful sanctions.  Id.   

Here, firstSTREET has failed to promote the timely prosecution of this litigation by 

knowingly failing to provide Plaintiffs with an informed basis upon which to approach this 

litigation.  Each of Jacuzzi’s NRCP 16.1 disclosures and supplements did not contain any similar 

incidents evidence.  Jacuzzi is in violation of NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 26 because it did not produce 

any of the above-mentioned evidence.  Accordingly, sanctions under NRCP 16.1(e)(3) and NRCP 

37 are appropriate. 
A.  NEVADA LAW GRANTS THIS COURT BROAD AUTHORITY AND DISCRETION TO 

STRIKE DEFENDANTS' ANSWERS. 
 This Court is invested with authority to issue sanctions for discovery violations.  Nevada 

Power v. Fluor Illinois, 108 Nev. 638, 644, 837 P.2d 1354, 1358-59 (1992); Young v. Johnny 

Ribiero Building, 106 Nev. 88, 92, 787 P.2d 777, 779 (1990).  Under 16.1(e)(3), sanctions can be 
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imposed upon motion or the court’s own initiative for failure to reasonably comply with any 

provision of NRCP 16.1 without prior entry of a court order compelling the discovery in question.  

NRCP 16.1(e)(3) provides: 
 (e) Failure or Refusal to Participate in Pretrial Discovery; Sanctions. 
 

(3) If an attorney fails to reasonably comply with any provision of 
this rule, or if an attorney or a party fails to comply with an order 
entered pursuant to subsection (d) of this rule, the court, upon 
motion or upon its own initiative, shall impose upon a party or a 
party's attorney, or both, appropriate sanctions in regard to the 
failure(s) as are just, including the following: 
 

(A) Any of the sanctions available pursuant to Rule 37(b)(2) 
and Rule 37(f); 
 
(B) An order prohibiting the use of any witness, document 
or tangible thing which should have been disclosed, 
produced, exhibited, or exchanged pursuant to Rule 16.1(a). 

NRCP 16.1(e)(3). 

As a result, under NRCP 16.1(e)(3), any sanctions available under NRCP 37 are 

immediately available.  A noncompliant attorney or party is not afforded an opportunity to cure a 

violation of the discovery disclosure rules because NRCP 16.1(e)(3) does not require the entry and 

violation of a court order before sanctions can be imposed.  Craig R. Delk, Nevada Civil Practice 

Manual, §16.02[3] (Jeffrey W. Stempel et al. eds., 5th ed. 2012). 

 Sanctions under NRCP 37(b)(2) are as follows: 
 
(A) An order that the matters regarding which the order was 
made or any other designated facts shall be taken to be 
established for the purposes of the action in accordance with 
the claim of the party obtaining the order; 
 
(B) An order refusing to allow the disobedient party to 
support or oppose designated claims or defenses, or 
prohibiting that party from introducing designated matters in 
evidence; 
 
(C) An order striking out pleadings or parts thereof, or 
staying further proceedings until the order is obeyed, or 
dismissing the action or proceeding or any part thereof, 
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or rendering a judgment by default against the 
disobedient party; 
 
(D) In lieu of any of the foregoing orders or in addition 
thereto, an order treating as a contempt of court the failure 
to obey any orders except an order to submit to a physical or 
mental examination; 
 

In lieu of any of the foregoing orders or in addition thereto, the court 
shall require the party failing to obey the order or the attorney 
advising that party or both to pay the reasonable expenses, including 
attorney's fees, caused by the failure, unless the court finds that the 
failure was substantially justified or that other circumstances make 
an award of expenses unjust. 

NRCP 37(b)(2). 

This Court is also granted authority under Nevada statutes to ensure compliance with its 

orders and to impose sanctions upon those who fail to do so. NRS 22.010 states: 
 
NRS 22.010 Acts or omissions constituting contempts. 
The following acts or omissions shall be deemed contempts: 
.... 
3.  Disobedience or resistance to any lawful writ, order, rule or process 

issued by the court or judge at chambers. 
 

Finally, EDCR 7.60 likewise grants this Court wide authority to issue the sanctions 

requested here. It states in relevant part as follows: 
 
Rule 7.60. Sanctions. 
(a) If without just excuse or because of failure to give reasonable attention to 
the matter, no appearance is made on behalf of a party on the call of a 
calendar, at the time set for the hearing of any matter, at a pre-trial 
conference, or on the date of trial, the court may order any one or more of 
the following: 
.... 
 
(3) Dismissal of the complaint, cross-claim, counter-claim or motion or the 
striking of the answers and entry of judgment by default, or the granting of 
the motion. 
 
(4) Any other action it deems appropriate, including, without limitation, 
imposition of fines. 
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The Nevada Supreme Court has stated that EDCR 7.60 permits a court to impose all of the 

sanctions provided under NRCP 37(b). See Nevada Power Co. v. Fluor Illinois, 108 Nev. 638, 837 

P.2d 1354 (1992); see also Temora Trading Co. Ltd v. Perry, 98 Nev. 229, 645 P.2d 436 

(1982) (affirming the district court's order striking the defendant's answer and entering judgment 

in favor of the plaintiff for violating court orders); Skeen v. Valley Bank of Nevada, 89 Nev. 301, 

511 P.2d 1053 (1973) (striking the defendant's answer and awarding attorney's fees pursuant 

to NRCP 37). 

 Thus, a district court may impose sanctions, including striking pleadings, when there has 

been willful noncompliance with a discovery order or willful failure to produce documents as 

required under NRCP 16.1.  In this case, firstSTREET has willfully withheld crucial, discoverable 

evidence in noncompliance with NRCP 16.1 and NRCP 26.   
B. FIRSTSTREET’S ANSWER SHOULD BE STRICKEN AS TO LIABILITY DUE TO ITS 

ABUSIVE DISCOVERY TACTICS 
 In Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 (1990), the Supreme 

Court of Nevada held that courts have “inherent equitable powers to dismiss actions or enter 

default judgments for ... abusive litigation practices. Litigants and attorneys alike should be aware 

that these powers may permit sanctions for discovery and other litigation abuses not specifically 

proscribed by statute.” Id., 106 Nev. at 92, 787 P.2d at 779.  (Internal quotation and citation 

omitted). The Supreme Court further stated that “while dismissal need not be preceded by other 

less severe sanctions, it should be imposed only after thoughtful consideration of all the factors 

involved in a particular case.” Id. at 92, 787 P.2d at 780.  In discussing the legal basis for dismissal, 

the Supreme Court held: 
that every order of dismissal with prejudice as a discovery sanction be 
supported by an express, careful and preferably written explanation of the 
court's analysis of the pertinent factors. The factors a court may properly 
consider include, but are not limited to, the degree of willfulness of the 
offending party, the extent to which the non-offending party would be 
prejudiced by a lesser sanction, the severity of the sanction of dismissal 
relative to the severity of the discovery abuse, whether any evidence has 
been irreparably lost, the feasibility and fairness of alternative, less severe 
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sanctions, such as an order deeming facts relating to improperly withheld 
or destroyed evidence to be admitted by the offending party, the policy 
favoring the adjudication on the merits, whether sanctions unfairly operate 
to penalize a party for the misconduct of his or her attorney, and the need to 
deter both the parties and future litigants from similar abuses. 
 

Id. at 93, 787 P.2d at 780. 

 An analysis of the aforementioned Young factors reveals that striking Jacuzzi’s Answer is 

appropriate in this case. 
1. Degree of Willfulness of the Offending Party 

firstSTREET’s violations have been willful.  firstSTREET sat silent while Jacuzzi denied 

involvement in the marketing and advertising of the Tubs.  It was not until after the Second Jacuzzi 

30(b)(6) deposition that firstSTREET finally disclosed communications with Jacuzzi regarding 

marketing (after threat of a motion to compel).  firstSTREET knew that there were approximately 

fourteen other dealers who are the best source of information regarding similar incidents and 

customer complaints, yet did not disclose the identities of these dealers. Both Dave Modena and 

Stacey Hackney received Mrs. Chopper’s letters, yet firstSTREET never disclosed Mrs. Chopper.  

Notably, Plaintiffs learned about Mrs. Chopper from Jacuzzi’s document dump; firstSTREET 

disclosed nothing from Mrs. Chopper, despite receiving correspondence directly from her and 

from Jacuzzi regarding the safety concerns associated with the tub. 

And while the recent string of discovery disputes before this Court have been disputes 

between Plaintiffs and Jacuzzi, firstSTREET cannot claim to have clean hands in this matter.  

firstSTREET has been involved in this case from the beginning.  They have attended every hearing 

and every deposition, they have been served with all discovery from all parties, they have seen 

each discovery dispute before this Court.  They are intimately familiar with the fact that Plaintiffs 

have been consistently seeking similar incidents information for years.  They are aware that 

Plaintiffs have been seeking the identities of other dealers, of customers who have lodged 

complaints (about design defects, not just complaints about injuries), and of evidence regarding 

Jacuzzi’s involvement in marketing.  Yet, firstSTREET has sat silent throughout this entire 
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litigation, only providing information when its hand is forced and only producing information that 

Plaintiffs discovered on their own.  Again, firstSTREET did not disclose emails between 

firstSTREET and Jacuzzi until Jacuzzi began taking the position that firstSTREET was solely in 

control of marketing.  Similarly, firstSTREET did not disclose the other dealers until its corporate 

witness was forced to answer questions under oath (as opposed to written discovery requests which 

were prepared by in-house counsel, Stacey Hackney).  Clearly, firstSTREET’s discovery abuses 

have been willful. 
 
2. Extent to which Non-Offending Party Would be Prejudiced by a 

Lesser Sanction 

 Plaintiffs would be severely prejudiced if they are forced to litigate liability at trial or 

continue this “cat and mouse” type of discovery.   
a. Trial is Four Months Away and Plaintiffs Have Only Now 

Learned of the Other Dealers 

 Dealers are a vital source of evidence in this case.  Jacuzzi manufactures the walk-in 

products.  firstSTREET markets the products to potential customers. The dealers, like AITHR, 

(and their production teams) go to the customers homes and sell and install the products.  

Therefore, it is crucial to note that the dealers are the main point of contact with the customers.  

They are the party that has the “face to face” to with the customers. In fact, the evidence in this 

case shows that the sales pitches to customers occur in the customers’ homes and last hours.  The 

salesman utilize tactics which are aimed at engendering trust.  Therefore, it naturally follows that 

the customers’ main point of contact is the dealer.  As firstSTREET’s own corporate witness 

testified when he was specifically asked who a customer would contact first in a situation involving 

a customer complaint: “normally, the first point of contact, and I would say most of the time, it 

would come back to the dealer, because … that's who they dealt with.” Modena, David, (Page 

110:6 to 110:10). 

 As the first point of contact, these dealers are the main source of information regarding 

customer complaints.  That means that the dealers are the best source of evidence on the issues of 
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notice and dangerousness. Plaintiffs should have been given the opportunity to conduct discovery 

on each of the other dealers who sold Jacuzzi products.  

 The prejudice to Plaintiffs cannot be understated, especially given the fact that discovery 

is set to close on January 25, 2019.  Plaintiffs were limited to information from one dealer, AITHR, 

who happens to be the only dealer named as a defendant in this case.  firstSTREET prevented 

Plaintiffs from being able to seek similar incident and customer complaint evidence from 

approximately 13 other non-party dealers.  Plaintiffs were prevented from subpoenaing documents 

and depositions from the other 13 dealers who sold Jacuzzi walk-in products.  To analogize, there 

were thirteen rivers of information in this case (one for each dealer that sold Jacuzzi products) 

which should have emptied into the lake of evidence.  firstSTREET knowingly put a damn on 

twelve of those rivers.  It is too late to open up the damns.  With trial in April, the damage has 

been done.  Plaintiffs are now being forced to go to trial having only conducted discovery on a 

limited portion of the evidence.   
b. Witnesses’ (whose identities are still unknown) Are Being 

Lost and Their Memories Are Fading 

 As Mr. Modena testified, firstSTREET was aware of customer complaints regarding the 

slipperiness of the tubs prior to Sherry’s death.  firstSTREET and Jacuzzi had received so many 

complaints about the tub’s slipperiness that they began offering “Kahuna Tape” to customers. 

Again, firstSTREET and Jacuzzi specifically offered an after market product to customers which 

specifically dealt with one of the alleged design defects in this case.  This entire case started when 

Sherry’s bottom slipped off the Tub seat.  And now, over two years after discovery opened, 

firstSTREET has revealed that the Defendants had received so many customer complaints about 

slipperiness that they were offering a special product specifically designed to address the very 

design defect of the tub that started this entire case. 

 Clearly, there are numerous customers who made complaints about slipperiness. Naturally, 

then, there are numerous customers who have slipped in Jacuzzi walk-in tubs.  firstSTREET knew 

about these customers and knew about a high enough volume of these customers to take the 
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remedial measure of offering Kahuna Tape.  Yet, not one single customer complaint was ever 

disclosed to Plaintiffs via voluntary disclosure or discovery response.  These customers should 

have been disclosed at the outset of discovery, not mentioned in passing during a Rule 30(b)(6) 

deposition. 

 Now, after discovery has already been extended six times and the parties are six months 

away from trial in a court where the trial judge has indicated that he is disinclined to continue trial 

any longer, Plaintiffs find themselves with this crucial information.  Plaintiffs should have been 

able to locate and depose the customers who complained of the slipperiness of the tub.  Plaintiffs 

should have been able to determine the facts pertaining to any customer slips.   

 These customers are vital witnesses in this case. Importantly, though, these customers are 

likely elderly persons.  Therefore, these customers should have been disclosed immediately 

because as Defendants are acutely aware (especially given the fact that their target market is the 

elderly): memories fade.  It is a well-established tenet of fair litigation that witnesses are disclosed 

as early as possible specifically because memories fade.  firstSTREET’s refusal to disclose the 

identities of these witnesses – who are likely elderly – has significantly prejudiced Plaintiffs ability 

to obtain evidence related to these customers. For example, this case also deals with issues of prior 

notice.  Dates are extremely important.  Even if these customers are identified now, their memories 

will likely have faded.  Specific dates of phone calls to notify defendants would likely be forgotten.  

Similarly, the specifics of conversations regarding issues of prior notice will also likely have been 

forgotten.  Even worse, some of these witnesses may have passed during the course of discovery 

in this case and their testimony has been forever lost. 
c. Plaintiffs, and this Court, Can Never Know How Many 

Other Witnesses or Documents Have Been Withheld  

 Discovery on issues pertaining to customer complaints and prior and subsequent similar 

incidents has been dependent on firstSTREET’s good faith.  Plaintiffs do not have the ability to 

search through firstSTREET’s internal systems.  Nor do they have the ability to search through 
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every single court in every single jurisdiction.  Therefore, Plaintiffs have been at the mercy of 

firstSTREET’s willingness to produce documents and witnesses on these issues.   

firstSTREET has demonstrated such an unwillingness to participate in good faith discovery 

that it is impossible to know the true “universe” of relevant evidence. It is unknown how many 

other dealers received letters from customers.  It is unknown how many other incident reports or 

other investigation materials exist and which might be held by any of the other dealers.  It is 

unknown what other Customer Relations Management companies have contracts with the other 

dealers and, therefore, might have evidence of similar incidents.  Simply put, it is a complete 

mystery what other evidence exists. 
d. Plaintiffs right to present their case at trial expeditiously 

has been destroyed 

 Sherry’s family has a fundamental right to a litigate this case in an expeditious manner.  

Plaintiffs have been engaged in a “cat and mouse” game with the Defendants in this case for years.  

Plaintiffs have spent significant amount of time, resources, and money in this case. Extending 

discovery would increase the cost to Plaintiffs exponentially.  Plaintiffs will have to subpoena 

documents thirteen dealers, depose thirteen dealer 30(b)(6) witnesses (who will likely be out of 

state), subpoena documents from the other dealers CRM vendors, depose any other customers who 

have depose customers who have complained; the list goes on and on.  Plaintiffs litigation strategy 

– and budget – has been based on the information provided. Plaintiffs should not be forced to 

expend significantly more money in discovery due to firstSTREET’s failure to provide information 

that should have been produced voluntarily without request. 
e. Plaintiffs Cannot Fairly Present their Case at Trial  

Taken as a whole, Plaintiffs still remain “in the dark” on the crucial issues of notice and 

dangerousness.  Even more worrisome, witnesses (i.e., customers who have complained and 

dealers who those customers would have complained to) have still not been disclosed.  These 

witnesses’ memories continue to fade and this crucial evidence continues to disappear.  Plaintiffs 

continue to expend valuable resources during this never-ending “cat and mouse” game with 

Defendants.  Plaintiffs have a fundamental right to have their case heard expeditiously 
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It would be extremely prejudicial to force Plaintiffs to go to trial without evidence of all 

similar incidents, without deposing the unidentified witnesses in the eleven subsequent incident 

documents, or the 11-13 other dealers because such evidence germane to the issue of whether the 

tub was defective or whether Jacuzzi had notice of such defects.  Additionally, prior similar 

incidents evidence goes directly to the core of Plaintiffs’ claim for punitive damages.  Plaintiffs 

are now unable to go to trial with all relevant evidence and cannot present a complete case to the 

jury – that alone is so prejudicial that striking firstSTREET’s Answer is the only appropriate 

sanction. 
3. Severity of the Sanction Relative to the Severity of the Discovery 

Abuse 

 While striking an answer is a severe sanction, doing so is proper in this case.  firstSTREET 

has withheld the identity of the persons/companies that are most likely to have information 

regarding customer complaints: the approximately 10 to 13 other dealers who sold Jacuzzi 

products.  These dealers have information that goes directly to the issues of prior notice and design 

defect.  firstSTREET has withheld the identities of customers who have complained about the 

slipperiness of Jacuzzi walk-in tubs.  Again, this information goes directly to the issue of prior 

notice and design defect.  firstSTREET also failed to disclose documents, i.e., communications 

from complaining customers, communications with Jacuzzi, and any other documents related to 

customer complaints. Given the allegations in Plaintiffs’ Complaint, firstSTREET knew that this 

evidence is relevant and chose not to disclose it.  As discussed below, FirstSTREET’s the severity 

of firstSTREET’s abuse is compounded by the fact that firstSTREET’s own General Counsel is 

the party representative who signed the verification for both firstSTREET and AITHR’s 

interrogatory responses.  
 

4. Whether any Evidence has Been Irreparably Lost 

 At the time of the writing of this motion, it is unknown whether firstSTREET has destroyed 

similar incidents evidence.  It is unknown whether complaining customers have passed away.  At 
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minimum, as discussed above, discovery has been open of over two years.  These witnesses’ 

memories have faded for that much time and continue to fade.  Any facts forgotten are now lost. 
5. Feasibility and Fairness of Alternative, Less Severe Sanctions 

 Less severe sanctions are not feasible because firstSTREET has already displayed its 

willingness to withhold critical evidence.  An order to compel production is dependent on 

firstSTREET’s willingness to participate in good faith.  firstSTREET has already demonstrated 

that an order compelling the production of documents or witnesses  would be futile.  Therefore, 

the only feasible sanction is striking firstSTREET’s Answer.    
6. Whether Sanctions Unfairly Operate to Penalize a Party for 

Misconduct of His Attorney 

 firstSTREET has an in-house General Counsel, Stacey Hackney, Esq, has been intimately 

involved in this case.  Ms. Hackney was identified as the “person or persons responding to 

[Plaintiffs’] interrogatories” to both firstSTREET and AITHR.  Additionally, Ms. Hackney is the 

corporate representative who signed the verifications for firstSTREET and AITHR’s responses to 

Interrogatories.  Notably, Ms. Hackney was also the recipient of some of the letters from Jerre 

Chopper.  Therefore, she should have made sure that Mrs. Chopper’s letters were disclosed. 

 Additionally, Ms. Hackney was present at Mr. Modena’s deposition and was even part of 

the off-record discussions with Mr. Modena that were supposed to educate Mr. Modena on similar 

incidents evidence.  As a licensed attorney, she had an ethical obligation to step in and correct Mr. 

Modena’s testimony.  Moreover, as an attorney, she was aware of the obligation to educate Mr. 

Modena about all prior complaints about design defects, i.e., the complaints of Jerry Chopper.  

Clearly, firstSTREET’s has been a knowing participant in firstSTREET’s obstructionist 

discovery tactics.  This is not a case where an attorney has undertaken abusive discovery tactics 

on behalf of his client.  This is not a case where the party was unaware of his attorney’s discovery 

abuse.  Rather, this case involves the actual party defendant – through its own General Counsel 

who affirmatively signed interrogatory response verifications – taking part in withholding 

evidence.  Striking firstSTREET’s Answer would not unfairly operate to punish firstSTREET for 

the actions of its defense counsel.   
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7. The Need to Deter Both Parties and Future Litigants from Similar 

Abuses 

 The Supreme Court of Nevada has held that entering default is proper when “litigants are 

unresponsive and engaged in abusive litigation practices that cause interminable delays.” Bahena 

v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 235 P.3d 592, 599 (Nev. 2010).  Further, such sanctions are 

“necessary to demonstrate to future litigants that they are not free to act with wayward disregard 

of a court's orders,” and that the conduct of the appellants evidenced “their willful and recalcitrant 

disregard of the judicial process.” Id. (internal citations omitted).  Here, it is absolutely necessary 

to deter not only firstSTREET but also future litigants from withholding evidence.  Litigants 

cannot be permitted to abuse discovery to the detriment of the opposing party.  The purpose of 

discovery is to enable parties to access all relevant evidence so that they can evaluate and resolve 

their dispute.  Striking firstSTREET’s Answer is necessary to prevent similar misconduct. 

V. CONCLUSION 

 A plaintiff can only have a fair trial if the defendant litigates in good faith.   In a product 

liability case, a plaintiff must be able to fairly discover whether other similar incidents have 

occurred because such incidents go to the heart of the dangerousness issue.  Similar incidents also 

go directly to the issue of notice (if they are prior incidents).  For the same reason, a product 

liability plaintiff must be able to discover both prior and subsequent customer complaints.   

In this case, firstSTREET has sat idly by while Plaintiffs have been trying to discover 

similar incident and customer complaint evidence from only the named Defendants even though 

firstSTREET knew that there were up to thirteen (possibly more) other dealers who sold 

Jacuzzi products.  Based on firstSTREET’s deposition testimony, those dealers are the best 

source of information regarding similar incidents and customer complaints.  With trial four 

months away, Plaintiffs now find themselves in a situation where they have only been able collect 

evidence from one of the fourteen dealers: AITHR (i.e., the only dealer that is a named defendant 

and therefore has an interest in withholding evidence).  Plaintiffs have been denied the opportunity 
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Exhibit 16 only

Attorneys for Defendants/Cross-Defendants firstSTREET 
for Boomers and Beyond, Inc. and AITHR Dealer, Inc. 

Attorneys for Defendant/Cross-
Defendant, Jacuzzi, Inc. dba Jacuzzi 
Luxury Bath
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AFFT 
BENJAMIN P. CLOWARD, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11087 
RICHARD HARRIS LAW FIRM 
801 South Fourth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101  
Phone: (702) 444-4444 
Fax:  (702) 444-4455 
E-Mail: Benjamin@RichardHarrisLaw.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
  

 
ROBERT ANSARA, as Special Administrator 
of the Estate of  SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, 
Deceased;  ROBERT ANSARA, as Special 
Administrator of the Estate of  MICHAEL 
SMITH, Deceased heir to the Estate of SHERRY 
LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased; and DEBORAH 
TAMANTINI individually, and heir to the Estate 
of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, 
INC.; AITHR DEALER, INC.; HALE 
BENTON, Individually, HOMECLICK, LLC; 
JACUZZI INC., doing business as JACUZZI 
LUXURY BATH; BESTWAY BUILDING & 
REMODELING, INC.; WILLIAM BUDD, 
Individually and as BUDDS PLUMBING; 
DOES 1 through 20; ROE CORPORATIONS 1 
through 20; DOE EMPLOYEES 1 through 20; 
DOE MANUFACTURERS l through 20; DOE 
20 INSTALLERS I through 20; DOE 
CONTRACTORS 1 through 20; and DOE 21 
SUBCONTRACTORS 1 through 20, inclusive, 
 
  Defendants. 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
CASE NO.: A-16-731244-C 
DEPT NO.: II 
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AND ALL RELATED MATTERS 
 

  

 
AFFIDAVIT OF BENJAMIN P. CLOWARD, ESQ, IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO 

STRIKE DEFENDANTS FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS AND AITHR DEALERS, 
INC.’S ANSWERS FOR REPEATED, CONTINUOUS AND BLATANT DISCOVERY 

ABUSES 
 

STATE OF NEVADA ) 
 ) ss: 
COUNTY OF CLARK ) 
 

A. General Information 
 
1. I, BENJAMIN P. CLOWARD, ESQ., being first duly sworn, depose and say: 
 
2. I am qualified to testify regarding the following information contained within this affidavit 

in support of Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike the Answer of Defendants firstSTREET for 
Boomers (“firstSTREET”) and AITHR Dealers, Inc. (“AITHR”) for Repeated, 
Continuous and Blatant Discovery Abuses. 

 
3. I am the attorney for the family of Decedent, Sherry Cunnison (“Sherry”), who lived in 

Las Vegas prior to her death. 
 
4. Sherry’s case began on January 27, 2014, when she purchased a Jacuzzi Walk-in Tub 

(hereinafter “Tub”). 
 
5. The Tub was manufactured by Jacuzzi, marketed by firstSTREET and distributed by 

AITHR.1 
 
6. On February 18, 2014, Sherry attempted to use the Tub. 
 
7. This was only her second or third use of the Tub. 
 
8. As she was seated in the Tub, Sherry reached for the Tub controls located at the front of 

the tub and her bottom slipped off the front of the Tub seat and down toward the footwell 
of the Tub.2 
 

9. Sherry became wedged in a squatted position in the footwell, unable to move due to her 

                                                                 
1  Jacuzzi and firstSTREET entered a Manufacturing Agreement (hereinafter “Manufacturing Agreement”) 
on October 1, 2011, attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 
2  The police officers and paramedics who responded when she became trapped testified that she told them 
what happened. 
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limited strength.3 
 
10. Sherry was unable to open the Tub door because it only opened inwardly. 
 
11. Tragically, Sherry remained in this position for three days; Sherry’s family requested a 

wellness-check because no one had heard from her. 
 
12. Even when four trained paramedics arrived, they could not lift her out of the Tub due to 

the inward opening door and the Tub’s high, slick walls. 
 
13. The paramedics snapped Sherry’s arm trying to lift her out of the Tub. 

  
14. After trying to remove Sherry in vain, the paramedics resorted to cutting the door 

completely off the Tub to remove her. 
 
15. Sherry was rushed to the hospital, but ultimately died about a week later from 

complications related to being trapped for three days in the Tub. 
 
16. Sherry’s family filed a wrongful death product liability and negligence lawsuit Clark 

County, Nevada which is the basis of this case, case number A-16-731244-C (hereinafter 
“Cunnison case”). 

 
B. The Smith Case 

 
17. Also relevant to the issues presented in this Motion to Strike firstSTREET and AITHR’s 

Answer is a brief background of another case that I am involved with that also deals with 
the death of a plaintiff’s family member which arose out of the use of a Jacuzzi Walk-in 
Tub. 

 
18. After filing suit in Sherry’s case, I was contacted by the family of Mack Smith, who lived 

in Georgia.   
 

19. Mack drowned while using his Jacuzzi Walk-in Tub (hereinafter “Smith case”). 
 
20. Mack was relaxing in his Tub, sitting on the seat, in a reclined position with his feet against 

the wall, when his bottom slipped off the seat, similar to Sherry, and he struggled to get 
his bottom back up on the seat.   

 
21. Mack’s wife Barbara rushed into the bathroom to help him, but due to the inward opening 

doors, she was unable to open the door, hold his head above water, and call for help all at 
the same time. 

                                                                 
3  To envision how Sherry became trapped, imagine firmly bolting a chair about two feet away from a wall, 
facing the wall. Next imagine the person seated in the chair scooting his/her bottom toward the wall, until his/her 
bottom slipped off of the front of the chair.  Because of the immobile nature of the chair in this example, the person 
would be wedged in the narrow area.  This is similar to the Tub at issue – it has a very limited space should one fall 
or slip into the footwell area.  See, Photograph of Jacuzzi Walk-in Tub, attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 

0170



 

4 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
22. After she had summoned help, while she was waiting for help to arrive, her husband Mack, 

drowned in the Tub. 
 
C. The Allegations in Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint  
 
23. After the Cunnison family filed suit against Jacuzzi, AITHR and firstSTREET in Las 

Vegas, some of the Defendants filed motions to strike the punitive damages claims.   
 

24. The Cunnison family was ordered by the Court to revise their Complaint to include more 
specific allegations to support the punitive damage claims asserted against Defendants.4 

 
25. In Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, filed June 21, 2017, Plaintiffs set forth 

numerous allegations regarding the suspicious sales practices, advertising and marketing 
methods used by Jacuzzi, firstSTREET and AITHR in the sales and marketing of the walk-
in tub at issue.5  Further, Plaintiffs set forth design flaws with the tub and the danger it 
posed to elderly and infirm folks.6 

 
26. Specifically, ¶s 75-91 of the Fourth Amended Complaint contained allegations asserting 

that: 
 

a. ¶ 77. “Defendants market the walk-in tub to elderly individuals like SHERRY 
who are weak, feeble and at a significant risk for falling down.” 
 

b. ¶ 78. “Defendants advertise that millions of Americans with mobility concerns 
know that simply taking a bath can be a hazardous experience.” 

 
c. ¶ 79. “Defendants advertise that the solution to having a hazardous experience 

while taking a bath is the Jacuzzi Walk-in Tub.” 
 

d. ¶ 80. “Defendants advertise that those who purchase a walk-in tub can feel safe 
and feel better with every bath.” 

 
e. . . .  

 
f. ¶ 84. “Defendants advertise that getting out of the tub is easy like getting out of 

a chair and that it is nothing like climbing up from the bottom of the user’s old 
tub.” 

 
g. ¶ 85. “Despite knowing that the users of the Jacuzzi walk-in bathtub are weak, 

feeble and at a significant risk for falling down, Defendants did nothing to plan for 
the foreseeable event of having a user like SHERRY fall down inside the walk-in 

                                                                 
4  See, Order, filed 9/9/16, attached hereto as Exhibit 4. 
5  See, Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, filed June 21, 2017, attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 
6  Id. 
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bathtub. 
 

h. . . .  
 

i. ¶ 91. “Because of Defendants conscious choices to put profits before safety, 
the Jacuzzi walk-in bathtub is a deathtrap for nearly any elderly person who 
happens to fall down inside the bathtub because there are no grab bars 
positioned in a way that someone can get back up if they fall down and because 
the door opens inward and traps the elderly person inside the bathtub.”7 

 
27. The additional details provided in the Fourth Amended Complaint were based in part on 

advertising materials the parties had identified. 
 

28. In order to prove the allegations in their Fourth Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs began 
trying to find other similar incidents to prove: 1) that the product at issue was in fact 
dangerous and 2) that Defendants knew it was in fact dangerous (notice). 

 
D. Discovery Attempts to Attain Information Related to Other Dealers or Distributors 
 
29. On December 12, 2018, the deposition of the Rule 30(b)(6) designee for AITHR and 

firstSTREET was conducted in Richmond, Virginia. 
 
30. Present at the deposition was outside counsel, Phil Goodhart and firstSTREET’s General 

Counsel, Stacy Hackney.8 
 
31. The designee, Mr. David Modena, testified that in September of 2011, Jacuzzi and 

firstSTREET (collectively “Defendants”) entered into an agreement (hereinafter 
“Manufacturing Agreement”) for Jacuzzi to manufacture and sell Jacuzzi-brand walk-
in tubs. 

 
32. Mr. Modena testified that Jacuzzi manufactured the tubs that firstSTREET marketed. 
 
33. Mr. Modena testified that the dealers would then use the leads to go and make house calls 

to sell and install the tubs to the elderly. 
 

34. Importantly, Mr. Modena testified that if a customer had any issue, whether a problem 
with a drain or a safety issue, or even an injury, the customer would normally call the 
dealer first.9   
 

35. Mr. Modena testified that customer complaints normally go to the dealer first because 

                                                                 
7  See, Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint ¶’s 77-91 (emphasis added), Exhibit 5. 

8  See, Deposition of Rule 30(b)(6) designee David Modena, taken on December 11, 2018.  The relevancy of 
Stacy Hackney’s involvement will be addressed throughout the motion. 
9  Deposition of Modena, David, (Pages 109:6 to 110:10), attached hereto as Exhibit 6. 
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“that’s who [customers] dealt with” and “that’s who they know.”10 
 

36. Therefore, dealers are clearly a vital source of evidence in this case for the issues of notice 
and dangerousness. 

 
E. firstSTREET did not disclose any other dealers in any NRCP 16.1 Disclosure or in 
response to Plaintiffs’ written discovery requests 
 
37. firstSTREET did not disclose the identities of any dealers other than AITHR in any of its 

voluntary disclosures.11 
 
38. Plaintiffs sought the identity of other dealers and distributors in firstSTREET’s network 

of dealers so that Plaintiffs can seek discovery from those other dealers/distributors 
regarding similar incidents or prior knowledge of the dangerousness of the Tub in written 
discovery. 

 
39. Plaintiff Deborah Tamantini’s very first Interrogatory to firstSTREET sought the identity 

of all dealers and distributors in firstSTREET’s network. 
 

40. Plaintiff Deborah Tamantini’s very first Interrogatory and firstSTREET’s response was 
as follows:  

 
INTERROGATORY NO. 1.: 
In the Manufacturing Agreement between FirstStreet and Jacuzzi, Bates 
stamped as Jacuzzi001588 thru Jacuzzi001606, the document indicates that 
FirstStreet desired Jacuzzi to manufacture walk-in tubs and other bath 
products for FirstStreet and its network of dealers and distributors - please 
list all dealers and distributors within the network of FirstStreet. 
 
ANSWER: Objection. This Interrogatory is overbroad with respect to 
timeframe. Without waiving said objections, the only dealer or distributor 
within the network of FirstStreet is AITHR.  As FirstStreet's discovery on 
this issue is ongoing, Defendant reserves the right to amend and/or 
supplement this response as additional information becomes known.12 

 
41. As will be discussed below, firstSTREET’s response that AITHR was the only dealer or 

distributor within its network was false. 
 
F. On December 12, 2018, firstSTREET reveals for the first time that there were up to 
fourteen dealers 

 
42. firstSTREET finally revealed the existence of up to fourteen other dealers for the first time 
                                                                 
10  Deposition of Modena, David, (Pages 109:6 to 110:10), Exhibit 6. 
11  See, firstSTREET’s 3rd NRCP 16.1 Disclosure, attached hereto as Exhibit 7. 
12  firstStreet’s Response to Plaintiff Tamantini’s First Set of Interrogatories, attached hereto as Exhibit 8. 
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at Mr. Modena’s deposition (when firstSTREET’s answers could not be filtered by 
counsel). 

 
43. Mr. Modena testified that one of the dealers was a company named AITHR13, a named 

Defendant in the instant lawsuit. 
 

44. Mr. Modena testified that AITHR is a division within firstSTREET and is wholly owned 
by firstSTREET.14   

  
45. Mr. Modena testified that firstSTREET’s marketing efforts generated leads which were 

then routed to a network of dealers (approximately 12-14).15 
 

46. Mr. Modena testified that AITHR was the dealer for the middle of the country.  Other 
dealers were responsible for other parts of the country.  One dealer, Beldon, covered about 
27 percent of the country. 

 
47. Plaintiffs were never made aware of any of these dealers until December 12, 2018 (with 

discovery set to close in late January 2019). 
 
G. Slipperiness of the Tub 
 
48. firstSTREET has also prevented Plaintiffs from proving other aspects of their case by 

acting in bad faith in other areas of discovery.  A critical part of Plaintiffs’ allegations 
dealt with the slipperiness of the Tub as compared to the slipperiness of a bathroom in 
general.16  Therefore, the slipperiness of the Tub is at issue in this case. 

 
49. Plaintiffs learned at Mr. Modena’s deposition that firstSTREET has withheld witnesses 

and documents that are relevant to the issue of the Tub’s design defect, i.e., the 
slipperiness of the tub. 

 
50. Plaintiffs learned for the first time at Mr. Modena’s deposition that the slipperiness of the 

Tub has been a significant, ongoing issue since 2012 (prior to Sherry’s death).   
 

51. Mr. Modena testified that not long after the Defendants entered into the Manufacturing 
Agreement, firstSTREET and AITHR began receiving feedback from customers 
regarding the slipperiness of the tub. 

 
52. Because of these customer complaints, Mr. Modena testified that firstSTREET contacted 

                                                                 
 
14  The fact that AITHR is wholly owned by firstSTREET is likely the reason it was the only dealer that was 
disclosed to Plaintiffs. 
15  Deposition of Modena, David, (Pages 100:10 to 103:6); (Pages 104:1 to 105:25), Exhibit 6. 
16  See, Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, ¶’s 75-91, Exhibit 5. 
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Jacuzzi via e-mail17 to inquire about this issue. 
 
53. Mr. Modena testified that in response to firstSTREET’s inquiries and concerns about the 

slipperiness of the walk-in bathtubs, Jacuzzi, through Ray Torres, the VP of Engineering 
at Jacuzzi, provided documentation purporting to show that the tub surfaces met the 
standards with regard to what Mr. Modena called the grip or friction (likely coefficient of 
friction).   

 
54. Mr. Modena testified that AITHR/firstSTREET continued having customer complaints 

and/or concerns regarding the slipperiness of the tub and that the Defendants actually 
found a product called “Kahuna Grip” which was a grip used on surfboards and similar 
surfaces that could be installed into the Jacuzzi walk-in tub to provide additional grip. 

 
55. Mr. Modena testified that there were many e-mails exchanged between Jacuzzi and 

AITHR/firstSTREET regarding the slipperiness of the tub based on the ongoing 
complaints of customers as the tubs were installed. 

 
56. The Defendants have failed entirely to produce any information about the slipperiness of 

the tub despite valid discovery requests from Plaintiffs seeking this information. 
 

57. firstSTREET entirely failed to produce: 
 

 Any internal e-mails regarding the slipperiness issues  
 Any e-mails among Defendants regarding the slipperiness issues 
 Any e-mails regarding the Kahuna Grip product 
 Any internal e-mails about customer complaints about the slipperiness of the Tub 
 Any e-mails among Defendants regarding customer complaints about the 

slipperiness of the Tub 
 Any customer complaints on this issue 

 
H. Plaintiffs Attempts to Discover Evidence Regarding Similar Incidents 
 
58. Plaintiffs have also sought discovery regarding similar incidents from firstSTREET and 

AITHR. 
 

59. In written discovery, Plaintiffs requested information regarding notice of any person 
claiming injury or damage from the use of a Jacuzzi Walk-In Tub.  firstSTREET’s 
response only included two cases: (1) the Smith case which obviously Plaintiffs were 
aware of as Smith’s counsel, and (2) the Baize case which Plaintiffs found and had 
previously disclosed: 

 
Interrogatory 11. Please state whether the Defendant FIRST STREET has ever 
received notice, either verbal or written, from or on behalf of any person claiming 

                                                                 
17  The disclosure and production of the e-mails by Defendants was coordinated and calculated and not in 
good faith – which will be addressed herein. 
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injury or damage from his use of Jacuzzi Walk-In-Tub which is the subject of the 
litigation. 

If so, please state: 
(a) The date of each such notice 
(b) The name and last known address of each person giving such notice; and 
(c) The substance of the allegations of such notice. 
 

ANSWER: Objection. This Interrogatory is overbroad with respect to timeframe, 
subject matter and the term "damage." This Answering Defendant has received notice 
of the following incidents:  
1. Leonard Baize, served June 28, 2016. Mr. Baize alleged he was sold a tub too small 
for him after being advised by the sales representative that he would fit. 
2. Mack Smith, received notice of claim January 2017. The claimants allege Mr. Smith 
drowned in the tub. This Answering Defendant is not aware of any further facts or the 
current status of this claim.18 

 
60. Plaintiffs also sought information regarding documents pertaining to the inward opening 

doors in Requests for Production of Documents to both firstSTREET and AITHR. 
 

34. Please produce all documentation, emails, memorandums, technical 
data, and internal documents of any and all discussion, communication or 
otherwise pertaining to safe considerations regarding the inward opening 
door versus an outward opening door. 
 
RESPONSE: This Responding Defendant is not in possession of any 
documents responsive to this request other than those produced during the 
course of litigation as this Responding Defendant did not design the door.19 
 

61. Notably, firstSTREET’s responses were verified by firstSTREET’s General Counsel, 
Stacey Hackney, Esq. 

 
I. firstSTREET’s Deposition Obstructions 

 
62. While Mr. Modena offered information on the other dealers, he avoided providing 

complete and truthful answers when asked about similar incidents. 
 

63. Mr. Modena evasively testified that he was only aware of one significant incident 
involving a safety aspect of the Tub: the instant case.20 

64. When first asked about what significant incidents firstSTREET is aware of, Mr. Modena 
testified that he was only aware of one significant incident involving a safety aspect of the 

                                                                 
18  firstSTREET’s Responses to Plaintiff Ansara’s First Set of Interrogatories, attached hereto as Exhibit 9. 
19  firstSTREET’s Responses to Plaintiff Ansara’s First Set of Request for Production of Documents, attached 
hereto as Exhibit 10; see also, AITHR’s Responses to Plaintiff Ansara’s First Set of Request for Production of 
Documents, attached hereto as Exhibit 11. 
20  Deposition of Modena, David, (Pages 26:4 to 27:8), Exhibit 6. 
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Tub: the instant case. 
 

65. He testified that there “must have been a couple” incidents, but he stated that “I just don’t 
recall incidents like this.” 21 

 
66. Mr. Modena testified that significant incidents did not occur often, yet at the same time, 

testified that he could not recall the rare times that they did occur.22 
 

67. Mr. Modena went on to testify that he did not have information regarding any other 
lawsuits involving firstSTREET.23 

 
68. Mr. Modena testified that he could not answer the simple question of whether 

firstSTREET is aware of any other lawsuits.  Mr. Modena testified that firstSTREET’s 
General Counsel, Stacey Hackney would have more knowledge than he had.24   

 
69. Plaintiffs therefore requested to swear-in and depose Ms. Hackney, who was sitting next 

to Mr. Modena, on this topic.25 
 

70. Instead, a recess was taken so that Counsel for firstSTREET and Ms. Hackney could re-
educate Mr. Modena on the topic of similar incidents.26 

 
71. After the recess, Mr. Modena testified that firstSTREET was aware of two other incidents: 

conveniently, the Smith case and the Baize case.27 
 

72. However, in discussing firstSTREET’s knowledge of the Smith and Baize case, Mr. 
Modena revealed that he had reviewed notes regarding both the Smith and Baize case just 
recently while preparing for his deposition.28 

 
73. When confronted with this, Mr. Modena hedged and claimed it was “a property damage” 

claim.29  
 

74. In direct contravention with Mr. Modena’s claim that Mr. Baize’s claim was only related 
to property damage, the complaint itself unequivocally stated, “Plaintiff Leonard Baize 
got into the tub causing bruising to his stomach area and scrapes.  He was very 
traumatized...”30  

75. Mr. Modena’s testimony is concerning given what Plaintiffs recently learned of another 
claimant named Jerry Chopper.   

                                                                 
21  Deposition of Modena, David, (Pages 26:4 to 27:8), Exhibit 6. 
22  Deposition of Modena, David, (Page 27:9 to 27:23), Exhibit 6. 
23  Deposition of Modena, David, (Page 27:9 to 27:23), Exhibit 6. 
24  Deposition of Modena, David, (Pages 27:24 to 29:10), Exhibit 6. 
25  Deposition of Modena, David, (Pages 27:24 to 29:10), Exhibit 6. 
26  Deposition of Modena, David, (Pages 27:24 to 29:10), Exhibit 6. 
27  Deposition of Modena, David, (Pages 29:24 to 32:25), Exhibit 6. 
28  Deposition of Modena, David, (Pages 29:24 to 32:25), Exhibit 6. 
29  Deposition of Modena, David, (Pages 29:24 to 32:25), Exhibit 6. 
30  Complaint of Leonard Baize v. Jacuzzi et. al, attached hereto as Exhibit 12. 
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76. In order to explain the significance of Mrs. Chopper, a review of Plaintiffs’ discovery 

attempts regarding the marketing of the tubs is necessary. 
 

J. The Defendants Bad Faith Conduct Regarding Advertising Materials 
 
77. When Plaintiffs were requested to supplement their complaint, they looked no further than 

the marketing literature that was provided to Sherry Cunnison. 
 

78. The marketing literature gives statistics regarding falls in the home and the safety of the 
elderly in the bathroom.31 

 
79. Plaintiffs believed early-on that the marketing claims being made were unsubstantiated, 

unsupported and false. 
 

80. Based on that belief, Plaintiffs sought to investigate the claims made with respect to the 
Jacuzzi Walk-in Tubs. 

 
81. firstSTREET is the “exclusive marketing” partner for Jacuzzi’s Walk-in Tubs.32 

 
82. In the Manufacturing Agreement, Jacuzzi promised to provide firstSTREET with the 

“existing approved advertising claims and claims support documentation . . . for use in 
firstSTREET’s advertisements and marketing materials.”33   

 
83. Jacuzzi promised that the information provided to firstSTREET supporting Jacuzzi’s 

advertising claims would be “truthful, accurate, non-misleading, and adequately 
substantiated (meaning claims based on tests, analyses, research, studies, or other 
evidence based on the expertise of professionals in the relevant area . . .”34 

 
84. The Manufacturing Agreement between Jacuzzi and firstSTREET/AITHR required 

firstSTREET to submit all national marketing to Jacuzzi for approval to ensure it complied 
with brand guidelines and to ensure that any claims were accurate and truthful.35 

 
85. Based in part on the plain language of the Manufacturing Agreement, Plaintiffs sought 

more information about the advertising claims that were used to induce Sherry and other 
Americans into purchasing a walk-in tub. 
 

86. In written discovery and deposition testimony Jacuzzi categorically denied having any 

                                                                 
31  See, Jacuzzi Brochure (Bates range: JAC000001-JAC000012), attached hereto as Exhibit 13. 
32  See generally, Manufacturing Agreement, at p. 5, Exhibit 2. 
33  See, Manufacturing Agreement, at pg. 2, Exhibit 2. 
34  See, Manufacturing Agreement, at pg. 2, Exhibit 2.  
35  See, Manufacturing Agreement, at p. 4, Exhibit 2. 
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involvement whatsoever in the marketing of the tub.36 
 

87. During this time, Plaintiffs were engaged in a discovery dispute with Jacuzzi regarding 
the deposition of Jacuzzi’s Rule 30(b)(6) witness.   

 
88. This led to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Compel Jacuzzi, Inc. to Produce a Knowledgeable NRCP 

30(b)(6) Designee and for Leave of Court to Take the Additional NRCP 30(b)(6) 
Deposition. 

 
89. Ultimately, the Discovery Commissioner ordered that a Second Deposition of Jacuzzi’s 

witness take place. 37 
 

90. At some point after the hearing and just days before the continued Second deposition, 
Counsel for firstSTREET/AITHR called me and revealed that Jacuzzi’s testimony its 
level of involvement in the marketing was not accurate and that firstSTREET/AITHR had 
thousands of e-mails that would be produced which directly contradicted the sworn 
testimony of Jacuzzi. 

 
91. Counsel for firstSTREET/AITHR indicated that due to the volume of e-mails at issue, 

they may not be produced prior to the continued Second Jacuzzi deposition but that they 
certainly would be produced the week following the deposition. 

 
92. Counsel for firstSTREET/AITHR did not produce the e-mails prior to the continued 

Second deposition and only after repeated requests and preparation of a Motion to 
Compel the Documents, were the e-mails finally turned over nearly two months after the 
First deposition.38   

 
93. firstSTREET’s Counsel still has not provided a privilege log for the e-mail production, 

despite numerous requests. 
 

94. After the Second deposition of Jacuzzi’s witness, in a calculated and coordinated effort39, 
Jacuzzi and firstSTREET produced (thousands) of e-mail correspondence at the end of 
November 2018. 40   

                                                                 
36  For a full discussion regarding Jacuzzi’s misconduct regarding advertising materials, see Affidavit of 
Benjamin Cloward in Support of Plaintiffs’ Renewed Motion to Strike Jacuzzi, Inc.’s Answer, Section G. 
37  See, Discovery Commissioner’s Report and Recommendation, served August 23, 2018, attached hereto as 
Exhibit 14. 
38  See, Plaintiffs’ Motion to Compel Defendant firstSTREET to Produce Documents on Order Shortening 
Time, attached hereto as Exhibit 15.  This motion was returned by the Discovery Commissioner, who sought 
clarification as to when Plaintiffs needed it to be heard.  It became moot because Defendant firstSTREET in a 
coordinated effort with Jacuzzi dumped on Plaintiffs nearly 3,000 e-mails well after the Second Jacuzzi deposition 
and just a couple weeks before the depositions of firstSTREET and AITHR 
39  As discussed more fully below, the production of the e-mails was due in large part based on Jacuzzi’s 
material misrepresentations regarding the advertising and marketing of the Tub. 
40  See, Jacuzzi’s Twelfth Supplemental NRCP 16.1 Disclosure, served November 27, 2018 (exhibits were not 
served until December 5, 2018), (Bates range: JACUZZI002992-004521); see also, firstSTREET & AITHR’s Second 

0179



 

13 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
K. Plaintiffs Learn of a New Claimant, Jerre Chopper 
 
95. Based on a rouge e-mail that was likely inadvertently produced by Jacuzzi, Plaintiffs 

learned of the identity of a twelfth claimant, named Jerre Chopper, who resides in 
Hamilton, Montana.41 

 
96. Plaintiffs learned of Mrs. Chopper in the attachment to a rouge e-mail that was likely 

inadvertently produced by Jacuzzi (as part of a 1,530 page “document dump”).   
 

97. The Jerre Chopper letters were disclosed by Jacuzzi (likely inadvertently), but not by 
firstSTREET. 

 
98. On December 20, 2018, Mrs. Chopper’s deposition was taken and it was discovered that 

she sent correspondence to firstSTREET and AITHR herself and through her 
attorney.42 

 
99. These letters are the “smoking gun” in this case because they: 1) are proof that the Walk-

in Tub was dangerous, but more importantly, 2) that Defendants were well-aware of all 
of the dangerous issues with the Tub.43 

 
100. In a December 4, 2012, letter to Stacey Hackney, General Counsel of firstSTREET, Mrs. 

Chopper notified firstSTREET that the tub she purchased “in no way delivered what your 
advertisement led one to believe.” 44 

 
101. She stated that “when ready to get out one had to sit and wait for the tub to drain before 

opening the door.  It was neither comfortable, convenient, nor safe.  For anyone suffering 
a medical emergency (I have a balance problem and periodic blackouts) there was no way 
to get out.  The door opens inward and the pressure of the water would negate its 
opening.”45 

 
102. She informed firstSTREET that there were several communications to Jacuzzi about 

design flaws and the risks associated. 46 

                                                                 
Supplemental NRCP 16.1 Disclosure, served November 5, 2018, (Bates range: FIRST000424-FIRST001320); 
attached hereto (on CD format due to volume size) as Exhibit 16. 
41  See, Deposition of Jerre Chopper, dated December 20, 2018, attached hereto as Exhibit 17. 
42  See, Deposition of Jerre Chopper, dated December 20, 2018, Exhibit 17. 
43  See, Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, ¶ 75-91, Exhibit 5. 
44  Letter from Jerre Chopper to Stacey Hackney at firstSTREET, dated December 4, 2012 (with Royce 
McCarty, Jennifer Lint, and Kurt Bachmeyer copied), attached hereto as Exhibit 18. 
45  Letter from Jerre Chopper to Stacey Hackney at firstSTREET, dated December 4, 2012 (with Royce 
McCarty, Jennifer Lint, and Kurt Bachmeyer copied), Exhibit 18. 
46  Letter from Jerre Chopper to Stacey Hackney at firstSTREET, dated December 4, 2012 (with Royce 
McCarty, Jennifer Lint, and Kurt Bachmeyer copied), Exhibit 18. 
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103. Additionally, Mrs. Chopper had several other prior communications with firstSTREET 

directly, or through her attorney, about her dissatisfaction with the tub.47 
 
104. Mrs. Chopper had also sent at least numerous letters to Jacuzzi describing the Tub as a 

“deathtrap.” 48 
 
105. firstSTREET was aware of Mrs. Chopper’s letters to Jacuzzi because Jacuzzi forwarded 

her letters to David Modena.49   
 
106. Accordingly, Mr. Modena’s testimony that firstSTREET is only aware of three incidents 

is evasive because firstSTREET was in contact with Mrs. Chopper.  In fact, some of Mrs. 
Choppers were directly addressed to General Counsel, Stacey Hackney, Esq., who was 
present at Mr. Modena’s deposition. 50 

 
107. Plaintiffs have been significantly prejudiced in their ability to prosecute their claims 

against Jacuzzi, firstSTREET and AITHR. 
 
108. Plaintiffs are not ready for the upcoming April trial without significant additional 

discovery. 
 
109. Plaintiffs have been unfairly prejudiced by having their experts be forced to give 

incomplete and partial opinions because of firstSTREET and AITHR’s calculated and 
coordinated efforts to prevent the full and fair disclosure of evidence in this matter. 
 

110. Because of the significant prejudice created by Jacuzzi, the only remedy is to Strike 
firstSTREET and AITHR’s Answers in their entirety so that Plaintiffs can proceed to trial 
on damages only. 
 

111. Because of the upcoming Discovery Cut-Off Deadline on January 25, 2019, Plaintiffs 
request that this motion (and the concurrently filed Motion for Leave to Exceed Page 

 

                                                                 
47  See Multiple letters between Jerre Chopper or her lawyer to Corporate Counsel for firstSTREET and 
AITHR, Stacy Hackney, dated September 28, October 5, November 29 and December 4, 2012, attached hereto as 
Exhibit 19. 
48  See, Deposition of Jerre Chopper, dated December 20, 2018, attached hereto as Exhibit 17; see also Letter 
from Jerre Chopper to Kurt Bachmeyer, Jacuzzi Director of Customer Service, dated September 1, 2012, Exhibit 
21; Letter from Jerre Chopper to Kurt Bachmeyer, Jacuzzi Director of Customer Service, dated September 12, 2012, 
Exhibit 22; and Letter from Jerre Chopper to Kurt Bachmeyer, Jacuzzi Director of Customer Service, dated October 
15, 2012, Exhibit 23. 
49  E-mail from Bob Rowan, President of Jacuzzi, to David Modena forwarding Jerre Chopper letters, dated 
September 7, 2012, Exhibit 24. 
50  Id.; see also, Multiple letters between Jerre Chopper or her lawyer to Corporate Counsel for firstSTREET 
and AITHR, Stacy Hackney, dated September 28, October 5, November 29 and December 4, 2012, attached hereto 
as Exhibit 22. 
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Case Number: A-16-731244-C
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6/21/2017 7:57 AM
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Page 1

1                        DISTRICT COURT
                    CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

2
ROBERT ANSARA, as Special

3 Administrator of the Estate of
SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased;

4 MICHAEL SMITH individually, and heir
to the Estate of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON,

5 Deceased; and DEBORAH TAMANTINI
individually, and heir to the

6 Estate of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON,
Deceased,

7                     Plaintiffs,
vs.                                 CASE NO. A-16-731244-C

8                                     DEPT. NO.
FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS &

9 BEYOND, INC.; AITHR DEALER, INC.;
HALE BENTON, Individually, HOMECLICK,

10 LLC.; JACUZZI LUXURY BATH, d/b/a
JACUZZI, INC.; BESTWAY BUILDING &

11 REMODELING, INC.; WILLIAM BUDD,
Individually and as BUDDS PLUMBING;

12 DOES 1 through 20; ROE CORPORATIONS
1 through 20; DOE EMPLOYEES 1 through

13 20; DOE MANUFACTURERS 1 through 20; DOE
20 INSTALLERS 1 through 20; DOE

14 CONTRACTORS 1 through 20; and DOE 21
SUBCONTRACTORS 1 through 20, inclusive,

15
                    Defendants.

16
17    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
18             VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF DAVID MODENA
19    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
20
21                       December 11, 2018
22
23                      Richmond, Virginia
24 Job No. 508962
25           Reported By:  Angela N. Sidener, CCR, RPR
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Case No. 83379 

 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA  
 

FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, 

INC.; AITHR DEALER, INC.; 

 

Petitioner,  

 

vs. 

 

THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, IN 

AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF 

NEVADA, AND THE HONORABLE CRYSTAL 

ELLER, DISTRICT JUDGE, 

 

Respondents,  

 

and 

 

ROBERT ANSARA, as Special Administrator of 

the ESTATE OF SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, 

Deceased; ROBERT ANSARA, as Special 

Administrator of the ESTATE OF MICHAEL 

SMITH, Deceased heir to the ESTATE OF 

SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased; and 

DEBORAH TAMANTINI individually, and heir to 

the ESTATE OF SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, 

DECEASED; HALE BENTON, Individually; 

HOMECLICK, LLC; JACUZZI INC., doing 

business as JACUZZI LUXURY BATH; 

BESTWAY BUILDING & REMODELING, INC.; 

WILLIAM BUDD, Individually and as BUDDS 

PLUMBING; DOES 1 through 20; ROE 

CORPORATIONS 1 through 20; DOE 

EMPLOYEES 1 through 20; DOE 

MANUFACTURERS 1 THROUGH 20; DOE 20 

INSTALLERS 1 through 20; DOE 

 

 

Docket 83379   Document 2021-34951
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CONTRACTORS 1 through 20; and DOE 21 

SUBCONTRACTORS 1 through 20, inclusive, 

 

Real Parties in Interest. 

 

 

__________________________________ 

 

APPENDIX TO REAL PARTY IN INTEREST’S ANSWERING BRIEF TO 

PETITIONERS’ firstSTREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, INC.’s & 

AITHR DEALER, INC.’s PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS 

 

VOLUME 2 

PAGES 251-500 

__________________________________ 

 

Benjamin P. Cloward (SBN 11087) 

Ian C. Estrada (SBN 12575) 

Landon D. Littlefield (SBN 15268) 

RICHARD HARRIS LAW FIRM, LLP 

801 South Fourth Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

 

Attorneys for Real Parties in Interest, ROBERT ANSARA, as Special Administrator 

of the Estate of  SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased;  ROBERT ANSARA, as 

Special Administrator of the Estate of  MICHAEL SMITH, Deceased heir to the 

Estate of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased; and DEBORAH TAMANTINI 

individually, and heir to the Estate of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased 
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CHRONOLOGICAL TABLE OF CONTENTS TO APPENDIX 

Tab Document Date Vol. Pages 

1 Opposition To Defendant Jacuzzi, Inc.’s Motion For 

Protective Order On Order Shortening Time 

9/18/18 1 1-123 

2 Plaintiff’s Motion To Strike Defendant firstSTREET’s 

And AITHR’s Answers For Discovery Abuses On Order 

Shortening Time 

1/16/19 1 

2 

3 

124-250 

251-500 

501-528 

3 Defendants firstSTREET And AITHR’s Opposition To 

Plaintiffs’ Motion To Strike Defendants firstSTREET 

And AITHR’s Answers For Discovery Abuses, On Order 

Shortening Time 

1/28/19 3 

4 

529-750 

751-918 

4 Defendants firstSTREET And AITHR’s Corrected 

Exhibits 2, 6, 7 And 11 To Opposition To Plaintiffs’ 

Motion To Strike Defendants firstSTREET And 

AITHR’s Answers For Discovery Abuses, On Order 

Shortening Time 

1/28/19 4 919-996 

5 Order Striking Defendant Jacuzzi Inc., d/b/a Jacuzzi 

Luxury Bath’s Answer As To Liability Only 

1/18/20 4 

5 

997-1000 

1001-1030 
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ALPHABETICAL TABLE OF CONTENTS TO APPENDIX 
 

Tab Document Date Vol. Pages 

4 Defendants firstSTREET And AITHR’s Corrected 

Exhibits 2, 6, 7 And 11 To Opposition To Plaintiffs’ 

Motion To Strike Defendants firstSTREET And 

AITHR’s Answers For Discovery Abuses, On Order 

Shortening Time 

1/28/19 3 919-996 

3 Defendants firstSTREET And AITHR’s Opposition To 

Plaintiffs’ Motion To Strike Defendants firstSTREET 

And AITHR’s Answers For Discovery Abuses, On Order 

Shortening Time 

1/28/19 3 529-918 

1 Opposition To Defendant Jacuzzi, Inc.’s Motion For 

Protective Order On Order Shortening Time 

9/18/18 1 1-123 

5 Order Striking Defendant Jacuzzi Inc., d/b/a Jacuzzi 

Luxury Bath’s Answer As To Liability Only 

1/18/20 3 

4 

997-1000 

1001-1030 

2 Plaintiff’s Motion To Strike Defendant firstSTREET’s 

And AITHR’s Answers For Discovery Abuses On Order 

Shortening Time 

1/16/19 1 

2 

3 

124-250 

251-500 

501-528 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

 

 I certify that on December 7, 2021, I submitted the foregoing APPENDIX TO 

REAL PARTY IN INTEREST’S ANSWERING BRIEF TO PETITIONERS’ 

firstSTREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, INC.’s & AITHR DEALER, INC.’s 

PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS for filing via the Court’s eFlex electronic 

filing system. Electronic notification will be sent to the following: 

Philip Goodhart, Esq. 

Meghan M. Goodwin, Esq. 

Thorndal Armstrong Delk Balkenbush & Eisinger 

1100 East Bridger Ave., Las Vegas, NV 89101-5315 

Mail To:  P.O. Box 2070, Las Vegas, NV 89125-2070 

Attorneys for Petitioners, firstSTREET For Boomers & Beyond, Inc.; AITHR 

Dealer, Inc. and Real Party in Interest, Hale Benton 

 

D. Lee Roberts, Jr., Esq. 

Brittany M. Llewellyn, Esq. 

Johnathan T. Krawcheck, Esq. 

Weinberg, Wheeler, Hudgins, Gunn & Dial, LLC 

6385 S. Rainbow Blvd., Suite 400, Las Vegas, NV 89118 

Attorneys for Real Party in Interest, Jacuzzi, Inc. dba Jacuzzi Luxury Bath 

 

Daniel F. Polsenberg, Esq. 

Joel D. Henriod, Esq. 

Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie, LLP 

3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy., Suite 600, Las Vegas, NV 89169-5996 

Attorneys for Real Party in Interest, Jacuzzi, Inc. dba Jacuzzi Luxury Bath 

 

 

Charles Allen, Esq. 

Graham Scofield, Esq. 

Charles Allen Law Firm 

3575 Piedmont Road, NE, Building 15, Suite L-130 

Atlanta, GA 30305 

Attorneys for Real Party in Interest, Robert Ansara 



6 
 

 

 I further certify that I served a copy of this document by mailing a true and 

correct copy thereof, postage prepaid, at Las Vegas, Nevada, addressed as follows: 

 The Honorable Crystal Eller 

 DISTRICT COURT JUDGE – DEPT. 19 

 200 Lewis Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 

 Respondent  

 

NOTE - DEFENDANTS HOMECLICK, LLC; BESTWAY BUILDING & 

REMODELING, INC.; WILLIAM BUDD, Individually and as BUDDS 

PLUMBING, have previously been dismissed from this lawsuit, but the 

caption has not been amended/revised to reflect this. Therefore, there has 

been no service on these parties. 

 

     /s/ Catherine Barnhill    

     An Employee of Richard Harris Law Firm 
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ECC 
PHILIP GOODHART, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 5332 
MEGHAN M. GOODWIN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11974 
THORNDAL ARMSTRONG DELK 
BALKENBUSH & EISINGER 
1100 East Bridger Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89101-5315 
   Mail To: 
   P.O. Box 2070 
   Las Vegas, NV 89125-2070 
Tel.: (702) 366-0622 
Fax: (702) 366-0327 
png@thorndal.com 
mmg@thorndal.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendants/Cross- 
Defendants, FIRSTSTREET FOR  
BOOMERS AND BEYOND, INC.,  
and AITHR DEALER, INC. 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
ROBERT ANSARA, as Special Administrator of 
the Estate of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, 
Deceased; MICHAEL SMITH individually, and 
heir to the Estate of SHERRY LYNN 
CUNNISON, Deceased; and DEBORAH 
TAMANTINI individually, and heir to the Estate 
of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
vs. 
 
FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, 
INC.; AITHR DEALER, INC.; HALE 
BENTON, Individually; HOMECLICK, LLC; 
JACUZZI INC., doing business as JACUZZI 
LUXURY BATH; BESTWAY BUILDING & 
REMODELING, INC.; WILLIAM BUDD, 
Individually and as BUDDS PLUMBING; DOES 
1 through 20; ROE CORPORATIONS 1 
through 20; DOE EMPLOYEES 1 through 20; 
DOE MANUFACTURERS 1 through 20; DOE 
20 INSTALLERS 1 through 20; DOE 

 
CASE NO.  A-16-731244-C 
DEPT. NO. 18 
 
 

DEFENDANTS FIRSTSTREET FOR      
BOOMERS AND BEYOND, INC., AND 
AITHR DEALER, INC.’S THIRD      
SUPPLEMENTAL EARLY CASE 
CONFERENCE PRODUCTION 
 

Case Number: A-16-731244-C

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
12/26/2018 10:58 AM

0261



 

-2- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

CONTRACTORS 1 through 20; and DOE 21 
SUBCONTRACTORS 1 through 20, inclusive,  
  Defendants. 
 
HOMECLICK, LLC, 
 

Cross-Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, 
INC.; AITHR DEALER, INC.; HOMECLICK, 
LLC; JACUZZI LUXURY BATH, doing 
business as JACUZZI INC.; BESTWAY 
BUILDING & REMODELING, INC.; 
WILLIAM BUDD, individually, and as BUDDS 
PLUMBING, 
 

Cross-Defendants. 

 

 
HOMECLICK, LLC, a New Jersey limited 
liability company, 
 

Third-Party Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
CHICAGO FAUCETS, an unknown entity, 
 

Third-Party Defendant. 

 

BESTWAY BUILDING & REMODELING, 
INC., 
 

Cross-Claimant, 
 
vs. 
 
FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, 
INC.; AITHER DEALER, INC.; HALE 
BENTON, individually; HOMECLICK, LLC; 
JACUZZI LUXURY BATH, dba JACUZZI 
INC.; WILLIAM BUDD, individually and as 
BUDD’S PLUMBING; ROES I through X, 
 

Cross-Defendants. 

 

WILLIAM BUDD, individually and as BUDDS 
PLUMBING, 
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Cross-Claimants, 

vs. 
 
FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, 
INC.; AITHR DEALER, INC.; HALE 
BENTON, individually; HOMECLICK, LLC; 
JACUZZI INC., doing business as JACUZZI 
LUXURY BATH; BESTWAY BUILDING & 
REMODELING, INC.; DOES 1 through 20; 
ROE CORPORATIONS 1 through 20; DOE 
EMPLOYEES 1 through 20; DOE 
MANUFACTURERS 1 through 20; DOE 20 
INSTALLERS, 1 through 20; DOE 
CONTRACTORS 1 through 20; and DOE 21 
SUBCONTRACTORS 1 through 20, inclusive, 
 

Cross-Defendants. 
 

DEFENDANTS FIRSTSTREET FOR BOOMERS AND BEYOND, INC., AND  
AITHR DEALER, INC.’S THIRD SUPPLEMENTAL EARLY 

CASE CONFERENCE PRODUCTION 
 

TO: ALL PARTIES HEREIN; and 
 
TO: THEIR COUNSEL OF RECORD: 
 

Defendants, FIRSTSTREET FOR BOOMERS AND BEYOND, INC., and AITHR 

DEALER, INC., hereby produces the following non-privileged tangible things which may be 

introduced into evidence and the identity of non-expert witnesses who may be called to testify at the 

trial of this matter:  

I. 

WITNESS LIST 

1. Robert Ansara, as Special Administrator of the Estate of Sherry Lyn Cunnison  
c/o Benjamin  P. Cloward, Esq. 
Richard Harris Law Firm 
801 S. 4th Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101   
(702)444-4444 

. . . 
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Mr. Ansara is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including the damages the Estate allegedly has sustained as result 

thereof and any other information relevant to this matter. 

2. Michael Smith individually, and heir to the Estate of Sherry Lyn Cunnison  
c/o Benjamin  P. Cloward, Esq. 
Richard Harris Law Firm 
801 S. 4th Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101  
(702)444-4444 
 

Mr. Smith is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including the damages he allegedly has sustained as result thereof 

and any other information relevant to this matter 

3. Deborah Tamantini individually, and heir to the Estate of Sherry Lyn Cunnison  
c/o Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq. 
Richard Harris Law Firm 
801 S. 4th Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101  
(702)444-4444 
 

Ms. Tamantini is expected to testify as to her understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including the damages she allegedly has sustained as result thereof 

and any other information relevant to this matter. 

4. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
Firststreet for Boomers & Beyond, Inc. c/o Meghan M. Goodwin, Esq. 
THORNDAL  ARMSTRONG  DELK BALKENBUSH  & EISINGER 
1100 E. Bridger Avenue  
Las Vegas, NV 89101  
(702) 366-0622 

  
 The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records for Firststreet for Boomers 

& Beyond, Inc. is expected to testify as to his/her understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, and any other information relevant to this matter. 

. . . 

. . . 
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5. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
AITHR Dealer Inc  
c/o Meghan M. Goodwin, Esq. 
THORNDAL  ARMSTRONG  DELK BALKENBUSH  & EISINGER 
1100 E. Bridger Avenue  
Las Vegas, NV 89101  
(702) 366-0622 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records for AITHR Dealer Inc. is 

expected to testify as to his/her understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the 

subject incident, and any other information relevant to this matter. 

6. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
The Chicago Faucet Company  
c/o Scott R. Cook, Esq. 

       Kolesar & Leatham 
400 South Rampart Blvd., Suite 400 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145  
(702) 362-7800 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records for The Chicago Faucet 

Company is expected to testify as to his/her understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including all products sold by Chicago Faucets and any other 

information relevant to this matter. 

7. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
Homeclick, LLC 
c/o Michael E. Stoberski, Esq. 
OLSON, CANNON, GORMLEY, ANGULO & STOBERSKI 
9950 W. Cheyenne Avenue  
Las Vegas, NV  89129  
(702) 384-4012 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records for Homeclick, LLC is 

expected to testify as to his/her understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the 

subject incident, and any other information relevant to this matter. 

. . . 
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8. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
Jacuzzi Brands, LLC 
c/o Vaughn A. Crawford, Esq.  
SNELL & WILMER LLP 
3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100  
Las Vegas, NV 89169 
(702) 784-5200 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records for Jacuzzi Brands, LLC is 

expected to testify as to his/her understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the 

subject incident, and any other information relevant to this matter. 

9. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records  
Bestway Building & Remodeling, Inc.  
c/o Stephen J. Erigero  
Ropers, Majeski, Kohn & Bentley 
3753 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 200  
Las Vegas, NV 89169 
(702) 954-8300 
 

The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian  of Records  for Bestway Building & 

Remodeling,  Inc. is expected  to testify as to his/her  understanding  of the facts and circumstances  

surrounding  the subject  incident,  and any other information  relevant to this matter. 

10. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
Budd’s Plumbing  
c/o Joseph P. Garin, Esq. 
Lipson, Neilson, Cole, Selzer & Garin 
9900 Covington Cross Drive, Suite 120 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144  
(702) 382-1500 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records for Budd's Plumbing is 

expected to testify as to his/her understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the 

subject incident, and any other information relevant to this matter. 

11. William Budd 
c/o Joseph P. Garin, Esq. 
Lipson, Neilson, Cole, Selzer & Garin 
9900 Covington Cross Drive, Suite 120 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144  
(702) 382-1500 
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Mr. Budd is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, and any other information relevant to this matter.  

12. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
Clark County Coroner  
1704 Pinto Lane 
Las Vegas, NV 89106  
(702) 455-3210 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) from Clark County Coroner is expected to testify as  to 

his/her  understanding  of the facts and circumstances  surrounding  the subject incident, including 

the investigation and subsequent findings thereof. 

13. Timothy Dutra, M.D., Coroner 
Kristen Peters, Coroner Investigator 
Daniel S. Isenschmid, Ph.D., D-ABFT, Forensic Toxicologist 
Clark County Coroner 
1704 Pinto Lane 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
(702) 455-3210 
 

Dr. Dutra, Kristen Peters, and Dr. Isenschmid are expected testify as to his/her 

understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the subject incident, including the 

investigation and subsequent findings thereof. 

14. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
Hale Benton 
1176 Ponce de Leon Avenue  
Las Vegas, NV 89123-1458  
(702) 498-9012 

 
Mr. Benton is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including all goods and services provided to any party involved in 

this matter and any other information relevant to this matter. 

15. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
Palm Eastern Cemetery  
7600 S. Eastern Avenue  
Las Vegas, NV 89123  
(702) 464-8500 
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 The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records from Palm Eastern Cemetery 

is expected to testify as to his/her understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the 

subject incident, including all goods and services provided to any party involved in this matter and 

any other information relevant to this matter. 

16. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
Las Vegas Fire & Rescue 
500 N. Casino Center Boulevard  
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
(702) 383-2888 
 

The Corporate Representative(s) from Las Vegas Fire & Rescue is expected to testify as to 

his/her understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the subject incident, including the 

investigation and subsequent findings thereof 

17. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
MedicWest Ambulance  
9 W. Delhi Avenue 
North Las Vegas, NV 89032 
(702) 650-9900 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records from MedicWest Ambulance 

are expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent and to the authenticity of 

the records. 

18. Carlos Fonseca, Paramedic MedicWest Ambulance 
9 W. Delhi Avenue 
North Las Vegas, NV 89032 
(702) 650-9900 
 

Medic Fonseca is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent. 
 

19. Brennan Demille, EMT Intermediate 
MedicWest Ambulance 
9 W. Delhi Avenue 
North Las Vegas, NV 89032 
(702) 650-9900 

 
Medic Demille is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent. 

 
. . . 
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20. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 

Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center 
3186 S. Maryland Parkway  
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records from Sunrise Hospital & 

Medical Center are expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison, and to the authenticity of the records. 

21. Muhammad A. Syed, M.D. Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Syed is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

22. James Walker, D.O. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109 
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Walker is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent,Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

23. Kitty Ho Cain, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center 
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Cain is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry Lyn 

Cunnison. 

24. Lindsey C. Blake, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 
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Dr. Blake is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

25. Holman Chan, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Chan is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

26. Hany F. Ghali, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Ghali is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

27. Sayed Z. Qazi, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Qazi is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

28. Muhammad Bhatti, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109 
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Bhatti is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

. . . 

. . . 

0270



 

-11- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29. Wayne Jacobs, M.D.  
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center 
 3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Jacobs is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

30. Yekaterina K.hronusova, M.D.  
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. K.hronusova is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, 

Sherry Lyn Cunnison. 

31. Mark Vandenbosch, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Vandenbosch is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, 

Sherry Lyn Cunnison. 

32. Chris J. Fischer, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center 
23186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109 
(702) 731-8000 
 

Dr. Fischer is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

33. Shirin Rahman, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 
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Dr. Rahman is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

34. Sean D. Beaty, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000  
 

Dr. Beaty is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

35. Joshua Owen, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center 
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 
 

Dr. Owen is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

36. Rafael Valencia, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 
 
Dr. Valencia is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

37. David P. Gorczyca, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Gorczyca is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, 

Sherry Lyn Cunnison. 

. . . 

. . . 
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38. Dean P. Berthoty, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 
 

Dr. Berthoty is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

39. Robert N. Berkley, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 
 

Dr. Berkley is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

40. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
Davis Funeral Homes & Memorial Park 
6200 S. Eastern Avenue  
Las Vegas, NV 89119  
(702) 736-6200 
 

The Corporate Representative(s)  and/or Custodian of Records from Davis Funeral Homes 

& Memorial Park is expected to testify as to his/her understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including all goods and services provided to any party involved in 

this matter and any other information relevant to this matter. 

41. Kristen Peters, Investigator 
Clark County Coroner  
1704 Pinto Lane 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
(702) 455-3210 
 

Ms. Peters is expected to testify as to her understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including the investigation and subsequent findings thereof. 

. . . 
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42. Jesse Blanchard, Paramedic  
MedicWest Ambulance 
9 W. Delhi Avenue 
North Las Vegas, NV 89032  
(702) 650-9900 
 

Medic Blanchard is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent. 
 

43. Voctor Montecerin, Paramedic  
MedicWest Ambulance 
9 W. Delhi Avenue 
North Las Vegas, NV 89032  
(702) 650-9900  

 
Medic Montecerin is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent. 

 
44. Jimmy Chavez, Paramedic  

MedicWest Ambulance 
9 W. Delhi Avenue 
North Las Vegas, NV 89032 (702) 650-9900 

 
Medic Chavez is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent. 

 
45. Luke Crawford, EMT Intermediate  

MedicWest  Ambulance 
9 W. Delhi Avenue 
North Las Vegas, NV 89032  
(702) 650-9900 
 

Medic Crawford is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent. 
 

46.  Jenna Lamperti, EMT Intermediate  
MedicWest Ambulance 
9 W. Delhi Avenue 
North  Las Vegas, NV 89032 
(702) 650-9900 

 
Medic Lamperti is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent. 

 
47. Jacob Stamer, EMT 

MedicWest Ambulance  
9 W. Delhi Avenue 
North  Las Vegas, NV 89032 
(702) 650-9900 

 
Medic Stamer is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent. 
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48. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
Kindred Hospital Las Vegas-Flamingo 
2250 E. Flamingo Road Las Vegas, NV 89119  
(702) 784-4300 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records from Kindred Hospital Las 

Vegas-Flamingo are expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison, and to the authenticity of the records. 

49. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian  of Records 
Southern Nevada Medical & Rehab Center 
2945 Casa Vegas Street  
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 735-7179 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records from Southern Nevada 

Medical & Rehab Center are expected to testify as  to the care and treatment provided  to Decedent, 

Sherry  Lyn  Cunnison,  and  to the authenticity  of the records. 

50. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian  of Records 
Walgreens Pharmacy  
4895 Boulder Highway 
Las Vegas, NV 89121  
(702) 898-5264 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records from Walgreens Pharmacy 

are expected to testify as to all prescriptions provided to Decedent, Sherry Lyn Cunnison,  and  to 

the  authenticity  of the records. 

51. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
MountainView Hospital 
3100 N. Tenaya Way 
Las Vegas, NV 89128 
(702) 962-5000 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian  of Records from MountainView 

Hospital are expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry Lyn 

Cunnison, and to the authenticity of the records.  

. . . 

0275



 

-16- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

52. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian  of Records 
Desert Springs Hospital  
2075 E. Flamingo Road  
Las Vegas, NV 89119  
(702) 733-8800 
 

The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records from Desert Springs 

Hospital are expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry Lyn 

Cunnison, and to the authenticity of the records. 

53. Daniel D. Lee, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center 
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Lee is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry  Lyn 

Cunnison. 

54. Shameyel Roshan, D.O. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 
 

Dr. Roshan is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

55. Arjun V. Gururaj, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 
 

Dr. Gururaj is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

56. Nicolaos Tsiouris, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000  
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Dr. Tsiouris is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

57. Warren Wheeler, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway  
Las Vegas, NV 89109 
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Wheeler is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

58. Gyorgy Varsanyi, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Varsanyi is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

59. David  Silverberg, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Silverberg is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, 

Sherry Lyn Cunnison. 

60. Douglas M. Sides, M.D. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Sides is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

. . . 

. . . 
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61. Richard A. Schwartz, M.D.  
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109  
(702) 731-8000 

 
Dr. Schwartz is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

62. Ronald F. Sauer, Jr., D.O. 
Sunrise Hospital & Medical Center  
3186 S. Maryland Parkway 
Las Vegas, NV 89109 
(702) 731-8000 
  

Dr. Sauer is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

63. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department  
400 S. Martin Luther King Boulevard 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
(702) 828-3111 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records for Las Vegas Metropolitan 

Police Department is expected to testify as to his/her understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including the investigation conducted and subsequent findings and 

any other information relevant to this matter. 

64. Officer, Matthew Scanlon 
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department  
400 S. Martin Luther King Boulevard 
Las Vegas, NV 89106  
(702) 828-3111 

 
Officer Scanlon is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including the investigation conducted and subsequent findings and 

any other information relevant to this matter. 

. . . 
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65. Officer, Kevin Lemire 
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department  
400 S. Martin Luther King Boulevard 
Las Vegas, NV 89106  
(702) 828-3111 
 

Officer Lemire is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including the investigation conducted and subsequent findings and 

any other information relevant to this matter. 

66. Officer, Matthew Shake 
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department  
400 S. Martin Luther King Boulevard 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
(702) 828-3111 

 
Officer Shake is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including the investigation conducted and  subsequent findings 

and any other information relevant to this matter. 

67. Officer, Keith Bryant 
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department  
400 S. Martin Luther King Boulevard 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
(702) 828-3111 

 
Officer Bryant is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including the investigation conducted and subsequent findings and 

any other information relevant to this matter. 

68. Officer, Shakeel Abdal-Karim 
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department  
400 S. Martin Luther King Boulevard 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
(702) 828-3111 
 

Officer Abdal-Karim is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and 

circumstances surrounding the subject incident, including the investigation conducted and 

subsequent findings and any other information relevant to this matter. 
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69. Officer, B. Venpamel 
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department  
400 S. Martin Luther King Boulevard 
Las Vegas, NV 89106  
(702) 828-3111 
 

Officer Venpamel is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and 

circumstances surrounding the subject incident, including the investigation conducted and 

subsequent findings and any other information relevant to this matter. 

70. Sergeant, Dana Pickerel 
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department  
400 S. Martin Luther King Boulevard 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
(702) 828-3111 

 
Sergeant Pickerel is expected to testify as to his/her understanding of the facts and 

circumstances surrounding the subject incident, including the investigation conducted and 

subsequent findings and any other information relevant to this matter. 

71. Sergeant, Allen Larsen 
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department  
400 S. Martin Luther King Boulevard 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
(702) 828-3111 
 

Sergeant Larsen is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including the investigation conducted and subsequent findings and 

any other information relevant to this matter. 

72. Corporate Representative(s) and/or Custodian of Records 
Clark County Fire Department  
575 E. Flamingo Road 
Las Vegas, NV 89119  
(702) 455-7311 

 
The Corporate Representative(s) from Clark County Fire Department is expected to testify 

as to his/her understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the subject incident, 

including the investigation and subsequent findings thereof. 

0280



 

-21- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

73. Nicholas Stahlberger, Paramedic 
Clark County Fire Department  
575 E. Flamingo Road 
Las Vegas, NV 89119  
(702) 455-7311 

 
Paramedic Stahlberger is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and 

circumstances surrounding the subject incident, including the investigation and subsequent findings 

thereof. 

74. William Lewis 
5354 Camden Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV  89122 
(702) 580-0017  

 
William Lewis called 911 for wellness check on Plaintiff in 2007 and is also the person who 

called 911 regarding the subject incident. Mr. Lewis is expected to testify as to the facts and 

circumstances surrounding the 911 calls. 

75. Michael Zuvar  
746655 Willow Drive 
Doyle, CA 96109  
(775) 560-7791 
 

Michael Zuvar is expected to testify regarding the removal of the subject walk-in tub after 

the incident and as to the facts and circumstances surrounding the subject incident. 

76. Michael Showalter  
5500 Celestial Way 
Citrus Heights, CA 95610  
(831) 595-1015 (cell) 
(916) 903-7186 (home) 

 
Michael Showalter is expected to testify as to the facts and circumstances surrounding the 

subject incident. 

77. Frederick J. Tanenggee, M.D. 
Health Care Partners Nevada  
129 W. Lake Mead, Suite 10  
Henderson, NV 89015 
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Dr. Tanenggee is expected to testify as to Decedent's condition, care and treatment provided to 

Decedent. 

78. Sachit Das, M.D. 
Kindred Hospital Las Vegas-Flamingo  
2250 E. Flamingo Road 
Las Vegas, NV 89119  
(702) 784-4300 
 

Dr. Das is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry Lyn 

Cunnison. 

79. Robert M. Yeh, M.D. 
Kindred Hospital Las Vegas-Flamingo  
2250 E. Flamingo Road 
Las Vegas, NV 89119  
(702) 784-4300 

 
Dr. Yeh is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry Lyn 

Cunnison. 

80. Prashant Bharucha, M.D. 
Desert Springs Hospital  
2075 E. Flamingo Road  
Las Vegas, NV 89119  
(702) 733-8800 
 

Dr. Bharucha is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, 

Sherry Lyn Cunnison as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry Lyn Cunnison. 

81. Randal Shelin, M.D. 
Desert Springs Hospital 
32075 E. Flamingo Road 
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
(702) 733-8800 

 
Dr. Shelin is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

. . . 

. . . 
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82. Armen Hovanessian, M.D.  
Desert Springs Hospital  
2075 E. Flamingo Road  
Las Vegas, NV 89119  
(702) 733-8800 

 
Dr. Hovanessian is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, 

Sherry Lyn Cunnison. 

83. Michael Showalter  
5500 Celestial Way 
Citrus Heights, CA 95610  
(916) 903-7186 
 

Mr. Showalter is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including any other relevant information regarding this matter. 

84. Scott Cunnison 
23840 Southpoint Drive  
Denham Springs, LA 70726 
 

Mr. Cunnison is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including any other relevant information regarding this matter. 

85. James T. Cunnison  
418 Burnham Street 
Hampton, VA 23669 

 
Mr. Cunnison is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including any other relevant information regarding this matter. 

86. John S. Cunnison 
501 S.W. 16th Street  
Blue Springs, MO 64015 
 

Mr. Cunnison is expected to testify as to his understanding of the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the subject incident, including any other relevant information regarding this matter. 

87. Corporate Representative and/or Custodian 
Health Care Partners Nevada  
129 W. Lake Mead, Suite 10  
Henderson, NV 89015 
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The Corporate Representative and/or Custodian of Records from HealthCare Partners are 

expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry Lyn Cunnison, and to 

the authenticity of the records 

88. Benjamin Muir, M.D.  
HealthCare Partners 
700 E. Warm Springs Road, Suite 110 
Las Vegas, NV 89119  
(702) 318-24 

 
Dr. Muir expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry Lyn 

Cunnison.  

89. Michael Carducci, M.D. HealthCare Partners 
700 E. Warm Springs Road, Suite 110 
Las Vegas, NV 89119  
(702) 318-2400 

 
Dr. Carducci expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. 

90. Corporate Representative and/or Custodian of Records 
Comprehensive & Interventional Pain Management 
10561 Jeffreys Street, Suite 211 
Henderson, NV 89052 
(702) 990-4530 

 
The Corporate Representative and/or Custodian of Records from Comprehensive & 

Interventional Pain Management are expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to 

Decedent, Sherry Lyn Cunnison, and to the authenticity of the records 

91. Daniel Fabito, M.D. 
Comprehensive & Interventional Pain Management  
10561 Jeffreys Street, Suite 211 
Henderson, NV 89052 
(702) 990-4530 

 
Dr. Fabito is expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry 

Lyn Cunnison. This witness may be called to testify as a non-retained expert treating medical 

provider. 
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92. Othella A. Jurani-Suarez, M.D. HealthCare Partners 
9280 W. Sunset Road 
Las Vegas, NV 89148  
(702) 534-5464 

 
Dr. Jurani-Suarez expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, 

Sherry Lyn Cunnison. 

93. Michael Her, M.D. 
1236 N. Magnolia Avenue  
Anaheim, CA 92801 
(714) 995-1000 
 

Dr. Her expected to testify as to the care and treatment provided to Decedent, Sherry Lyn 

Cunnison. 

Further, Defendants reserves the right to designate the following witnesses upon 

identification through discovery: 

A. All of Plaintiff’s doctors and other medical care providers who treated Plaintiff for 

injuries allegedly sustained in the subject incident, and any prior or subsequent incidents, who will 

testify concerning the nature of said treatments, diagnosis and prognosis, including all emergency 

room physicians and other technicians who may not be considered Plaintiff’s “treating” physicians. 

 B. Any independent medical examiner retained by Defendants or any other party to 

examine Plaintiff concerning her injuries which may have resulted from the subject incident, who 

will testify as to diagnosis and prognosis. 

 C. All necessary records custodians for purposes of document foundation. 

 D. All witnesses identified by Plaintiff or any other party. 

 Defendants reserve the right to call any witnesses named by Plaintiff or any other party for 

the purpose of rebuttal, impeachment, and/or as an expert witness.  

Defendants may call at trial as non-retained expert witnesses any and all of Plaintiff’s 

treating medical professionals, and/or any other expert witness, retained or non-retained, identified 
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by any party during litigation.  

Defendants further reserve the right to call additional witnesses upon reasonable notice to 

all parties. Defendants reserve the right to supplement this list as discovery continues.  

II. 

DOCUMENTS 

A.  Homeclick invoice dated December 18, 2013, bates numbered FIRST000001; 

B. ADA installation manual, bates numbered FIRST000002 – FIRST000003; 

C. BUDD’s Plumbing invoice dated February 7, 2014, bates numbered FIRST000004;  

D. Jacuzzi and firstSTREET for Boomers and Beyond Manufacturing Agreement, 

bates numbered FIRST000005 – FIRST000022; 

E.  Jacuzzi and firstSTREET for Boomers and Beyond Manufacturing Agreement 

Signature Page, bates numbered FIRST000023; 

F.  Letter of Representation from Benjamin Cloward, Esq. to ALTHR dated April 9, 

2014, bated numbered FIRST000024; 

G. Hanover Insurance Group Policy for firstSTREET for Boomers and Beyond, bates 

numbered FIRST000025-FIRST000224; 

H. Subject Jacuzzi Photographs, bates numbered FIRST000225; 

I. Umbrella Hanover Insurance Group Policy for firstSTREET for Boomers and 

Beyond, bates numbered FIRST000226-FIRST00279; 

J.  Benton Agreement, bates numbered FIRST000280-FIRST000296; Redaction on 

FIRST000280 and FIRST000296; 

K. Documents from Denver regarding Customer Agreement, bates numbered 

FIRST000297-FIRST00356; Redaction on FIRST000347; 

L.  LP Notes regarding Plaintiff, bates numbered FIRST000357-FIRST000362; 
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M. The Jacuzzi Brand Guide, bates numbered FIRST000363-FIRST000385;  

N. Sales Presentation, bates numbered FIRST000386-FIRST000423; 

O. Various internal and external emails regarding Jacuzzi Walk In Tub between 

October 1, 2011 (Effective Date of Jacuzzi / firstSTREET Manufacturing 

Agreement) and February 21, 2014 (date Plaintiffs allege Ms. Cunnison became 

trapped in the Jacuzzi Walk In Tub), bates numbered FIRST000424 to 

FIRST001320; 

P.  Emails located on the desktop computer of David Modena, bates numbered 

FIRST001321-FIRST004666;  

Q.  Installer Checklist for Cunnision Installation, bates numbered FIRST004667-

FIRST004670;  

R. Leave Behind Boucher for Jacuzzi Walk in Bathtubs, bates numbered 

FIRST004671-004696; and 

S. Testimonials, bates numbered FIRST004697-FIRST004704.  

 Further, Defendants will produce the following upon receipt: 

 Any and all other relevant documents and tangible things unknown to Defendants at this 

time which are or become relevant to this litigation. 

No inclusion of any documents within this disclosure made pursuant to NRCP 16.1 and no 

acceptance of any documents provided by any other party hereto in a disclosure made pursuant to 

NRCP 16.1 shall be deemed as a waiver by Defendants of any evidentiary rights Defendants may 

have with respect to those documents, including, but not limited to, objections related to 

authenticity, materiality, relevance, foundation, hearsay, or any other right as may be permitted 

pursuant to the Nevada Rules of Evidence.  

Defendants reserves the right to supplement this list as discovery progresses, upon 
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reasonable notice to all parties.   

Defendants further reserves the right to use during discovery and/or use or admit during 

trial Plaintiff’s and/or any other parties’ documents and evidence, tangible or otherwise, produced 

or identified during the course of litigation.  

 DATED this 26th day of December, 2018. 

      THORNDAL ARMSTRONG DELK 
      BALKENBUSH & EISINGER 
 
 
      /s/ Philip Goodhart  
              
      PHILIP GOODHART, ESQ. 
      Nevada Bar No. 5332 

MEGHAN M. GOODWIN, ESQ. 
      Nevada Bar No. 11974 
      1100 East Bridger Avenue 
      Las Vegas, Nevada  89101  

Attorneys for Defendants/Cross- 
Defendants, FIRSTSTREET FOR  
BOOMERS AND BEYOND, INC.,  
and AITHR DEALER, INC  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), on the 26th day of December, 2018, service of the above and 

foregoing DEFENDANTS FIRSTSTREET FOR BOOMERS AND BEYOND, INC., AND 

AITHR DEALER, INC.’S THIRD SUPPLEMENTAL EARLY CASE CONFERENCE 

PRODUCTION was made upon each of the parties via electronic service through the Eighth 

Judicial District Court’s Odyssey E-File and Serve system, and by personal serving a thumb drive 

containing the identified documents on Mr. Cloward and Mr. Cools. 

Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq. 
Richard Harris Law Firm 
801 South Fourth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Charles Allen Law Firm, P.C. 
3575 Piedmont Road, NE 
Building 15, Suite L-130 
Atlanta, Georgia  30305 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 
Vaughn A. Crawford, Esq. 
Joshua D. Cools, Esq. 
Snell & Wilmer LLP 
3883 Howard Hughes Pkwy., Ste. 1100 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89169 
Attorneys for Defendant,  
JACUZZI BRANDS LLC 

 
Hale Benton  
26479 West Potter Drive 
Buckeye, AZ 85396 

 
       
      /s/ Stefanie Mitchell  
              
      An employee of THORNDAL ARMSTRONG 
      DELK BALKENBUSH & EISINGER 
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EXHIBIT “8” 
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Case Number: A-16-731244-C

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
11/13/2018 3:51 PM
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Case Number: A-16-731244-C

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
10/10/2018 11:09 AM
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Case Number: A-16-731244-C

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
9/14/2018 5:24 PM
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EXHIBIT “11” 
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Case Number: A-16-731244-C

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
10/10/2018 4:06 PM
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Case Number: A-16-731244-C

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
8/23/2018 10:06 AM
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Page 1

1                    DISTRICT COURT
                CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

2
 ROBERT ANSARA, as Special      )

3  Administrator of the Estate    )
 of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON,       )

4  Deceased; MICHAEL SMITH,       )
 individually, and heir to      )

5  the Estate of SHERRY LYNN      ) CASE NO.
 CUNNISON, Deceased; and        ) A-16-731244-C

6  DEBORAH TAMANTINI,             )
 Individually; and heir to      ) DEPT NO. II

7  the Estate of SHERRY LYNN      )
 CUNNISON, Deceased,            )

8                                 )
            Plaintiffs,         )

9                                 )     Taken at 139
       -vs-                     ) Bitterroot Plaza Dr.

10                                 )   Hamilton, Montana
 FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS &     )       Thursday,

11  BEYOND, INC.; AITHR DEALER,    )   December 20, 2018
 INC.; HALE BENTON,             )       12:00 P.M.

12  Individually; HOMECLICK,       )
 LLC; JACUZZI INC., doing       )

13  business as JACUZZI LUXURY     )
 BATH; BESTWAY BUILDING &       )

14  REMODELING, INC.; WILLIAM      )
 BUDD, Individually and as      )

15  BUDDS PLUMBING; DOES 1         )
 through 20; ROE CORPORATIONS   ) VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION

16  1 through 20; DOE EMPLOYEES    )
 1 through 20; DOE              )           OF

17  MANUFACTURERS 1 through 20;    )
 DOE INSTALLERS 1 through 20;   )     JERRE CHOPPER

18  DOE CONTRACTORS 1 through      )
 20; and DOE SUBCONTRACTORS 1   )

19  through 20, inclusive,         )
                                )

20             Defendants.         )
21
22
23

Reported by: Terra Rohlfs, RPR
24 Freelance Court Reporter and

Notary Public for the State of Montana
25
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Case No. 83379 

 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA  
 

FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, 

INC.; AITHR DEALER, INC.; 

 

Petitioner,  

 

vs. 

 

THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, IN 

AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF 

NEVADA, AND THE HONORABLE CRYSTAL 

ELLER, DISTRICT JUDGE, 

 

Respondents,  

 

and 

 

ROBERT ANSARA, as Special Administrator of 

the ESTATE OF SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, 

Deceased; ROBERT ANSARA, as Special 

Administrator of the ESTATE OF MICHAEL 

SMITH, Deceased heir to the ESTATE OF 

SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased; and 

DEBORAH TAMANTINI individually, and heir to 

the ESTATE OF SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, 

DECEASED; HALE BENTON, Individually; 

HOMECLICK, LLC; JACUZZI INC., doing 

business as JACUZZI LUXURY BATH; 

BESTWAY BUILDING & REMODELING, INC.; 

WILLIAM BUDD, Individually and as BUDDS 

PLUMBING; DOES 1 through 20; ROE 

CORPORATIONS 1 through 20; DOE 

EMPLOYEES 1 through 20; DOE 

MANUFACTURERS 1 THROUGH 20; DOE 20 

INSTALLERS 1 through 20; DOE 

 

 

Docket 83379   Document 2021-34951
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CONTRACTORS 1 through 20; and DOE 21 

SUBCONTRACTORS 1 through 20, inclusive, 

 

Real Parties in Interest. 

 

 

__________________________________ 

 

APPENDIX TO REAL PARTY IN INTEREST’S ANSWERING BRIEF TO 

PETITIONERS’ firstSTREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, INC.’s & 

AITHR DEALER, INC.’s PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS 

 

VOLUME 3 

PAGES 501-750 

__________________________________ 

 

Benjamin P. Cloward (SBN 11087) 

Ian C. Estrada (SBN 12575) 

Landon D. Littlefield (SBN 15268) 

RICHARD HARRIS LAW FIRM, LLP 

801 South Fourth Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

 

Attorneys for Real Parties in Interest, ROBERT ANSARA, as Special Administrator 

of the Estate of  SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased;  ROBERT ANSARA, as 

Special Administrator of the Estate of  MICHAEL SMITH, Deceased heir to the 

Estate of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased; and DEBORAH TAMANTINI 

individually, and heir to the Estate of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased 
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CHRONOLOGICAL TABLE OF CONTENTS TO APPENDIX 

Tab Document Date Vol. Pages 

1 Opposition To Defendant Jacuzzi, Inc.’s Motion For 

Protective Order On Order Shortening Time 

9/18/18 1 1-123 

2 Plaintiff’s Motion To Strike Defendant firstSTREET’s 

And AITHR’s Answers For Discovery Abuses On Order 

Shortening Time 

1/16/19 1 

2 

3 

124-250 

251-500 

501-528 

3 Defendants firstSTREET And AITHR’s Opposition To 

Plaintiffs’ Motion To Strike Defendants firstSTREET 

And AITHR’s Answers For Discovery Abuses, On Order 

Shortening Time 

1/28/19 3 

4 

529-750 

751-918 

4 Defendants firstSTREET And AITHR’s Corrected 

Exhibits 2, 6, 7 And 11 To Opposition To Plaintiffs’ 

Motion To Strike Defendants firstSTREET And 

AITHR’s Answers For Discovery Abuses, On Order 

Shortening Time 

1/28/19 4 919-996 

5 Order Striking Defendant Jacuzzi Inc., d/b/a Jacuzzi 

Luxury Bath’s Answer As To Liability Only 

1/18/20 4 

5 

997-1000 

1001-1030 
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ALPHABETICAL TABLE OF CONTENTS TO APPENDIX 
 

Tab Document Date Vol. Pages 

4 Defendants firstSTREET And AITHR’s Corrected 

Exhibits 2, 6, 7 And 11 To Opposition To Plaintiffs’ 

Motion To Strike Defendants firstSTREET And 

AITHR’s Answers For Discovery Abuses, On Order 

Shortening Time 

1/28/19 3 919-996 

3 Defendants firstSTREET And AITHR’s Opposition To 

Plaintiffs’ Motion To Strike Defendants firstSTREET 

And AITHR’s Answers For Discovery Abuses, On Order 

Shortening Time 

1/28/19 3 529-918 

1 Opposition To Defendant Jacuzzi, Inc.’s Motion For 

Protective Order On Order Shortening Time 

9/18/18 1 1-123 

5 Order Striking Defendant Jacuzzi Inc., d/b/a Jacuzzi 

Luxury Bath’s Answer As To Liability Only 

1/18/20 3 

4 

997-1000 

1001-1030 

2 Plaintiff’s Motion To Strike Defendant firstSTREET’s 

And AITHR’s Answers For Discovery Abuses On Order 

Shortening Time 

1/16/19 1 

2 

3 

124-250 

251-500 

501-528 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

 

 I certify that on December 7, 2021, I submitted the foregoing APPENDIX TO 

REAL PARTY IN INTEREST’S ANSWERING BRIEF TO PETITIONERS’ 

firstSTREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, INC.’s & AITHR DEALER, INC.’s 

PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS for filing via the Court’s eFlex electronic 

filing system. Electronic notification will be sent to the following: 

Philip Goodhart, Esq. 

Meghan M. Goodwin, Esq. 

Thorndal Armstrong Delk Balkenbush & Eisinger 

1100 East Bridger Ave., Las Vegas, NV 89101-5315 

Mail To:  P.O. Box 2070, Las Vegas, NV 89125-2070 

Attorneys for Petitioners, firstSTREET For Boomers & Beyond, Inc.; AITHR 

Dealer, Inc. and Real Party in Interest, Hale Benton 

 

D. Lee Roberts, Jr., Esq. 

Brittany M. Llewellyn, Esq. 

Johnathan T. Krawcheck, Esq. 

Weinberg, Wheeler, Hudgins, Gunn & Dial, LLC 

6385 S. Rainbow Blvd., Suite 400, Las Vegas, NV 89118 

Attorneys for Real Party in Interest, Jacuzzi, Inc. dba Jacuzzi Luxury Bath 

 

Daniel F. Polsenberg, Esq. 

Joel D. Henriod, Esq. 

Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie, LLP 

3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy., Suite 600, Las Vegas, NV 89169-5996 

Attorneys for Real Party in Interest, Jacuzzi, Inc. dba Jacuzzi Luxury Bath 

 

 

Charles Allen, Esq. 

Graham Scofield, Esq. 

Charles Allen Law Firm 

3575 Piedmont Road, NE, Building 15, Suite L-130 

Atlanta, GA 30305 

Attorneys for Real Party in Interest, Robert Ansara 
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 I further certify that I served a copy of this document by mailing a true and 

correct copy thereof, postage prepaid, at Las Vegas, Nevada, addressed as follows: 

 The Honorable Crystal Eller 

 DISTRICT COURT JUDGE – DEPT. 19 

 200 Lewis Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 

 Respondent  

 

NOTE - DEFENDANTS HOMECLICK, LLC; BESTWAY BUILDING & 

REMODELING, INC.; WILLIAM BUDD, Individually and as BUDDS 

PLUMBING, have previously been dismissed from this lawsuit, but the 

caption has not been amended/revised to reflect this. Therefore, there has 

been no service on these parties. 

 

     /s/ Catherine Barnhill    

     An Employee of Richard Harris Law Firm 
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OPPM 
PHILIP GOODHART, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 5332 
MICHAEL C. HETEY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 5668 
MEGHAN M. GOODWIN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11974 
THORNDAL ARMSTRONG DELK 
BALKENBUSH & EISINGER 
Mailing Address: PO Box 2070 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89125-2070 
1100 East Bridger Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89101-5315 
   Mail To: 
   P.O. Box 2070 
   Las Vegas, NV 89125-2070 
Tel.: (702) 366-0622 
Fax: (702) 366-0327 
png@thorndal.com 
mch@thorndal.com 
mmg@thorndal.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendants/Cross- 
Defendants, FIRSTSTREET FOR  
BOOMERS AND BEYOND, INC.,  
and AITHR DEALER, INC. 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

ROBERT ANSARA, as Special Administrator of 
the Estate of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, 
Deceased; MICHAEL SMITH individually, and 
heir to the Estate of SHERRY LYNN 
CUNNISON, Deceased; and DEBORAH 
TAMANTINI individually, and heir to the Estate 
of SHERRY LYNN CUNNISON, Deceased, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
vs. 
 
FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, 
INC.; AITHR DEALER, INC.; HALE 
BENTON, Individually; HOMECLICK, LLC; 
JACUZZI INC., doing business as JACUZZI 
LUXURY BATH; BESTWAY BUILDING & 
REMODELING, INC.; WILLIAM BUDD, 
Individually and as BUDDS PLUMBING; DOES 
1 through 20; ROE CORPORATIONS 1 

 
CASE NO.  A-16-731244-C 
DEPT. NO. 2 
 
 
DEFENDANTS FIRSTSTREET AND 
AITHR’S OPPOSITION TO 
PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION TO STRIKE 
DEFENDANTS FIRSTSTREET AND 
AITHR’S ANSWERS FOR 
DISCOVERY ABUSES, ON ORDER 
SHORTENING TIME 
 
 
Hearing Date:  2/4/19 
Hearing Time: 10:30 am 

Case Number: A-16-731244-C

Electronically Filed
1/28/2019 3:42 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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through 20; DOE EMPLOYEES 1 through 20; 
DOE MANUFACTURERS 1 through 20; DOE 
20 INSTALLERS 1 through 20; DOE 
CONTRACTORS 1 through 20; and DOE 21 
SUBCONTRACTORS 1 through 20, inclusive,  
 
  Defendants. 
 

 
HOMECLICK, LLC, 
 

Cross-Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, 
INC.; AITHR DEALER, INC.; HOMECLICK, 
LLC; JACUZZI LUXURY BATH, doing 
business as JACUZZI INC.; BESTWAY 
BUILDING & REMODELING, INC.; 
WILLIAM BUDD, individually, and as BUDDS 
PLUMBING, 
 

Cross-Defendants. 
 

 

 
HOMECLICK, LLC, a New Jersey limited 
liability company, 
 

Third-Party Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
CHICAGO FAUCETS, an unknown entity, 
 

Third-Party Defendant. 
 

 

 
BESTWAY BUILDING & REMODELING, 
INC., 
 

Cross-Claimant, 
 
vs. 
 
FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, 
INC.; AITHER DEALER, INC.; HALE 
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BENTON, individually; HOMECLICK, LLC; 
JACUZZI LUXURY BATH, dba JACUZZI 
INC.; WILLIAM BUDD, individually and as 
BUDD’S PLUMBING; ROES I through X, 
 

Cross-Defendants. 
 

 
WILLIAM BUDD, individually and as BUDDS 
PLUMBING, 
 

Cross-Claimants, 
 
vs. 
 
FIRST STREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, 
INC.; AITHR DEALER, INC.; HALE 
BENTON, individually; HOMECLICK, LLC; 
JACUZZI INC., doing business as JACUZZI 
LUXURY BATH; BESTWAY BUILDING & 
REMODELING, INC.; DOES 1 through 20; 
ROE CORPORATIONS 1 through 20; DOE 
EMPLOYEES 1 through 20; DOE 
MANUFACTURERS 1 through 20; DOE 20 
INSTALLERS, 1 through 20; DOE 
CONTRACTORS 1 through 20; and DOE 21 
SUBCONTRACTORS 1 through 20, inclusive, 
 

Cross-Defendants. 
 

 

 
FIRSTSTREET FOR BOOMERS & BEYOND, 
INC.; and AITHR DEALER, INC., 
 

Cross-Claimants, 
 
v. 
 
HOMECLICK, LLC; CHICAGO FAUCETS; 
and WILLIAM BUDD, individually and as 
BUDD’S PLUMBING, 
 

Cross-Defendants. 
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DEFENDANTS FIRSTSTREET AND AITHR’S OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFFS’ 
MOTION TO STRIKE DEFENDANTS FIRSTSTREET AND AITHR’S ANSWERS 

FOR DISCOVERY ABUSES, ON ORDER SHORTENING TIME 

Defendants firstSTREET and AITHR (collectively referred to as “firstSTREET”) hereby 

file their Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike Defendants’ firstSTREET and AITHR’s 

Answers for Discovery Abuses, On Order Shortening Time. This Opposition is based on the 

following Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the exhibits attached hereto, the pleadings and 

papers on file herein, and any oral argument this Court may consider. 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I.  

INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiffs’ Motion is nothing more than a clever attempt by counsel to manufacture a 

situation that does not exist to avoid litigating a complicated case by seeking terminating sanctions 

for which there is no basis. Plaintiffs’ actions go beyond egregious conduct as counsel has 

submitted a false and misleading Affidavit in order to convince this Court, without any legitimate or 

supporting reason, to hear the underlying Motion on an Order Shortening Time, thereby depriving 

this Court from being fully briefed and informed of the issues that form the basis of the underlying 

Motion.1 Despite the false and misleading Affidavit, riddled with self-serving arguments, there is 

absolutely no evidence that Defendants firstSTREET and AITHR concealed relevant and material 

evidence. The reality is that Defendants have acted in good faith, and have appropriately responded 

to all of Plaintiffs’ written discovery, as evidenced by the undisputed fact that Plaintiffs have not 

filed a single Motion to Compel or any other Discovery Motion with the Discovery Commissioner 

against Defendants firstSTREET and AITHR. 

 

                                                           
1 See firstSTREET and AITHR’s Motion for Reconsideration of Court’s Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Request for Order 
Shortening Time for Hearing on Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike Defendants’ firstSTREET and AITHR’s Answers for 
Discovery Abuses, on Order Shortening Time, attached hereto as Exhibit 1. This pleading has been served on all 
parties, but the Order Shortening Time has not yet been returned by the Court. Furthermore, Plaintiffs counsel’s 
Affidavit in Support of the Motion (Exhibit 1 to Plaintiffs’ Motion) is nothing more than self-serving arguments with 
many misleading and false “facts”. For example, the “fact” stated by counsel in paragraph 8 is disputed by other first 
responders that were on the scene. In paragraph 11, counsel claims Ms. Cunnison was trapped for three days, yet there 
is absolutely no evidence or testimony supporting this hypothesis. Just like counsel’s Affidavit in Support of Order 
Shortening Time, there are many more misleading statements contained in Exhibit 1 of Plaintiffs’ Motion. 
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In their opening paragraph Plaintiffs argue that firstSTREET and AITHR have deliberately 

withheld evidence of prior and subsequent complaints by customers without a single piece of 

evidence that this was in fact done. The inescapable reality is firstSTREET has, throughout this 

litigation, advised Plaintiffs that it will only produce documents and information that occurred 

prior to Plaintiffs’ date of loss – February 27, 2014. In fact, none of Plaintiffs’ original discovery 

requests sought out documentation or information that post-dated Plaintiffs date of loss.  See 

Exhibit 2, firstSTREET’s Answers to Plaintiff Ansara’s First Set of Interrogatories and Exhibit 3, 

firstSTREET’s Responses to Plaintiff Ansara’s First Request for Production of Documents.  

Moreover, in response to Plaintiffs’ written discovery, and as part of a Privilege Log generated by 

firstSTREET, Plaintiffs have been clearly and unequivocally apprised of firstSTREET’s legal 

position. See Exhibit 4. In spite of this, not once, has Plaintiff filed a Motion to Compel or any 

other discovery motion against firstSTREET or AITHR before the Discovery Commissioner. 

Finally, Plaintiffs in their Introductory paragraph have admitted that their theory is that Ms. 

Cunnison slipped off the seat of her tub while reaching for the controls. See Plaintiffs’ Motion, at 

1:13-16. The fact that Plaintiffs now believe that Ms. Cunnison slipped off the seat of the tub is 

significant insomuch as none of Plaintiffs discovery requests propounded upon firstSTREET and 

AITHR have dealt with this new theory. This begs the question, if Plaintiffs have never asked for 

this information, or advanced this theory of liability before now, how could firstSTREET or 

AITHR have deliberately withheld documents and evidence? 

II.   

BACKGROUND FACTS2 

This is a product liability action involving vague claims (which have materially changed 

throughout the litigation as evidenced by Plaintiffs currently operating under their 4th 

Amended Complaint) that a Jacuzzi® model no. 5229 Walk-In Tub (the “Tub”) was defectively 

designed or that the warnings related to the Tub were insufficient. In October 2013, Decedent 

                                                           
2 Jacuzzi, in its Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike Jacuzzi’s Answer, set forth a detailed and accurate account of 
the relevant Background Facts. Rather than re-state the same facts in different words, firstSTREET and AITHR have 
taken those facts and included them in their Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike. 
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Sherry Cunnison (“Decedent”) purchased the Tub from Defendant AITHR Dealer, Inc. 

(“AITHR”) and was warned that she would be a “very tight fit” in the Tub. In fact, the salesperson, 

Hale Benton, has testified that after he advised Ms. Cunnison that she might be a tight fit, she 

indicated that she was aware of this, but that she was going to be losing weight and that the walk-in 

tub was part of her weight loss plans.3   

Even after Mr. Benton’s comments, as well as Ms. Cunnison’s son’s alleged concerns about 

the price, Ms. Cunnison selected the Tub and it was installed in her home on January 27, 2014. 

Plaintiffs allege that about a month after installation, Decedent was using the Tub and somehow 

became stuck and unable to exit.4 On February 21, 2014, a well-being check was performed and 

Decedent was found in the Tub.5 She died at the hospital on February 27, 2014.6 

Since the original Complaint was filed on February 3, 2016, Plaintiffs’ claims and allegations 

have materially changed. First, Plaintiffs claimed the incident was due to the Tub not draining, 

trapping Decedent in the Tub. Specifically, the original Complaint alleged that the incident 

occurred when Decedent “attempted [sic] exit the Jacuzzi walk-in tub by pulling the plug to let the 

water drain, allowing her to open the Jacuzzi walk in tub's door and exit. The drain would not 

release trapping SHERRY in the tub for 48 hours.”7 Plaintiffs maintained that theory of liability in 

the First and Second Amended Complaints. When testing unequivocally proved that claim 

meritless, Plaintiffs changed their theory of liability to vague references regarding the grab bars and 

inward opening door.  

It was not until recently that Plaintiffs now apparently are pursuing the theory that the Tub 

is too slippery.8 In spite of this new theory, nowhere in any of Plaintiffs’ four amended complaints 

                                                           
3 See Exhibit 5, deposition of Hale Benton, at 41:16-21. 
 
4 See Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, ¶ 27-29, attached as Exhibit 6. 
 
5 Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, ¶ 31. 
 
6 Id. at ¶ 35. 
 
7 See Plaintiffs’ Initial Complaint, ¶ 24, attached as Exhibit 7. 
 
8 Even now it appears as though Plaintiffs are struggling with whether or not the foot well of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub 
was too slippery or if the seat of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub was too slippery. 
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are there any allegations that the Tub is defective in that it is too slippery, despite Plaintiffs now 

claiming for the first time that slipperiness is “critical” to their allegations.9 Plaintiffs allege causes 

of action against all defendants for negligence and strict product liability for defective design, 

manufacture, or failure to warn, claiming that defendants’ actions were the cause of Decedent’s 

death. They also seek punitive damages.10 

III.   

DISCOVERY HISTORY 

This case has been pending since 2016, and Plaintiffs’ very first written discovery requests 

to firstSTREET are dated June 22, 2018. Plaintiffs’ second “wave” of written discovery to 

firstSTREET/AITHR are dated September 20, 2018. firstSTREET and AITHR have responded to 

all of Plaintiffs discovery, with appropriate objections. Significantly, Plaintiffs have not filed a 

single Motion to Compel or any other discovery motion with the Discovery Commissioner 

related to any of firstSTREET’s responses.  

In addition to the written discovery, the parties have taken numerous depositions, including 

NRCP 30(b)(6) witnesses. However, Plaintiffs did not begin the deposition of the NRCP 30(b)(6) 

witnesses of firstSTREET and AITHR until December 11, 2018. Plaintiffs submitted a list of fifty-

three (53) topic areas for the NRCP 30(b)(6) witnesses to be ready to discuss.11 In addition to 

responding to Plaintiffs’ written discovery, Defendants firstSTREET and AITHR have produced 

over 4,700 pages of documents that pre-date Plaintiffs’ date of loss. As noted previously, as 

between Plaintiffs and Defendants firstSTREET and AITHR discovery has not been contentious, 

nor has a single Motion to Compel been filed against Defendants firstSTREET and AITHR with 

the Discovery Commissioner. 

Plaintiffs and Defendants firstSTREET and AITHR have engaged in, at best, two (2) 

EDCR 2.34 Conferences to discuss (1) a Privilege Log for Defendants’ Second Supplemental Early 

                                                           
9 Contrary to Plaintiffs’ statement in FN 15 suggesting Decedent told multiple police officers and paramedics that she 
“slipped when she was reaching for controls,” only one police officer testified to this. 
 
10 Since the filing of the Fourth Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs have dismissed, without prejudice, Defendants Bestway 
Building Building & Remodeling; Homeclick; William Budd and Budds Plumbing; and Chicago Faucet Company. 
 
11 See Exhibit 8. 
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Case Conference Production; and (2) Plaintiffs demand for documents that post-date Plaintiffs date 

of loss. During each of these discussions, firstSTREET and AITHR unequivocally advised 

Plaintiffs that they would not be producing any documents that post-dated Plaintiffs’ incident. Yet, 

in spite of the position taken by firstSTREET and AITHR, Plaintiffs have not filed a single motion 

with the Discovery Commissioner seeking clarification on this position. 

A. Discovery Regarding “Other Incidents” 

To date, Defendants firstSTREET and AITHR have identified all known prior and 

subsequent claims for alleged bodily injury or death related to the Tub in question. In Plaintiffs’ 

First Set of Interrogatories to firstSTREET, they asked about firstSTREET’s knowledge of any 

injury claims arising from the use of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub: 

  

11. Please state whether the Defendant FIRST STREET has ever received 
notice, either verbal or written, from or on behalf of any person claiming injury or 
damage from his use of a Jacuzzi Walk-In-Tub which is the subject of the 
litigation. 
 If so, please state: 
(a) The date of each such notice 
(b) The name and last known address of each person giving such notice; and 
(c) The substance of the allegations of such notice.  
 
ANSWER: Objection. This Interrogatory is overbroad with respect to timeframe, 
subject matter, and the term “damage.” This Answering Defendant has received 
notice of the following incidents:  
1. Leonard Baize, served June 28, 2016. Mr. Baize alleged he was sold a tub 
too small for him after being advised by the sales representative that he would fit.  
2. Mack Smith, received notice of claim January 2017. The claimants allege 
Mr. Smith drowned in the tub. This Answering Defendant is not aware of any 
further facts or the current status of this claim. 
 

Notably, the remainder of the Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents 

focused on the design, development, manufacture and production of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub.12 As 

was made clear in firstSTREET’s responses, as well as in the Manufacturing Agreement between 

firstSTREET and Jacuzzi, it was Jacuzzi that designed, developed, manufactured and produced the 

tub in question. Therefore, firstSTREET and AITHR were not able to respond to the 

                                                           
12 See Exhibits 2 and 3. 
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interrogatories and requests for production of documents directed at the design and manufacture of 

the Jacuzzi walk-in tub. 

As indicated in firstSTREET’s response, above, the Leonard Baize incident was identified 

by firstSTREET. However, no specific documents were produced relative to this incident because 

Mr. Baize’s incident occurred months after Decedent’s incident.13 Mr. Baize’s complaint was filed 

on June 17, 2016, and is based on alleged misrepresentations made during the sales process. 

Specifically, the complaint alleges that Baize weighed approximately 500 pounds and was concerned 

about fitting into the tub.14 The salesperson allegedly measured Mr. Baize due to the concerns, and 

Mr. Baize was thereafter persuaded to purchase the tub based on the sales presentation by the 

salesperson. After installation, due to the seat being too narrow for Mr. Baize, he allegedly got stuck 

in the tub causing “bruising to his stomach area and scrapes.” Significantly, Mr. Baize did not slip in 

the tub, or off the seat, nor did he have any complaints at all that the tub was slippery or dangerous. 

He simply got stuck.  

The Baize action is based on misrepresentations made during the sale process by the 

salesperson, and is neither a complaint for personal injury, nor a complaint alleging the tub was in 

any way slippery or defective. The complaint alleged three causes of action: (1) breach of the Texas 

Deceptive Trade Practices-Consumer Protection Act; (2) breach of contract; and (3) common law 

fraud.15 Baize’s actual claim for damages in the complaint is limited strictly to economic damages 

and “mental anguish and suffering,” not personal injury.16 In spite of this, Defendant firstSTREET 

nevertheless identified the Baize Complaint in its Answers to Interrogatories.  

firstSTREET has maintained all along that the only documents it was producing were 

related to documents generated prior to Plaintiffs’ date of loss. Therefore, only emails between 

Jacuzzi and firstSTREET that pre-dated February 27, 2014 were produced. This fact was not 

                                                           
13 Baize Petition at 7-8, attached as Exhibit 9. 
 
14 Id. 
 
15 Id. 
 
16 Id. at 11-12. 
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hidden by firstSTREET as it was discussed in an EDCR 2.34 Conference with Plaintiffs’ counsel 

shortly before firstSTREET’s Privilege Log was produced in early December 2018. Then, this 

position was confirmed in the Privilege Log.17 Finally, during a second EDCR 2.34 Conference 

during the deposition of firstSTREET and AITHR’s NRCP 30(b)(6) witness, David Modena, 

firstSTREET’s position was explained for a third time.18 To this day, Plaintiffs have not filed a 

single discovery dispute motion with the Discovery Commissioner.  

 
B. Plaintiffs Never Sent firstSTREET Any Discovery Requests About Dealers 

That Would Have Had Absolutely No Contact With Ms. Cunnison 

None of Plaintiffs’ discovery requests sought information from firstSTREET about dealers 

that would have had absolutely nothing to do with Ms. Cunnison’s sale. In fact, Plaintiffs’ NRCP 

30(b)(6) deposition notices to firstSTREET and AITHR, which each contain 53 topics on which 

examination is sought, does not include a single topic addressing any other dealers that 

firstSTREET may have had contracts with.19 If this question, or issue had never been brought up 

by Plaintiffs, how could firstSTREET or AITHR have known about the issue, let alone produce 

documents or information related to other dealers. This case involves firstSTREET and AITHR’s 

sale of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub to Ms. Cunnison. It does not involve any other dealer that may have 

sold a similar tub to another customer in another part of the country.  

In spite of dealers not being included in the list of topics, firstSTREET’/AITHR’s NRCP 

30(b)(6) witness did his best to respond to Plaintiffs’ inquiries. Now, Plaintiffs try and spin this 

response as firstSTREET/AITHR is somehow withholding information that Plaintiffs had never 

even asked for. Yet Plaintiffs cannot cite to a single case or statute that would require 

firstSTREET/AITHR to volunteer this type of information. Plaintiffs are essentially arguing that it 

is firstSTREET/AITHR’s responsibility to develop Plaintiffs theories of liability and then to 

volunteer information – i.e., do Plaintiffs’ discovery for them. Plaintiffs have cited no authority for 

                                                           
17 See Exhibit 4. 
 
18 See Exhibit 10, deposition of David Modena, at 44:16 to 47:23. 
 
19 See Exhibit 8. 
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this outlandish proposition because none exists. Yet now Plaintiffs are seeking case terminating 

sanction against firstSTREET and AITHR without a scintilla of case law to support their 

proposition. 

Plaintiffs attempt to cite the very first Interrogatory pertaining to the dispute that is the 

basis for this motion as evidence of firstSTREET’s alleged evasiveness on this issue. First, that 

interrogatory was not propounded until September 20, 2018.20 firstSTREET timely responded to 

this discovery request by advising Plaintiffs that AITHR was the only dealer within firstSTREET. 

Significantly, the other dealers that Plaintiffs are referring to are dealers that are not within 

firstSTREET’s umbrella. That is, unlike AITHR, the other dealers are not subsidiaries of 

firstSTREET and have their own independent operations.  

firstSTREET responded to Plaintiffs’ interrogatory honestly and accurately. However, 

during the NRCP 30(b)(6) deposition, Plaintiffs’ counsel asked a different question – much broader 

than the Interrogatory, which elicited the response concerning the identities of other dealers that 

sold the Jacuzzi walk-in tubs in other parts of the country. If Plaintiffs had believed that 

firstSTREET’s interrogatory response was deficient following the NRCP 30(b)(6) deposition on 

December 11, 2018, then the appropriate course would have been to hold an EDCR 2.34 discovery 

conference. Then, if there was no resolution to the dispute, Plaintiffs should have filed an 

appropriate motion with the Discovery Commissioner. None of this ever took place. 

C. There Was No Evasive Deposition Testimony 

 Prior to the NRCP 30(b)(6) deposition of firstSTREET and AITHR, Plaintiffs counsel 

submitted a list of topics on which examination is sought.21 There Plaintiffs listed 53 different topic 

areas. One of the topic “areas” is entitled “OTHER SIMILAR INCIDENTS TESTIMONY”,22 

and covers topic numbers 48, 50, 51 and 52. Under each of these topic areas Plaintiffs limited the 

area of inquiry to “prior incidents involving slips and falls while using or while exiting or 

                                                           
20 See Exhibit 11. 
 
21 See Exhibit 8. 
 
22 See Exhibit 8, at 11:14 to 12:11. 
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entering any Jacuzzi products including not only the fall itself, but also the inability of an 

end user to remove themselves after having had fallen inside the tub.”  

 When Plaintiffs’ counsel first asked Mr. Modena questions about slips and falls causing 

injury, Mr. Modena limited his response to incidents that pre-dated Plaintiffs loss because that is 

exactly what Plaintiffs limited him to in the deposition notice. For example, when responding 

to a question concerning whether a significant complaint would reach his attention, Mr. Modena 

responded: 

 
A: … it could be the situation like with the Cunnisons that was extremely 
serious and very rare. I don’t – I can’t – I’m not sure if we – I can remember 
one even prior to that like that…23 
 

*  *  * 
 
Q: So they didn’t stand out when you – 
 
A: Well, I just – I honestly just can’t think of particular ones in general 
because it just did not happen that – I mean, you would have people raising 
concerns about certain things, but an actual injury? I just don’t – I’m just not – I 
can’t recall. I don’t remember incidents, anything like this that come up to 
that point. (emphasis added).24 

 When asked about other potential incidents, Mr. Modena again qualified his answer to 

those that took place prior to Ms. Cunnison’s loss. 

 
A: …but an actual injury? I don’t – I – I feel like there must have been one or 
two. I just – I couldn’t tell you who they were and when they were, if it was before 
that point in time.25 

 It was at this point in time where it became evident that Plaintiffs’ counsel was seeking to 

question Mr. Modena beyond the topic areas that were designated in the NRCP 30(b)(6) deposition 

notice. In light of this fact, fistSTREET’s counsel took a break to “re-educate” Mr. Modena on 

post-loss incidents on which firstSTREET had been advised. This is evident by the discussion, on 

                                                           
23 See Exhibit 10, at 22:10-16. 
 
24 Id, at 26:17-23. 
 
25 Id, at. 27:5-8. 
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the record, as to what information Plaintiffs’ counsel was seeking.26  

 After the break, Mr. Modena again cleared up the apparent confusion by advising counsel 

he had been focused on similar incidents that had taken place prior to the Cunnison date of loss. 

 
A: After the Cunnison is – because I think I was working a little bit prior – 
prior to the Cunnison – up to that point, I think I was more concerned about that, 
but – in answering that, but there – there had been two, one in Texas, Baez or 
something, and I was – I wasn’t directly notified on that one, but eventually so – 
and that went to legal counsel, and – not even sure that was an injury – we’re not 
sure that’s even an injury case. 
 
 The – probably the more significant one is Max Smith.27  

 Mr. Modena’s response to a question that was not one of the 53 topic areas in Plaintiffs’ 

deposition notice, was 100% consistent with firstSTREET’s written discovery responses, wherein 

the Baize and Smith incidents were disclosed.28 There simply was absolutely nothing evasive about 

Mr. Modena’s answers to Plaintiffs’ questions. Even if there were, the appropriate course of 

conduct would have been to (1) conduct an EDCR 2.34 discovery conference followed by (2) an 

appropriate motion with the Discovery Commissioner. On this issue, Plaintiffs did nothing. 

 firstSTREET’s position and argument on this issue is further underscored by Mr. Modena’s 

deposition testimony when he was asked point blank by Plaintiffs’ counsel why he had not 

remembered the Baize and Smith incidents: 

 
A: Well, again, I was thinking about up to that point. I thought that’s how I 
answered it. I thought we were just trying to – up to that point, what we were 
aware of.29 

 As noted, in the NRCP 30(b)(6) deposition notice, Plaintiffs limited the scope of inquiry on 

this issue to prior incidents, not subsequent incidents. 

/ / / 

                                                           

26 Id, at 28:18-25. 

 
27 Id, at 30:1-10. 
 
28 See Exhibit 2, at 15:13 to 16:5. 
 
29 See Exhibit 10, at 32:14-19. 
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D. Jerre Chopper’s Communications Do Not Relate to Any Injury 

Contrary to Plaintiffs’ inflammatory and baseless assertion, fistSTREET produced all 

documents and communications relative to any injury that occurred in a Jacuzzi walk-in tub. With 

respect to Jerre Chopper’s claims, neither her documents nor her unsupported allegations indicate 

that she sustained any injury whatsoever in the Jacuzzi walk-in tub that she purchased. Jerre 

Chopper is nothing more than an unhappy customer who took issue with the sales tactics used by 

firstSTREET, and the length of time that it took her tub to fill up. As noted by her sworn 

deposition testimony, she was never injured and never made a claim for personal injury or 

death.30 To argue, as Plaintiffs have, that the Ms. Chopper letter is the “smoking gun” only 

highlights the weakness of Plaintiffs’ case. 

Plaintiffs argument also points to letters and emails between Ms. Chopper and Jacuzzi – not 

to letters or emails between Ms. Chopper and firstSTREET or AITHR, save three (3) letters that 

Plaintiffs attached as Exhibit 19 to their Motion. The first letter, which is signed by Ms. Chopper’s 

attorney, does not relate any dangerous or slippery condition of the tub to AITHR. Rather, the 

September 28, 2012 letter is simply an attempt by Ms. Chopper, through her attorney, to get out of 

the contract that she voluntarily signed for the purchase of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub. The second 

letter, also from Ms. Chopper’s attorney, advises Ms. Chopper that AITHR has taken the position 

that the tub was installed correctly and Ms. Chopper needed to pay the balance. The third letter, 

dated November 29, 2012 from Stacy Hackney of firstSTREET to Ms. Chopper again demands 

that Ms. Chopper live up to her contractual obligation that she voluntarily entered into and pay the 

balance owing on the tub that had been delivered and installed. As evidenced by this last letter, 

there is no indication that Ms. Chopper had made firstSTREET aware of any defects or dangerous 

conditions with the Jacuzzi walk-in tub. To the contrary, these letters merely show a customer that 

is suffering from “buyers remorse”. 

The final letter, dated December 4, 2012, is not signed by Ms. Chopper. In fact, unlike all 

the other letters in Plaintiffs Exhibit 19, the signature block is blank. Assuming that this letter was 

                                                           
30 See Deposition Transcript of Jerre Chopper at 132:1-12; 91:23-93:23, excerpts attached as Exhibit 12. 
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in fact sent, Ms. Chopper primarily complains about how long it took to get the tub installed, the 

issues she had with the installation, the conversations she had with her attorney, and her outright 

refusal to live up to her contractual obligations. On page 2 of her letter, she also complains about 

how long it takes for the tub to fill up and as an aside notes that if she had a medical emergency 

while in the tub she would not be able to get out because the door opens inward. The December 4, 

2012 correspondence to firstSTREET is completely void of any reference to Ms. Chopper actually 

sustaining an injury in the Jacuzzi walk-in tub or even slipping in the Jacuzzi walk-in tub. In other 

words, there is absolutely nothing in Ms. Chopper’s letter that would have required firstSTREET or 

AITHR to produce this letter or identify Ms. Chopper as she is simply a dissatisfied purchaser that 

wants her money back. 

Plaintiffs, however, blatantly mislead this Court by claiming that Ms. Chopper informed 

firstSTREET and AITHR that the Tub was a “death trap”; is not “safe because the tub is wet, your 

feet are wet and the threshold is too high and slick”; and that if a senior lives alone it could be 

hours before they are discovered. See Plaintiffs’ Motion at 9:9-20. Plaintiffs fail to advise this Court 

that Ms. Chopper never conveyed any of these concerns directly to firstSTREET or 

AITHR. Rather, the primary concern Ms. Chopper conveyed was that she wanted out of her 

contractual obligation to purchase the Tub.  

Finally, as noted previously, Plaintiffs served an NRCP 30(b)(6) deposition notices to 

firstSTREET and AITHR. In these notices, Plaintiffs identified 53 topic areas, several of which 

sought information relative to incidents “involving slips and falls while using or while exiting or 

entering any Jacuzzi products.” See for example, Topic 10 in Exhibit 8. Ms. Chopper’s letters and 

deposition testimony do not reveal any actual incidents “involving slips and falls while using or 

while exiting or entering any Jacuzzi products.” Therefore, not only was Ms. Chopper’s 

correspondence not relevant nor discoverable, they were not items for which firstSTREET and 

AITHR’s NRCP 30(b)(6) designees were advised to be aware of. 

E. Claims Related to Slipperiness of the Tub 

As detailed above, Plaintiffs’ theory has materially changed throughout the litigation. First, 

Plaintiffs claimed the incident was due to the Tub not draining, trapping Decedent in the tub. After 
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pursuing that claim for about 18 months, testing proved the claim had no merit. Then, Plaintiffs 

changed the theory of defect to vague references related to the placement of grab bars and an 

inward opening door. Plaintiffs now apparently assert that a “critical part of Plaintiffs’ allegations” 

deal with slipperiness of the Tub, citing to Paragraphs 75-91 of the Fourth Amended Complaint. 

See Plaintiffs’ Motion at 6:1 to 7:9. It is impossible to reconcile this bold statement by Plaintiffs’ in 

the motion with the simple fact that the allegations in the Fourth Amended Complaint do not 

contain a single reference to “slipperiness” or “slip”.31 In fact, Plaintiffs’ own expert Lila Laux, 

testified during her deposition on October 30, 2018, that she was not critical of the Tub’s 

slipperiness: 

 
Q What’s the significance of that document? 
 
A Well, that was something that plaintiffs’ counsel sent me and it’s a study of 
the slipperiness of a tub, two kinds of surfaces. It’s actually quite an excellent study – 
it’s old but it’s good – about what makes a tub slippery. We all know people slip in 
tubs, so what surface is better to prevent that. I have a house with 55-year-old tubs 
and they don't have any kind of slip resistance. 
 
Q Are you critical of the slip resistance 5 in the Jacuzzi 5229 Walk-In 
Bathtub? 
 
A I’m not going to have any criticism of that. 
 
Q What significance did this particular publication have to your report? 
 
A  To my report, it was just evidence that the business about slipperiness of 
tubs has been recognized for a long, long time.32 
 

For Plaintiffs to now represent to the Court that “critical” “allegations” of the Complaint deal with 

slipperiness is an intentionally misleading claim.  

 Similarly, Plaintiffs’ statement that Plaintiffs learned that firstSTREET has acted in bad 

faith after Mr. Modena provided testimony relative to communications between firstSTREET and 

Jacuzzi on this issue is misplaced and demonstrably false. First, not once did Plaintiffs propound 

                                                           
31 See Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amended Complaint, attached as Exhibit 6. 
 
32 See Deposition of Lila Laux (October 30, 2018) at 25:20-26:12, excerpts attached as Exhibit 13. 
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written discovery seeking information on the slipperiness of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub. Second, the 

testimony provided by Mr. Modena dealt with communications that took place after Plaintiffs date 

of loss. As discussed in other sections of this Opposition, firstSTREET and AITHR have made it 

abundantly clear to Plaintiffs that they have not, and will not without a court order, produce 

documents that post-date Plaintiffs’ date of loss. Instead of addressing this issue with the Discovery 

Commissioner, Plaintiffs have elected to file a case terminating sanction motion with absolutely no 

support and only false and misleading arguments. 

 First, when Mr. Modena was asked about “slippery floors” he testified that it was a “relative 

question” as it would be relevant if there were injuries, but may not be relevant if it was only a 

concern of a customer.33 Mr. Modena then went on to state that the issue had been “discussed…a 

couple of times with Jacuzzi”.34 However, Mr. Modena made it clear that he did not know when 

those discussions took place or how many discussions there were. Mr. Modena just generally noted 

that the discussions were probably in the 2014 time frame.35 Plaintiffs, without any evidence 

whatsoever, have simply assumed that these discussions pre-dated Plaintiffs date of loss. In fact, 

when asked to provide a time frame, Plaintiffs’ counsel simply said “ever”.36  

 Moreover, Mr. Modena advised Plaintiffs that the issue only came up when a customer had 

made a comment about it. Significantly, the issue had never come up when it concerned an incident 

– an actual slip and/or fall in the tub that caused an injury. Mr. Modena further testified that the 

discussions would have been in emails between firstSTREET and AITHR. Therefore, if the 

discussion had come up prior to Plaintiffs’ date of loss, those emails would have been produced. 

However, if the discussions post-dated Plaintiffs’ date of loss, the emails would not have been 

disclosed – a fact that had been conveyed to Plaintiffs’ counsel numerous times.37  Finally, Mr. 

                                                           
33 See Exhibit 10, at 38:19-25. 
 
34 Id., at 39:13-24. 
 
35 Id., at 40:18-25. 
 
36 Id., at 43:3-6 
 
37 Id., at 44:16-45:8. 
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Modena’s deposition has not concluded. Therefore, there has been no opportunity for 

firstSTREET or AITHR to ask Mr. Modena questions which would clear up the confusion that has 

been created by Plaintiffs’ counsel’s open-ended questions. 

Plaintiffs have not pointed to a single discovery request seeking information relative to the 

slipperiness of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub, and firstSTREET and AITHR have not been ordered to 

produce any discovery on slipperiness. More importantly, Plaintiffs’ current liability theories appear 

to have nothing to do with the slipperiness of the tub’s floor, but rather with the slipperiness of the 

tub’s seat. 

Plaintiffs’ instant Motion improperly suggests that Defendants firstSTREET and AITHR 

are somehow obligated to produce every document wherein a customer claims to have slipped—

regardless of whether such a claim involved injury, or if it was simply a statement from a customer. 

Mandating such a disclosure requirement where there is no reference to slipping in the Fourth 

Amended Complaint would be nonsensical as it would be without regard to relevancy.38 It is 

axiomatic that a bathtub, water, gels, shampoos and soap can combine for slips in all bathtubs, or 

make the surface “slippery” without anyone actually experiencing a slip and fall. In fact, as noted 

above, Plaintiffs’ own expert testified that “slipperiness of tubs has been recognized for a long, long 

time.” 

Nevertheless, Plaintiffs argue that they are entitled to case terminating sanctions because 

“Defendants have entirely failed to produce: [a]ny internal e-mails regarding the slipperiness issues; 

[a]ny e-mails among Defendants regarding the slipperiness issues; [a]ny e-mails regarding the 

Kahuna Grip product; [a]ny internal e-mails about customer complaints about the slipperiness of 

the Tub; [a]ny e-mails among Defendants regarding customer complaints about the slipperiness of 

the Tub; [and] [a]any customer complaints on this issue.” Plaintiffs’ Motion at 2:22 to 3:5 and 30:15 

to 31:5. Putting aside the ridiculousness of Plaintiffs’ assertion, Plaintiffs have never brought a 

Motion to Compel against firstSTREET or AITHR before the Discovery Commissioner on claims 

                                                           
38 See Schlatter v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 93 Nev. 189, 192, 561 P.2d 1342, 1343–44 (1977)(“… respondent’s order went 
beyond this and permitted carte blanche discovery of all information contained in these materials without regard to 
relevancy. Our discovery rules provide no basis for such an invasion into a litigant's private affairs merely because 
redress is sought for personal injury. Respondent court therefore exceeded its jurisdiction by ordering disclosure of 
information neither relevant to the tendered issues nor leading to discovery of admissible evidence”). 
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related to slipperiness, let alone attempted to meet and confer with firstSTREET or AITHR over 

these issues—which would be the appropriate course of action. Instead of allowing the Discovery 

Commissioner an opportunity to hear all parties’ arguments and render a ruling on this new 

“slipperiness issue,” Plaintiffs instead improperly chose to bypass the rules and file a motion for 

terminating sanctions. The Court should not entertain or encourage this behavior. 

Moreover, the Kahuna Grip product that Plaintiffs reference in their motion was a product 

that could have been applied to the floor of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub. However, Plaintiffs’ theory 

of liability is no longer focused on the floor of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub, rather it is focused on the 

slipperiness of the seat of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub. As Plaintiffs argued on the very first page of 

this motion, “[d]ue to the defective design of the Tub, Sherry slipped off the seat while reaching 

for the Tub controls and became wedged in such a way that she was unable to stand back up.” 

Plaintiffs’ Motion at 1:13-16.39 By Plaintiffs’ counsel’s own admission, as well as that of their expert, 

Dr. Laux, the Kahuna Grip product is wholly irrelevant to this litigation as it would never have 

been applied to the seat of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub. 

IV.  

LEGAL STANDARD 

A. Plaintiffs’ Motion is Improperly Before the Court 

Discovery motions are required to be presented to the Discovery Commissioner – in fact 

that is the sole purpose of the Discovery Commissioner. Plaintiffs ignored this requirement of the 

Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure and rules of the Eighth Judicial District Court by filing the current 

Motion directly with this Court. In fact, entertaining and/or granting this Motion would essentially 

eliminate the need for a Discovery Commissioner. 

NRCP 16.1(d) provides that “all discovery disputes (except those presented at the pretrial 

conference or trial) must first be heard by the discovery commissioner.” Despite these provisions, 

Plaintiffs filed what is essentially a Motion to Compel and a Motion for Discovery Sanctions for 

                                                           
39 See also Exhibit 8, wherein Plaintiffs describes the incident as “Plaintiff slipping off the seat and falling into the 
bottom of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub and being unable to get out of the tub afterwards” (Topic 5). The topic area makes 
no reference to the slipperiness of the floor of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub, which is where the Kahuna Grips were to be 
placed. 
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this Court’s consideration, not the Discovery Commissioner’s consideration. This improper 

attempt to side-step the requirements of the Rules of Civil Procedure should not be allowed where 

it is the Discovery Commissioner’s duty to resolve exactly these types of dispute–whether certain 

discovery is proper and unobjectionable and what documents, if any, should be produced. 

Accordingly, the Commissioner is in the best position to determine if Plaintiffs are even entitled to 

the discovery they now claim firstSTREET and AITHR wrongful withheld, or if the discovery 

Plaintiffs now seek is overly broad, irrelevant and merely another attempt to harass and place an 

undue burden on firstSTREET and AITHR.  

Plaintiffs have not filed a single Motion to Compel against firstSTREET or AITHR. There 

are no Discovery Commissioner Orders that have been violated by firstSTREET or AITHR. The 

newest allegations concerning Jerre Chopper’s documents and the “slipperiness issues,” have not 

even been the subject of an EDCR 2.34 meet and confer conference which is predicated before any 

discovery motion is filed, let alone a case terminating sanction motion. 

B. Case Terminating Sanctions are Improper40 

firstSTREET and AITHR have properly responded to discovery throughout this action, 

raising objections when deemed proper, otherwise Plaintiffs would have surely filed the necessary 

Motion to Compel with the Discovery Commissioner.41 There are no Discovery Orders issued 

against firstSTREET or AITHR. In fact, the sole basis for Plaintiffs’ Motion is that Plaintiffs claim 

firstSTREET and AITHR should have produced certain documents as part of their NRCP 16.1 

Early Case Conference disclosures, even though firstSTREET and AITHR have advised counsel 

why documents that post-date Plaintiffs loss have not been produced.42 

While NRCP 37(d) does allow for the imposition of sanctions, the Nevada Supreme Court 

has stated, “[g]enerally, NRCP 37 authorizes discovery sanctions only if there has been willful 

noncompliance with a discovery order of the court.” Importantly, case-ending sanctions require 

                                                           
40 Again, many of the arguments and cites presented in Jacuzzi’s Opposition are equally applicable to firstSTREET and 
AITHR’s Opposition, and are being set forth herein. 
 
41 This is perhaps best evidenced by the numerous Motions to Compel and the discovery disputes between Plaintiffs and 
Defendant Jacuzzi that have taken place over the last year and a half. 
 
42 See Exhibit 10, at 44:18 to 47:23 and Exhibit 5.  

0548



 

-21- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

a heightened standard of review. Foster v. Dingwall, 126 Nev. 56, 65, 227 P.3d 1042 (2010). 

Fundamental notions of fairness and due process require that discovery sanctions be just and that 

sanctions relate to the specific conduct at issue. Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 92 

(1990). Additionally, any case-terminating order requires “an express, careful and preferably written 

explanation of the court’s analysis of the pertinent factors.” Id., at 93. The Young factors the Court 

must consider include: 

 
The degree of willfulness of the offending party, the extent to which the non-
offending party would be prejudiced by a lesser sanction, the severity of the sanction 
of dismissal relative to the severity of the discovery abuse, whether any evidence has 
been irreparably lost, the feasibility and fairness of alternative, less severe sanctions, 
such as an order deeming facts relating to improperly withheld or destroyed evidence 
to be admitted by the offending party, the policy favoring adjudication on the merits, 
whether sanctions unfairly operate to penalize a party for the misconduct of his or 
her attorney, and the need to deter both the parties and future litigants from similar 
abuses. 

Id. 

 While dismissal need not be preceded by other less severe sanctions, it should only be 

imposed after thoughtful consideration of all the factors involved in a particular case. Id., at 92. The 

dismissal of a case, based upon a discovery abuse such as the destruction or loss of evidence 

“should be used only in extreme situations; if less drastic sanctions are available, they should be 

utilized. Nevada Power v. Fluor Illinois, 108 Nev. 638, 645 (1992).  

In Young, plaintiff Bill Young willfully fabricated evidence during discovery. 106 Nev. At 90, 

787 P.2d at 778. He added two sets of notations to his business diaries just before turning the 

diaries over but claimed that he added the entries over a year prior to production. Id. The district 

court offered Young the opportunity to clarify his position, but Young never did. Id. The district 

court issued terminating sanctions only after a finding that Young had willfully fabricated evidence 

and refused to clarify his position. Id. at 91, 787 P.2d at 778. But the Supreme Court of Nevada 

recognized the importance of resolving cases based on their merits and cautioned that district 

courts must be hesitant when contemplating terminating sanctions: “[w]here the sanction is one of 

dismissal with prejudice . . . we believe that a somewhat heightened standard of review should 

apply.” Id. at 92, 787 P.2d at 779. The reason for this is two-fold. First, fundamental notions of due 
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process require that “discovery sanctions for discovery abuses be just and that the sanctions relate 

to the claims which were at issue in the discovery order which is violated.” Id. at 92, 787 P.2d at 

780 (emphasis added). Second, dismissal should be imposed “only after thoughtful consideration of 

all the factors involved in the particular case.” Id. 

More critically, before this Court can enter case terminating sanctions, the Nevada Supreme 

Court requires the District Court hold an evidentiary hearing on the issue of sanctions. McDonald v. 

Shamrock Investments, LLC, 127 Nev. 1158, 373 P.3d 941 (2011) (“the district court abused its 

discretion in striking [defendant’s] answer without holding an evidentiary hearing to consider the 

pertinent Young factors.”) (citing Nevada Power v. Fluor Illinois, 108 Nev. 638, 645, 837 P.2d 1354, 

1359 (1992) (“If the party against whom dismissal may be imposed raises a question of fact as to 

any of [the Young] factors, the court must allow the parties to address the relevant factors in an 

evidentiary hearing.”); Young, 106 Nev. at 93, 787 P.2d at 780 (noting that the case concluding 

sanction imposed was fair because “a full evidentiary hearing” relating to the discovery abuses was 

conducted)). Despite these procedural protections, Plaintiffs’ have attempted to sandbag 

firstSTREET and AITHR with the instant Motion for case terminating sanctions on an 

unnecessary order shortening time43—requiring firstSTREET and AITHR to oppose Plaintiffs’ 

360-page meritless motion with over 350 pages of exhibits on an expedited briefing schedule. 

V.  

ARGUMENT 

 
A. Striking firstSTREET’s and AITHR’s Answers Are Not Supported by 

Nevada Law 

Nevada law does not support striking firstSTREET or AITHR’s answers because 

firstSTREET and AITHR have not engaged in any discovery abuse. Rather, striking firstSTREET 

or AITHR’s answers is particularly disproportionate to any of their alleged conduct in this case, 

particularly because Plaintiffs have filed no motions with the Discovery Commissioner seeking 

                                                           
43 firstSTREET and AITHR incorporate its Motion for Reconsideration filed with the Court on January 23, 2109 and 
the discussions and reasoning set forth therein, as though fully set forth in this Opposition. Significantly, firstSTREET 
points this Court to the blatantly false Affidavit that Plaintiffs counsel utilized to obtain an Order Shortening Time for 
this motion for a case terminating sanction. See Exhibit 1.  
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redress from any of the alleged misconduct. Moreover, firstSTREET and AITHR have clearly 

disclosed to Plaintiffs’ counsel the basis for not producing any documents that post-date Plaintiffs’ 

date of loss. Simply put, the parties have agreed to disagree. “Fundamental notions of fairness and 

due process require that discovery sanctions be just and that sanctions relate to specific conduct at 

issue.” GNLV Corp. v. Service Control Corp., 900 P.2d 323, 111 Nev. 866 (1995). There is no basis 

under NRCP 16.1 or NRCP 37 for sanctions. 

i. Sanctions are not warranted under the Young factors. 

firstSTREET and AITHR have responded to all discovery requests propounded by 

Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs have not disputed any of these discovery responses, nor the basis for any 

objections or limited disclosures, with the Discovery Commissioner, or with this Court, prior to the 

filing of the instant motion. firstSTREET and AITHR have engaged in good faith meet and confer 

conferences with Plaintiffs’ counsel and clearly explained their position on the disputed discovery. 

Certainly, firstSTREET and AITHR’s conduct cannot be compared to the conduct that occurred in 

Young. Plaintiffs’ cursory analysis of the Young factors further confirms this. 

1. Degree of Willfulness 

Plaintiffs’ analysis of the first Young factor is nothing more than supposition, without any 

cite to actual fact in this case. The allegations in this case against firstSTREET and AITHR only 

deal with how the Jacuzzi walk-in tub was sold to Ms. Cunnison. As Plaintiffs are aware, 

firstSTREET marketed the Jacuzzi walk-in tub and AITHR was the dealer that ultimately sold the 

tub to Ms. Cunnison. Not once have Plaintiffs sent written discovery to firstSTREET or AITHR 

concerning dealers that may have sold the Jacuzzi walk-in tub to other customers in other states, 

who would have had absolutely no contact with Ms. Cunnison. Without receiving such written 

discovery, it is impossible for firstSTREET or AITHR to have wrongfully withheld the names of 

these dealers. 

In fact, when Plaintiffs’ counsel asked this question for the very first time during the 

deposition of firstSTREET and AITHR’s NRCP 30(b)(6) witness, this information was freely 
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disclosed.44 However, Plaintiffs’ own NRCP 30(b)(6) deposition notices for firstSTREET and 

AITHR do not contain a single topic area that could be interpreted as Plaintiffs seeking 

information concerning dealers other than AITHR. There is simply no way that firstSTREET or 

AITHR could have been put on notice that this information was being sought by Plaintiffs at any 

point in time prior to the December 11, 2018 deposition. If they were not aware of Plaintiffs’ 

strategy, then it is impossible for them to have deliberately withheld any documents or information 

on this subject 

Plaintiffs’ argument appears to focus on the discovery disputes they have had with Jacuzzi, 

yet they provide absolutely no authority or insight as to why those disputes would have applied to 

firstSTREET or AITHR. As firstSTREET and AITHR have noted in all discovery responses, they 

played no part in the design or manufacture of the Jacuzzi walk-in tub. Therefore, discovery 

disputes between Plaintiffs and the manufacturer Jacuzzi would have no bearing on the allegations 

and claims against firstSTREET and AITHR. 

As for the timing of firstSTREET’s disclosure of email communications, this is simply a 

matter of counsel being able to complete a review and analysis of over 110,000 emails. When 

firstSTREET was asked to produce documents that pre-dated the Plaintiffs’ date of loss for the 

first time in discovery that was sent out in September 2018, firstSTREET did not have the capacity 

to isolate out the relevant emails. As such, firstSTREET provided counsel with over 110,000 emails 

that covered the relevant time period. Counsel then had to review each email individually to 

determine if it was responsive to Plaintiffs’ discovery requests. As this Court can imagine, reviewing 

and examining for relevance over 110,000 emails can take much longer than anticipated, especially 

when efforts to apply simple search terms to narrow the task proved unsuccessful. 

As a result of the enormity of this task, counsel for firstSTREET and AITHR advised 

Plaintiffs’ counsel that it would be unable to produce the communications between firstSTREET 

                                                           
44 During Mr. Modena’s deposition, Plaintiffs’ counsel indicated that he would send an email with a list of the items that 
the parties had agreed to produce informally without a formal Request for Production of Documents. To date, Plaintiffs 
counsel has not sent such a list. However, after reviewing Mr. Modena’s deposition, firstSTREET and AITHR’s counsel 
voluntarily supplemented their Early Case Conference disclosures with this information. See fistSTREET and AITHR’s 
Fourth Supplemental Early Case Conference Production, attached as Exhibit 14. 
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and AITHR that pre-dated the Plaintiffs’ loss prior to the re-set deposition of Jacuzzi’s NRCP 

30(b)(6) witness. In spite of this notification, and request to delay the deposition, Plaintiffs elected 

to proceed with the second of Jacuzzi’s NRCP 30(b)(6) witness deposition. 

2. Plaintiff Has Not Been Prejudiced 

Plaintiffs’ arguments regarding the prejudice of a lesser sanction are predicated on falsities. 

Plaintiffs elected to wait until December 11, 2018 to take the deposition of firstSTREET and 

AITHR’s NRCP 30(b)(6) witness. There was nothing stopping Plaintiffs from completing this 

deposition months and months prior to the discovery cut off. Their decision/strategy to delay this 

deposition is why we are now months away from trial and they are now just learning of other 

dealers. Their decision/strategy to not ask a single interrogatory about firstSTREET or AITHR’s 

roles, or about any other dealers (choosing instead to ask questions about firstSTREET and 

AITHR designing and manufacturing the product) is why they first learned of other dealers during 

the NRCP 30(b)(6) deposition. firstSTREET and AITHR responded to all discovery requests and 

played no part in Plaintiffs strategy/decision to delay the NRCP 30(b)(6) deposition, other than 

standard scheduling issues coordinating travel with three parties. firstSTREET and AITHR have no 

“prevented” Plaintiffs from seeking information from other dealers. Plaintiffs have no one to 

blame, but themselves. 

Plaintiffs infer that their ability to litigate has been irreparably damaged. This is false. 

firstSTREET and AITHR have responded to Plaintiffs’ discovery requests and have produced a 

witness responsive to the topic areas in their NRCP 30(b)(6) deposition notice. It is Plaintiffs that 

have materially changed their theories of liability throughout this litigation, settling now on the 

slipperiness aspect of a tub – and in particular focusing in on the seat of the tub. Plaintiffs’ have 

created this situation, not firstSTREET or AITHR, especially when no motions were filed with the 

Discovery Commissioner when counsel explained why no post loss documents were being 

produced.  

Plaintiffs also argue that Mr. Modena testified that there were numerous discussions with 

Jacuzzi about the slipperiness of the tub prior to Ms. Cunnison’s death. This is simply not true. As 

argued in this Opposition at pages 15 to 18, there is no evidence that these discussions took place 
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before Plaintiffs’ date of loss. Mr. Modena simply testified that they may have taken place in late 

2013 or sometime during 2014. 

 
3. Striking firstSTREET and AITHR’s Answers Are Grossly 

Disproportionate to firstSTREET and AITHR’s Alleged 
Actions 

firstSTREET and AITHR’s alleged actions—which were not discovery abuses—do not 

warrant this heavy sanction under the Young factors, as demonstrated by Plaintiffs’ own cursory 

analysis. As outlined above, Nevada courts have struck a party’s answer when the party has willfully 

violated a court order—not when a party did not disclose irrelevant documents and consistently 

informed the opposing party exactly what they were disclosing and what they were not disclosing. 

Plaintiffs have not filed a single discovery motion against firstSTREET or AITHR. There are no 

discovery orders that could have been violated. 

4. Nevada’s Policy Favors Adjudication on the Merits 

Plaintiffs entirely ignore Young’s acknowledgment of Nevada’s policy favoring adjudication 

on the merits. Striking firstSTREET and AITHR’s Answers would controvert that policy. Striking 

their Answers without a single motion being filed with the Discovery Commissioner or any 

evidence that firstSTREET or AITHR violated a court order or a mandated discovery disclosure 

would be an egregious error by this Court. This is not a case like Young where a party tampered with 

evidence or entirely destroyed it, which the courts found may warrant total dismissal. Plaintiffs give 

no reason why this case—which the parties have been dutifully litigating since March 2016—should 

not be given the opportunity to be adjudicated on its merits. 

5. Punishment of a Party for Counsel’s Conduct 

Punishment of  a party for its counsel’s conduct, is inapplicable here. There have been no 

such abuses. firstSTREET and AITHR’s attorneys and in-house outside counsel oversaw the 

searches and analysis of documents being sought in Plaintiffs’ discovery requests. firstSTREET and 

AITHR have maintained from the beginning that there were no prior similar incidents involving 

personal injury or death. No one has withheld any evidence.  

/ / / 
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6. Sanctioning the Parties Will Not Deter Other Litigants 
Because firstSTREET and AITHR Have Done Nothing 
Wrong 

There is no need (or reason) to sanction firstSTREET or AITHR to deter other litigants. 

Discovery abuses should be sanctioned, but there is no discovery abuse here. No Motions to 

compel were filed, let alone ruled upon by the Discovery Commissioner. firstSTREET and AITHR 

have not violated any court order. firstSTREET and AITHR have not manufactured any evidence 

or altered any evidence. In fact, if the Court were to grant Plaintiffs’ motion it would encourage 

Plaintiffs to forego EDCR 2.34 discovery dispute conferences and filing motions to compel with 

the Discovery Commissioner, putting all of their eggs in one basket – a Motion to Strike a 

Defendant’s Answer and obtain case terminating sanctions. 

VI.  

CONCLUSION 

As explained above, Plaintiffs base their motion for the most severe sanctions imaginable 

on contrived arguments which never rose to the level of filing a motion before the Discovery 

Commissioner. The facts are undisputed that firstSTREET and AITHR responded to all written 

discovery requests and explained to Plaintiffs’ counsel why post date of loss documents were not 

being disclosed. As evidenced by the fact that Plaintiffs, not once, have disputed firstSTREET and 

AITHR’s discovery responses with the Discovery Commissioner, it is apparent that Plaintiffs’ 

Motion is meritless and a waste of the parties’ and the Court’s resources.  

 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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Furthermore, as noted in firstSTREET and AITHR’s Motion for Reconsideration of 

Court’s Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Request for Order Shortening Time, Plaintiffs false and 

misleading statements to this Court concerning firstSTREET and AITHR’s discovery cannot justify 

this Court hearing this type of terminating sanction motion on an order shortening time. This is yet 

just another example of the desperate tactics engaged in by Plaintiffs and their efforts to overcome 

what they know is a “losing” case. firstSTREET and AITHR respectfully request this Honorable 

Court DENY Plaintiffs’ Motion in its entirety. 

 DATED this 28th day of January, 2019. 

 
      THORNDAL ARMSTRONG DELK 
      BALKENBUSH & EISINGER 
 
      /s/ Philip Goodhart 
              
      PHILIP GOODHART, ESQ. 

Nevada Bar No. 5332 
MICHAEL C. HETEY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 5668 

      MEGHAN M. GOODWIN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11974 

      1100 East Bridger Avenue 
      Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
      Attorneys for Defendants/Cross-Defendants,  
      FIRSTSTREET FOR BOOMERS AND BEYOND,  
      INC., and AITHR DEALER, INC. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 28th day of January, 2019, service of the above and 

foregoing DEFENDANTS’ FIRSTSTREET AND AITHR’S OPPSOITION TO PLAINTIFFS’ 

MOTION TO STRIKE DEFENDANTS FIRSTSTREET AND AITHR’S ANSWERS FOR 

DISCOVERY ABUSES, ON ORDER SHORTENING TIME was made upon each of the parties 

via electronic service through the Eighth Judicial District Court’s Odyssey E-File and Serve system. 

 

Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq. 
Richard Harris Law Firm 
801 South Fourth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Charles Allen Law Firm, P.C. 
3575 Piedmont Road, NE 
Building 15, Suite L-130 
Atlanta, Georgia  30305 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 
Vaughn A. Crawford, Esq. 
Morgan Petrelli, Esq. 
Snell & Wilmer LLP 
3883 Howard Hughes Pkwy., Ste. 1100 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89169 
Attorneys for Defendant,  
JACUZZI INC. dba JACUZZI  
LUXURY BATH 

 
Hale Benton  
26479 West Potter Drive 
Buckeye, AZ 85396 

 
D. Lee Roberts, Jr., Esq. 
Brittany M. Llewellyn, Esq. 
Weinberg, Wheeler, Hudgins,  
Gunn & Dial, LLC 
6385 South Rainbow Blvd., Suite 400 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
Attorneys for Defendant, 
JACUZZI INC. dba JACUZZI  
LUXURY BATH 

 

 
      /s/ Stefanie Mitchell  
              
      An employee of THORNDAL ARMSTRONG 
      DELK BALKENBUSH & EISINGER 

0557


	1
	1. 2018 0918 Opp to Def Jacuzzi's Motion for Protective Order on OST.ef
	2
	2. 2019 0116 Motion.ef
	3
	3. 2019 0128 Defs' Opp.ef
	firstSTREET Opposition to Motion to Strike - FINAL.pdf
	Combine.pdf
	Exhibit 1.pdf
	Exhibit 2.pdf
	Exhibit 2.pdf
	Exhibit 3.pdf
	Exhibit 3.pdf
	Exhibit 4.pdf
	Exhibit 4.pdf
	Exhibit 5.pdf
	Exhibit 5.pdf
	Exhibit 6.pdf
	Exhibit 6.pdf
	Exhibit 7.pdf
	Exhibit 7.pdf
	Exhibit 8.pdf
	Exhibit 8a.pdf
	Exhibit 8b.pdf
	Exhibit  9.pdf
	Exhibit 9.pdf
	Exhibit  10.pdf
	Exhibit 10.pdf
	Exhibit  11.pdf
	Exhibit 11a.pdf
	DOC2.pdf
	Exhibit 11B.pdf
	Exhibit 12.pdf
	Exhibit 12.pdf
	Exhibit 13.pdf
	Exhibit 13.pdf
	Exhibit 14.pdf
	Exhibit 14.pdf


	4
	4. 2019 0128 Defs' Opp.Corrected Exhibits.ef
	5
	5. 2020 1118 Order Striking Jacuzzi's Answer.ef
	1
	1. 2018 0918 Opp to Def Jacuzzi's Motion for Protective Order on OST.ef
	2
	2. 2019 0116 Motion.ef
	3
	3. 2019 0128 Defs' Opp.ef
	firstSTREET Opposition to Motion to Strike - FINAL.pdf
	Combine.pdf
	Exhibit 1.pdf
	Exhibit 2.pdf
	Exhibit 2.pdf
	Exhibit 3.pdf
	Exhibit 3.pdf
	Exhibit 4.pdf
	Exhibit 4.pdf
	Exhibit 5.pdf
	Exhibit 5.pdf
	Exhibit 6.pdf
	Exhibit 6.pdf
	Exhibit 7.pdf
	Exhibit 7.pdf
	Exhibit 8.pdf
	Exhibit 8a.pdf
	Exhibit 8b.pdf
	Exhibit  9.pdf
	Exhibit 9.pdf
	Exhibit  10.pdf
	Exhibit 10.pdf
	Exhibit  11.pdf
	Exhibit 11a.pdf
	DOC2.pdf
	Exhibit 11B.pdf
	Exhibit 12.pdf
	Exhibit 12.pdf
	Exhibit 13.pdf
	Exhibit 13.pdf
	Exhibit 14.pdf
	Exhibit 14.pdf


	4
	4. 2019 0128 Defs' Opp.Corrected Exhibits.ef
	5
	5. 2020 1118 Order Striking Jacuzzi's Answer.ef
	1
	1. 2018 0918 Opp to Def Jacuzzi's Motion for Protective Order on OST.ef
	2
	2. 2019 0116 Motion.ef
	3
	3. 2019 0128 Defs' Opp.ef
	firstSTREET Opposition to Motion to Strike - FINAL.pdf
	Combine.pdf
	Exhibit 1.pdf
	Exhibit 2.pdf
	Exhibit 2.pdf
	Exhibit 3.pdf
	Exhibit 3.pdf
	Exhibit 4.pdf
	Exhibit 4.pdf
	Exhibit 5.pdf
	Exhibit 5.pdf
	Exhibit 6.pdf
	Exhibit 6.pdf
	Exhibit 7.pdf
	Exhibit 7.pdf
	Exhibit 8.pdf
	Exhibit 8a.pdf
	Exhibit 8b.pdf
	Exhibit  9.pdf
	Exhibit 9.pdf
	Exhibit  10.pdf
	Exhibit 10.pdf
	Exhibit  11.pdf
	Exhibit 11a.pdf
	DOC2.pdf
	Exhibit 11B.pdf
	Exhibit 12.pdf
	Exhibit 12.pdf
	Exhibit 13.pdf
	Exhibit 13.pdf
	Exhibit 14.pdf
	Exhibit 14.pdf


	4
	4. 2019 0128 Defs' Opp.Corrected Exhibits.ef
	5
	5. 2020 1118 Order Striking Jacuzzi's Answer.ef
	1
	1. 2018 0918 Opp to Def Jacuzzi's Motion for Protective Order on OST.ef
	2
	2. 2019 0116 Motion.ef
	3
	3. 2019 0128 Defs' Opp.ef
	firstSTREET Opposition to Motion to Strike - FINAL.pdf
	Combine.pdf
	Exhibit 1.pdf
	Exhibit 2.pdf
	Exhibit 2.pdf
	Exhibit 3.pdf
	Exhibit 3.pdf
	Exhibit 4.pdf
	Exhibit 4.pdf
	Exhibit 5.pdf
	Exhibit 5.pdf
	Exhibit 6.pdf
	Exhibit 6.pdf
	Exhibit 7.pdf
	Exhibit 7.pdf
	Exhibit 8.pdf
	Exhibit 8a.pdf
	Exhibit 8b.pdf
	Exhibit  9.pdf
	Exhibit 9.pdf
	Exhibit  10.pdf
	Exhibit 10.pdf
	Exhibit  11.pdf
	Exhibit 11a.pdf
	DOC2.pdf
	Exhibit 11B.pdf
	Exhibit 12.pdf
	Exhibit 12.pdf
	Exhibit 13.pdf
	Exhibit 13.pdf
	Exhibit 14.pdf
	Exhibit 14.pdf


	4
	4. 2019 0128 Defs' Opp.Corrected Exhibits.ef
	5
	5. 2020 1118 Order Striking Jacuzzi's Answer.ef
	1
	1. 2018 0918 Opp to Def Jacuzzi's Motion for Protective Order on OST.ef
	2
	2. 2019 0116 Motion.ef
	3
	3. 2019 0128 Defs' Opp.ef
	firstSTREET Opposition to Motion to Strike - FINAL.pdf
	Combine.pdf
	Exhibit 1.pdf
	Exhibit 2.pdf
	Exhibit 2.pdf
	Exhibit 3.pdf
	Exhibit 3.pdf
	Exhibit 4.pdf
	Exhibit 4.pdf
	Exhibit 5.pdf
	Exhibit 5.pdf
	Exhibit 6.pdf
	Exhibit 6.pdf
	Exhibit 7.pdf
	Exhibit 7.pdf
	Exhibit 8.pdf
	Exhibit 8a.pdf
	Exhibit 8b.pdf
	Exhibit  9.pdf
	Exhibit 9.pdf
	Exhibit  10.pdf
	Exhibit 10.pdf
	Exhibit  11.pdf
	Exhibit 11a.pdf
	DOC2.pdf
	Exhibit 11B.pdf
	Exhibit 12.pdf
	Exhibit 12.pdf
	Exhibit 13.pdf
	Exhibit 13.pdf
	Exhibit 14.pdf
	Exhibit 14.pdf


	4
	4. 2019 0128 Defs' Opp.Corrected Exhibits.ef
	5
	5. 2020 1118 Order Striking Jacuzzi's Answer.ef
	1
	1. 2018 0918 Opp to Def Jacuzzi's Motion for Protective Order on OST.ef
	2
	2. 2019 0116 Motion.ef
	3
	3. 2019 0128 Defs' Opp.ef
	firstSTREET Opposition to Motion to Strike - FINAL.pdf
	Combine.pdf
	Exhibit 1.pdf
	Exhibit 2.pdf
	Exhibit 2.pdf
	Exhibit 3.pdf
	Exhibit 3.pdf
	Exhibit 4.pdf
	Exhibit 4.pdf
	Exhibit 5.pdf
	Exhibit 5.pdf
	Exhibit 6.pdf
	Exhibit 6.pdf
	Exhibit 7.pdf
	Exhibit 7.pdf
	Exhibit 8.pdf
	Exhibit 8a.pdf
	Exhibit 8b.pdf
	Exhibit  9.pdf
	Exhibit 9.pdf
	Exhibit  10.pdf
	Exhibit 10.pdf
	Exhibit  11.pdf
	Exhibit 11a.pdf
	DOC2.pdf
	Exhibit 11B.pdf
	Exhibit 12.pdf
	Exhibit 12.pdf
	Exhibit 13.pdf
	Exhibit 13.pdf
	Exhibit 14.pdf
	Exhibit 14.pdf


	4
	4. 2019 0128 Defs' Opp.Corrected Exhibits.ef
	5
	5. 2020 1118 Order Striking Jacuzzi's Answer.ef



